# ROLE OF THE SERINE-THREONINE KINASE TPL2 IN TH17 RESPONSES IN INFECTIOUS AND AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

by

### **NICOLE V. ACUFF**

(Under the Direction of Wendy T. Watford)

#### ABSTRACT

Tpl2 is a serine threonine kinase that regulates inflammatory pathways of the immune system. Small molecule inhibitors of Tpl2 are being developed as possible therapeutics for autoimmune diseases in which Th1 and Th17 cells contribute to pathology. A more complete understanding of how Tpl2 regulates Th17 responses during autoimmune and infectious diseases may provide valuable information about the potential benefits versus risks associated with Tpl2 inhibition. We show that Tpl2 promotes Th17 differentiation and effector functions at several stages. *In vitro*, IL-17A expression by  $Tpl2^{-f}$  CD4 T cells was dependent upon TGF- $\beta$  and inhibited by FoxP3 expression. In a T cell transfer model of colitis,  $Tpl2^{-f}$  CD4 T cells were capable of differentiating into Th17 cells expressing IL-17A, but were impaired in Th1 differentiation and IFN $\gamma$  production.  $Tpl2^{-f}$  CD4 T cells also showed enhanced lymphopeniainduced proliferation, which compensated for reduced IFN $\gamma$  in driving similar overall pathology scores. A Tpl2-dependent role for CD4 T cell differentiation into Th1 and Th17 cells expressing IFNy and IL-17A was observed in *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice infected with *Citrobacter rodentium*, although adoptive transfer of CD4 T cells into  $Rag1^{-1-}$  mice prior to infection confirmed that the T cell defect was not responsible for increased bacterial burdens observed in Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Despite enhanced bacterial burdens,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experienced reduced pathology and inflammatory neutrophil infiltrate into the intestines during C. rodentium infection. Neutrophil egress from the bone marrow during homeostasis and inflammation-induced neutrophil recruitment from the blood to inflammatory sites was reduced in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice due to neutrophil-extrinsic defects in inflammatory chemokine and cytokine production. Furthermore, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils showed impaired antimicrobial functions, including cytokine secretion and superoxide production, compared to wild type neutrophils. Consequently, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> and Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice developed greater bacterial burdens and disseminated infection to the Gram-negative and Gram-positive extracellular bacteria, Citrobacter rodentium and Staphylococcus xylosus. Overall, the role for Tpl2 in driving an inflammatory response was model-specific, confirming a cell-type and stimulus-specific role for Tpl2. These data suggest that Tpl2 inhibitors would be beneficial in preventing inflammatory cell infiltrates and immune pathology during autoimmunity but caution that chronic administration may predispose patients to extracellular bacterial infections.

INDEX WORDS:Inflammation, CD4 T cell, Th17 cell, Neutrophil, Inflammatory boweldisease, Citrobacter rodentium, Staphylococcus xylosus

# ROLE OF THE SERINE-THREONINE KINASE TPL2 IN TH17 RESPONSES IN INFECTIOUS AND AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

by

# NICOLE V. ACUFF

B.S., Berry College, 2009

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of The University of Georgia in Partial

Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree

# **DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY**

ATHENS, GEORGIA

2016

© 2016

Nicole V. Acuff

All Rights Reserved

# ROLE OF THE SERINE-THREONINE KINASE TPL2 IN TH17 RESPONSES IN INFECTIOUS AND AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

by

# NICOLE V. ACUFF

Major Professor: Committee: Wendy Watford Donald Harn Kimberly Klonowski Nancy Manley Julie Moore

Electronic Version Approved:

Suzanne Barbour Dean of the Graduate School The University of Georgia May 2016

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincerest thanks to Dr. Wendy Watford for accepting me in her lab and also for providing constant support and training. Her guidance was invaluable to my growth as a scientist. I am also thankful to my doctoral committee members, Drs. Donald Harn, Kim Klonowski, Julie Moore and Nancy Manley for their time, support and advice throughout my PhD program.

I would like to thank the members of Watford lab - Sean Rowley, Rebecca Kirkland, Xin Li, Teneema Kuriakose, Monica Lagatta, Jessica Elmore, Kara Hardwick and Chris Slade for their help in day-to-day activities and coordinating experiments. I would also like to express my gratitude to Balázs Rada, Julie Nelson, Barbara Reaves, Jamie Barber, Tamas Nagy as well as staff at CVM Central Animal Facility who have aided my dissertation work in one way or another.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| Page   |
|--|
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iv  |
| LIST OF TABLESvii  |
| LIST OF FIGURES ix   |
| CHAPTER  |
| 1 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW                               |
| Tumor Progression Locus 2 (Tpl2)                                   |
| T helper 17 cells  |
| Neutrophils  |
| Intestinal Immunity11  |
| Models of Colitis  |
| T Cell Transfer Model od Colitis (CD45RB)15                        |
| Citrobacter rodentium  |
| Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases                                   |
| Conclusion   |
| 2 TUMOR PROGRESSION LOCUS 2 DIFFERENTIALLY REGULATES IFNγ AND      |
| IL-17A PRODUCTION BY EFFECTOR CD4 <sup>+</sup> T CELLS IN A T CELL |
| TRANSFER MODEL OF COLITIS  |
| Abstract   |
| Introduction   |

|   | Materials and Methods  | 29 |
|---|--|----|
|   | Results  | 33 |
|   | Discussion   | 38 |
|   | Acknowledgements   | 41 |
| 3 | TPL2 PROMOTES TH1/TH17 DIFFERENTIATION AND NEUTROPHIL                                |    |
|   | ACCUMULATION AND PROTECTS AGAINST DISSEMINATION DURING                               | ĩ  |
|   | CITROBACTER DODENTIUM INFECTION  | 49 |
|   | Abstract   | 50 |
|   | Introduction   | 51 |
|   | Materials and Methods  | 53 |
|   | Results  | 56 |
|   | Discussion   | 59 |
|   | Acknowledgements   | 63 |
| 4 | TPL2 PROMOTES NEUTROPHIL TRAFFICKING, OXIDATIVE BURST AN                             | ١D |
|   | BACTERIAL KILLING  | 70 |
|   | Abstract   | 71 |
|   | Introduction   | 72 |
|   | Materials and Methods  | 74 |
|   | Results  | 78 |
|   | Discussion   | 82 |
|   | Acknowledgements   | 85 |
| 5 | SEVERE DERMATITIS IN RAG1 <sup>-/-</sup> TPL2 <sup>-/-</sup> MICE DUE TO SPONTANEOUS |    |
|   | STAPHYLOCCOUS XYLOSUS INFECTION  | 92 |
|   |  |    |

| Abstract  |    |
|---|----|
| Introduction  | 94 |
| Materials and Methods                                     | 95 |
| Case Report   | 96 |
| Discussion  |    |
| Acknowledgements  |    |
| 6 CONCLUSION  |    |
| Tpl2 in neutrophil development, recruitment and functions |    |
| Regulation of Th17 cell differentiation by Tpl2           |    |
| Tpl2 in Th17-associated inflammatory bowel disease        |    |
| Implications  |    |
| REFERENCES  |    |

# LIST OF TABLES

Page

| Table 5.1: Detection of S. xylosus in murine organs            | 102 |
|--|-----|
| Table 6.1: Tpl2 in Th17-associated inflammatory bowel diseases | 113 |

# LIST OF FIGURES

| Pa   | ige |
|--|-----|
| Figure 1.1: Summary of T helper lineages   | 22  |
| Figure 1.2: IL-17 and IL-22 receptor signaling   | 23  |
| Figure 1.3: Summary of intestinal immunity   | 24  |
| Figure 2.1: Tpl2 promotes Th17 development <i>in vitro</i> independently of IL-1β  | 42  |
| Figure 2.2: Tpl2 promotes Th1, but not Th17, differentiation in a CD45RB T cell transfer                                     |     |
| model of colitis   | 43  |
| Figure 2.3: <i>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> T cells express increased levels of the FoxP3 transcription factor                     | 44  |
| Figure 2.4: The differential regulation of IL-17A and FoxP3 by Tpl2 is TGF-β-dependent                                       | 45  |
| Supplementary Figure 2.5: Tpl2 does not regulate Th17 transcription factor expression or                                     |     |
| activation   | 47  |
| Supplementary Figure 2.6: Tpl2 does not regulate IL-2 secretion in Th0 or Th17 cells   | 48  |
| Figure 3.1: <i>Tpl2</i> <sup>-/-</sup> mice have greater bacterial burdens during peak infection                             | 64  |
| Figure 3.2: <i>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have greater bacterial dissemination during peak infection                        | 65  |
| Figure 3.3: Tpl2 promotes a mixed Th1/17 response  | 66  |
| Figure 3.4: <i>Tpl2</i> <sup>-/-</sup> CD4 cells are equally protective once transferred into <i>Rag</i> <sup>-/-</sup> mice | 68  |
| Figure 3.5: <i>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have reduced neutrophil recruitment to the colon during the adaptive              |     |
| immune response  | 69  |
| Figure 4.1: Tpl2 is expressed within neutrophils   | 86  |

| Figure 4.2: <i>Tpl2</i> <sup>-/-</sup> mice have elevated proportions of neutrophils within the bone marrow and |    |
|---|----|
| reduced proportions within the blood  | 87 |
| Figure 4.3: Tpl2 does not influence surface expression of neutrophil chemokine receptors or                     |    |
| activation markers  | 88 |
| Figure 4.4: Tpl2 primarily regulates recruitment in a neutrophil-extrinsic manner                               | 89 |
| Figure 4.5: Tpl2 is required for neutrophil antimicrobial functions   | 90 |
| Figure 4.6: Tpl2 is required for neutrophil killing of <i>C. rodentium</i>                                      | 91 |
| Figure 5.1: Gross morphology and histology in <i>Rag<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice                   | 03 |
| Figure 5.2: <i>Rag<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice have elevated numbers of circulating monocytes      | 04 |
| Figure 6.1: Summary influence Tpl2 on Th17 cell development and neutrophil function1                            | 14 |

## **CHAPTER 1**

# INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Innate and adaptive immunity are the two major components of the host immune response against invading pathogens. The innate immune system recognizes highly conserved molecules called pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) via pattern recognition receptors (PRRs). In innate immunity, PRRs recognize DAMPs and PAMPs with broad specificity, whereas the adaptive immune system recognizes a wide range of antigens via somatically rearranged antigen receptors with exquisitely narrow specificities. The adaptive immune response is initiated by antigen presentation on self-restricted major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules displayed on innate antigen presenting cells (APCs). APCs present antigen to T cells on either MHC I or MHC II molecules on their cell surface, with most cell types expressing MHC I whereas expression of MHC II is restricted to APCs. In addition to antigen presentation in the context of MHC molecules, T cell activation requires expression of costimulatory molecules on APCs and is also influenced by cytokines. MHC class I presentation activates CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells (CTLs) that are able to lyse infected cells. Antigen presentation on MHC II induces differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup>T cells into a variety of effector lineages, including T helper 1 (Th1), Th2, Th17, and regulatory T (Treg) cells.

T helper lineages are induced by different environmental stimuli, and each has specific effector functions tailored to eradication of different classes of pathogens (reviewed in (1)) (Figure 1.1). Th1 cell differentiation occurs in the presence of IL-12 and IFN $\gamma$  and leads to the secretion of IFN $\gamma$  and TNF. These cells are important in clearance of microorganisms that replicate within

host cells, including intracellular bacteria, parasites and viruses, and their dysregulation has been associated with the development of autoimmune diseases. Th17 cell differentiation occurs in the presence of IL-6, IL-23, and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ), and the secretion of IL-17A by these cells assists in the clearance of extracellular bacteria and fungi. Like Th1 cells, dysregulation of Th17 cells is associated with the development of autoimmune diseases (reviewed in (2)). Th2 cells differentiate in the presence of IL-4 and secrete the cytokines IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13. These cytokines are associated with humoral immunity, development of allergy response, and clearance of helminths. Regulatory T cells are induced in the presence of IL-2 and TGF- $\beta$  and reduce inflammation produced by other T helper subtypes through production of antiinflammatory cytokines TGF- $\beta$  and IL-10 as well as through contact dependent mechanisms. Despite this apparent specialization of immune responses, helper T cells are plastic and can convert between the different subsets depending upon environmental cues (3-5). The focus of this introduction will examine the role of Tpl2 in Th17 cell differentiation and effector functions.

## **TUMOR PROGRESSION LOCUS 2 (TPL2)**

Tumor progression locus 2, Tpl2 (also known as MAP3K8 and Cot), is a serine-threonine protein kinase originally described as an oncogene because its C-terminal truncation promoted tumor growth in rodents (6, 7). The C-terminal truncation in Tpl2 was shown to increase its half-life and kinase specific activity, which endowed it with oncogenic properties (8). However, Tpl2 has been shown to have both tumor suppressing and pro-oncogenic functions (reviewed in (9)). Tpl2 is found in diverse tissues including the spleen, thymus, liver, lung, and adipose (6, 10-12). Tpl2 is expressed as two distinct isoforms of 52 and 58 kDa in both innate and adaptive immune

cells (13). In macrophages, Tpl2 is constitutively expressed and held in an inactive state by the NF- $\kappa$ B subunit p105 (14, 15); however, a majority of NF- $\kappa$ B p105 subunits are not associated

with Tpl2. Direct interaction of the death domain of p105 with the kinase domain of Tpl2 prevents the MEK kinase activity of Tpl2 (16, 17). A20-binding inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B 2 (ABIN-2) associates with both Tpl2 and NF- $\kappa$ B p105 to form a stable ternary complex (18-21). In addition to p105 and ABIN2, the p38 MAPK family members p38 $\gamma$  and p38 $\delta$  indirectly regulate Tpl2 stability by regulating steady state levels of ABIN-2 (22). Tpl2 can be activated by toll-like receptors (23-25), cytokines (10, 26), antigen receptors (27, 28), G protein-coupled receptors (29) or Fc $\gamma$ R signals (30). Upon activation and phosphorylation at Thr290 and Ser400 (31-35), Tpl2 dissociates from p105 and ABIN-2, and is subsequently degraded by the proteosome (14, 15). Thr290 is believed to be autophosphorylated, whereas Akt (36) and I $\kappa$ B kinase 2 directly phosphorylate Ser400 to activate Tpl2 (31, 35, 37). Many of Tpl2's downstream functions have been attributed to its activation of the MEK/ERK pathway (reviewed in (11)); however, Tpl2 can activate additional pathways in a cell type- and stimulus-specific manner (10, 38-40).

Tpl2 promotes inflammation induced by cytokines (24, 25, 28, 41), chemokines (42, 43) and other inflammatory mediators (44). Initial characterization of Tpl2-deficient mice identified major defects in the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF $\alpha$ , by antigen presenting cells that conveyed resistance to endotoxin-induced shock in Tpl2-deficient mice (24). In macrophages, Tpl2 is required for the secretion of TNF through the ERK-dependent nuclear-cytoplasmic transport of TNF mRNA (24) as well as the ERK-dependent maturation of the TNF protein by TNF $\alpha$  converting enzyme (TACE) (45). However, TNF production by BMDCs is only partially dependent on Tpl2, indicating that Tpl2 regulates TNF production in a cell type-specific manner (25). Additionally, Tpl2 promotes production of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-10 but inhibits secretion of IFN $\beta$  in both macrophages and dendritic cells (25, 46). Therefore Tpl2 has both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory functions in innate cells.

In addition to its regulation of innate cell responses, Tpl2 also influences the differentiation of CD4 helper T cell lineages. We have previously shown that Tpl2 is required for in vitro and in *vivo* Th1 differentiation and IFN $\gamma$  production from CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in a cell intrinsic manner (28). Therefore, *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice experience greater susceptibility and infectious burden in response to the protozoan parasite, Toxoplasma gondii (28), or the intracellular bacteria, Listeria monocytogenes (25) and Mycobacterium tuberculosis (47). Additionally, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice also experience greater susceptibility to group B streptococcal diseases and influenza infection, due to defects in other arms of the immune response (48, 49). In contrast to the above studies, experiments using an independently generated Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice strain showed an enhanced Th1 response and IL-12 production following infection with *Leishmania major* (50). Conflicting roles for Tpl2 in Th1 cell differentiation and response to infection could be due to (a.) differences in the knockout mouse strains or (b.) differences in host responses elicited against the two parasites. In contrast to Th1 cell differentiation, Tpl2 inhibits T helper 2 (Th2) cell responses during OVA-induced allergic asthma in mice, with  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experiencing enhanced lung inflammation and expressing elevated levels of IL-4 and IL-5 (51).

Despite these T helper cell defects, there is little information regarding the regulation of Th17 differentiation by Tpl2. A recent study demonstrated that Tpl2 ablation protects mice during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) due to Tpl2 functions in CNS-resident microglia and astrocytes (52). In addition, Kakimoto *et al.* demonstrated that IL-23p19, a component of the heterodimeric Th17-inducing cytokine, IL-23, requires Tpl2 for its transcription by macrophages in response to LPS (53). Therefore, we hypothesize that Tpl2 will be important in driving Th17 differentiation and inflammation in models of Th17-associated colitis in which IL-23 and IL-23R have been clearly implicated (54, 55). Understanding how

Tpl2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation may provide valuable information about the range of potential benefits of Tpl2 inhibition in various disease settings.

## **TH17 CELLS**

Th17 cells were first described in 2005 as a distinct lineage of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that produce IL-17A (56, 57). However, γδ T cells (58), type 3 innate lymphoid cells (ILC3) (59), lymphoid tissue inducer-like cells (LTi) (60), neutrophils (61, 62), and CD8 T cells (63, 64) are also capable of IL-17A production. Th17 differentiation occurs in the presence of at least two cytokines (65). Activation of dendritic cells and other innate immune cells, such as during infection with extracellular bacterial pathogens or fungi, induces their production and secretion of IL-6, IL-1, and IL-23 (a heterodimer composed of IL-23p19 and IL-12p40 (66)). Traditionally, Th17 cells have been induced *in vitro* using the cytokines IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$  (67-69). These cytokines, combined with presentation of antigen peptides on MHCII, activate CD4 T cells and polarize them towards a Th17 phenotype. Upon differentiation, Th17 cells secrete a variety of effector cytokines including IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 (70-74). One of the main downstream effects of Th17 cytokine production is the induction of inflammation through neutrophil recruitment (74, 75) and clearance of extracellular bacterial and fungal infections: including Klebsiella pneumoniae, Citrobacter rodentium, Staphylococcus aureus, and Candida albicans (reviewed in (76)). However dysregulated Th17 responses are also implicated in the development of autoimmune diseases: including rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and colitis (reviewed in (77)).

Th17 cell differentiation from a naïve CD4 T cell begins with IL-6 activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) and expression of IL-21 (78-80). IL-21 then functions in an autocrine fashion to further polarize Th17 cells (65). Together IL-6 and IL-21

activate STAT3, which induces expression of IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) on the surface of the cell, whose expression is further enhanced by IL-23 signaling (79, 81, 82) and allows for enhanced polarization of Th17 cells. IL-1 and IL-23 can act in combination on  $\gamma\delta T$  cells to induce production of IL-17A and IL-21, which assist in further polarization of Th17 cells (58). The primary Th17 transcription factors of Th17 cells are RAR-related orphan nuclear receptor gamma t (ROR $\gamma$ t) and ROR $\alpha$  (83, 84). Inhibition of ROR $\gamma$ t and ROR $\alpha$  directly prevents Th17 differentiation and IL-17A production (85). Th17 cell differentiation also utilizes the transcription factors basic leucine zipper transcription factor, ATF-like (BATF) (86), c-MAF (87), interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) (88) and aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) (89). In addition to promoting Th17 differentiation, IL-6 and IL-21 also induce the transcription of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3 (SOCS3), which negatively regulates Th17 differentiation through inhibition of STAT3 (68) in a negative feedback loop.

Several groups have investigated the requirement for TGF- $\beta$  in Th17 differentiation. TGF- $\beta$  is expressed ubiquitously and is present at functionally significant concentrations in various tissues and systemically in the blood. Mean TGF- $\beta$  plasma concentrations are approximately 4 ng/ml but vary by individual (90). Ubiquitous expression of TGF- $\beta$  suggests that Th17 cells that differentiate *in vivo* are likely to be influenced by local TGF- $\beta$  production. Mice with impaired in TGF- $\beta$  responsiveness, TGF- $\beta$  secretion, or FoxP3 expression develop patent autoimmunity characterized by lymphoproliferation, cellular activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (91-95). Because of their similar utilization of TGF- $\beta$ , Th17 cells and regulatory T cells (Tregs) are intimately related, and both cell types can express the TGF- $\beta$ -induced transcription factor FoxP3 and secrete IL-10 (96-99). TGF- $\beta$  significantly enhances Th17 differentiation at low concentrations (100) through the inhibition of the negative regulator SOCS3 (68). Importantly, Littman *et al.* demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$ , while required for optimal Th17 differentiation *in vitro*, could also suppress Th17 differentiation at high concentrations. This was due to excessive activation of FoxP3, which they showed interacts directly with ROR $\gamma$ t to antagonize IL-17A transcription (100). Alternatively, elevated concentrations of IL-6 can inhibit T cell differentiation in FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (101). Therefore, the relative expression of FoxP3 helps to direct T cells towards a Treg versus Th17 fate.

We have previously demonstrated that Th17 cells can differentiate in vivo and in vitro in the absence of TGF-β (82). In the absence of TGF-β, IL-6 and IL-23 induce and expand Th17 cells (70, 82, 102, 103), and consequently, IL-23 is associated with several autoimmune disorders (70, 104, 105). IL-23 amplifies the Th17 response by inducing the secretion of IFNy and GM-CSF by Th17 cells, which further enhances IL-23 production by APCs, Th17 polarization, and pathogenicity (70, 99, 106, 107). Importantly, Th17 cells induced in the absence of TGF-B are more pathogenic and inflammatory in vivo than those driven by IL-6 and TGF-B. This is due to the fact that Th17 cells driven by IL-6 and TGF-β also co-express the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, but not IL-21 or IL-22, under the control of c-MAF (67, 87, 108, 109). In contrast, Th17 cells induced by IL-6 and IL-23 co-express IL-22 and IL-17, but not IL-10 (110, 111). IL-10 is an anti-inflammatory cytokine belonging to the IL-10 family of cytokines, including the Th17 effector cytokine IL-22 (112). Both innate and adaptive immune cells secrete IL-22: including CD4 T cells, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) and NK cells (60, 110, 113). IL-22 signals through IL-22R (114, 115) and has been shown to have both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory functions. Within the mucosal epithelium, IL-22 has a variety of functions, including goblet cell activation and mucus production, epithelial cell proliferation, and epithelial cell production of antimicrobial peptides and IL-18 (73, 116-119). The importance of these functions will be

discussed later in more detail.

IL-17A and IL-17F signal through a heterodimeric receptor composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC (74, 120), and IL-22 signals through a heterodimeric receptor composed of IL-22R and IL-10R<sup>β</sup> (121) (Figure 1.2). The IL-17 receptor proximal signaling complex is made up of IL-17R, Act1, and tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR)-associated factor 6 (TRAF6) (reviewed in (122)). The IL-17A signaling cascade is similar to MyD88-dependent TLR signaling, both of which utilize TRAF6 and TGF-β activated kinase 1 (TAK1) (123). Complex formation is inhibited by TRAF3, which binds directly to IL-17R, or TRAF4, which competitively binds Act1 (124, 125). Act1, an E3 ubiquitin ligase, directly interacts with the cytoplasmic tail of the IL-17R and recruits TAK1 and TRAF6 to the signaling complex (126-128). Downstream of the signaling complex, IL-17 signals through NF-kB, MAPKs, and C/EBPs allowing for expression of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and matrix metallopreoteinases (MMPs) including KC, GM-CSF, and IL-6 (reviewed in (129, 130)). Alternatively, IL-22 signals through MAPKs as well as JAK/STAT pathways (121). Signaling can be inhibited by TRAF6-dependent phosphorylation of Act1 (131) or through activation of C/EBPs by IL-17, which induces dual phosphorylation of C/EBP and inhibits expression of proinflammatory genes (132). Additionally, Act1 ubiquitinates TRAF6, which then autoubiquitinates, resulting in proteosomal degradation (128). It was recently shown that Tpl2 is phosphorylated by IL-17A in a mouse skin epidermal cell line, which leads to the activation of MEK/ERK, JNK/c-Jun and AP-1-induced cellular transformation (133).

# **NEUTROPHILS**

Neutrophils, also known as polymorphonuclear granulocytes, are abundantly recruited during Th17-associated immune responses and are critical for the eradication of extracellular pathogens

(74, 75). Neutrophils are one of the most abundant leukocytes within mouse peripheral blood, following lymphocytes. Their development from progenitors proceeds through several stages within the bone marrow before they are released into the circulation (134). Neutrophils are derived from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) that differentiate into granulocyte/monocyte progenitors (GMP). From this stage, GMP can then terminally differentiate into neutrophils, macrophages or dendritic cells. GMP differentiate into neutrophils in the presence of G-CSF (reviewed in (135)). The cytoplasm of neutrophils contains different characteristic primary (azurophilic) and secondary (specific) granules depending on their stage of development. Examples of granules include myeloperoxidase (MPO), elastase, lactoferrin, lysozyme, collagenase, and defensins (136, 137). As neutrophils develop, their ability to release granules increases (138). Mature neutrophils contain a segmented nucleus with three to five lobules as well as gelatinase granules within their cytoplasm (139).

Mature neutrophils with segmented nuclei egress from the bone marrow into the blood where they can be recruited to sites of inflammation. The presence of immature neutrophils within the circulation indicates an ongoing infection within the host. G-CSF is thought to positively regulate neutrophil mobilization from the bone marrow into the circulation (140), whereas CXCR4 expression on the surface of neutrophils is thought to negatively regulate neutrophil egress from the bone marrow into the circulation (141, 142). Once in circulation, neutrophils are short-lived, surviving only about 6 hours, which necessitates a constant turn-over within the bone marrow. Upregulation of CXCR4 on circulating neutrophils regulates their ability to home back to the bone marrow for clearance (143).

Neutrophils are the first cell type recruited to sites of inflammation from the circulation. Innate production of TNF and IL-1 induces migration of neutrophils. Human neutrophils are recruited

to sites of inflammation through upregulation of CXCR1 and CXCR2, which primarily bind CXCL8 (IL-8) (144). In mice, which do not produce IL-8, neutrophils upregulate the chemokine receptors CXCR2 and CXCR4 that bind CXCL1 (KC), CXCL2, CXCL15, and CXCL12 (142, 145-147). Once recruited to the site of inflammation, L-selectin expressed on the surface of neutrophils binds P-selectin and E-selectins on endothelial surfaces (148, 149). CD44 expression on the surface of neutrophils is also capable of functioning as an E-selectin within the circulation (150). Strong adhesion to endothelial cells occurs when expression of integrins, such as LFA-1 and Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18), on neutrophils are upregulated while expression of L-selectin decreases (147, 151). LFA-1 and Mac-1 bind ICAM-1 expressed on the endothelial cell surface and then neutrophils migrate between cells of the endothelium and into the tissue.

The main goal of neutrophil antimicrobial functions is to promote an inflammatory environment and kill microbes. Neutrophil-mediated killing is a multistep process (reviewed in (152)) that includes cytokine secretion, phagocytosis, degranulation, respiratory burst and release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). Tpl2 has already been shown to influence macrophage phagocytosis through FcyR (30) and likely promotes FcyR-mediated uptake by neutrophils as well. After phagocytosis, neutrophils produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), reactive nitrogen species (RNS), and antibacterial proteins including defensins, lactoferrin, lysozyme and neutrophil elastase (reviewed in (152, 153)). Superoxide production is a major component of neutrophil antimicrobial functions. Superoxide is generated through activation and formation of the NADPH oxidase complex, which is composed of five subunits: two membrane bound subunits ( $p22^{phox}$  and  $gp91^{phox}$ ) that form cytochrome b558 and three cytoplasmic subunits ( $p40^{phox}$ ,  $p47^{phox}$  and  $p67^{phox}$ ) (154). Upon activation, the three cytoplasmic subunits are recruited to the cell membrane, generating the active NADPH oxidase and allowing for production of superoxide (154). Phosphorylation of the p47 subunit is required for complex formation and can be induced by TNF, GM-CSF, fMLP, and PMA among others (155-158). Similar to Th17 cells, neutrophils are also capable of secreting IL-17A and IL-22 (61, 62, 159), of which IL-17A can signal through IL-17RC and activate neutrophils in an autocrine manner leading to superoxide production (62). Mice deficient in superoxide formation, such as p47-deficient mice, have increased susceptibility to infection and are commonly used as a model for chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (160-163). Patients, especially children, with CGD experience recurrent fungal and bacterial infections not normally present in a healthy individual including Staphylococcus aureus, Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas, and Candida due to defects in phagocyte superoxide production (164). Neutrophils are also capable of producing neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), through a process termed NETosis, which traps and kills extracellular bacteria and fungi (165-170). Despite several mechanisms of microbial clearance, some bacteria and fungi, such as Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans, have various mechanisms to avoid clearance by neutrophils (171-173). In addition, over-activation of neutrophils can lead to damage of normal tissue through release of ROS, RNS, and enzymes into the environment.

#### **INTESTINAL IMMUNITY**

The digestive tract is composed of the large and small intestine. The small intestine is further divided into the duodenum, jejunum and ileum, and the large intestine is divided into the cecum, colon and rectum. In the steady state, there are Th17 cells within the small intestine that contribute to maintenance of homeostasis and are antigen specific (174). These cells require colonization of the gut with segmented filamentous bacteria (175) and retinoic acid (176). When the intestinal environment changes, inflammation can occur. Inflammation of the colon is known as colitis and is primarily caused by inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) or infection. As has been

mentioned previously, IL-6 and IL-21 upregulate expression of IL-23R on the cell surface (81, 82) which allows for polarization by IL-23 towards a pathogenic Th17 phenotype (70). In 2006 it was shown in a genome-wide association study that single nucleotide polymorphisms in the human IL-23R gene was associated with the development of IBD and firmly established IL-23 as a major contributor of intestinal inflammation (54, 55).

The intestinal barrier is a single layer of columnar epithelial cells on a basement membrane held together by proteins forming tight junctions, such as claudins (177). Within the intestines of mice, claudins 2, 3, 7 and 15 are the most highly expressed whereas other claudins are more regionally expressed (reviewed in (178)). Claudins 2 and 5 require signaling through MEK/ERK for protein expression on epithelial cell lines (177, 179), and gene expression of claudins 1 and 2 can be upregulated by IL-17A stimulation (177). Protein expression of claudin 7 on epithelial cells alternatively requires signaling through p38, and not MEK or JNK (180). Additionally, lymphocytes are required to maintain the intestinal barrier by promoting epithelial cell differentiation (181). Therefore,  $Rag^{-/-}$ , CD4-deficient or B-cell deficient ( $\mu$ MT) mice have greater intestinal permeability, which can be rescued by adoptive transfer of lymphocytes (181, 182).

Antigens are primarily delivered to immune cells from the lumen through phagocytosis by M cells along the epithelium. M cells are capable of transporting bacteria, viruses and microbial products out of the lumen; however M cells do not present antigen to T cells (183). Immune cells can also sample antigens in the lumen. For example, intestinal dendritic cells extend dendrites between adjacent cells of the intestinal epithelium to directly sample antigen (184). Dendritic cells are capable of sampling the lumen without impairing the integrity of the intestinal barrier through expression of occludin, claudin 1 and zonula occludens 1, which allows for formation of

tight junctions with epithelial cells (184). Another function of the epithelium is mucus production, which is accomplished by a specific cell type known as a goblet cell. Goblet cells produce mucins, which are glycoproteins that form a viscous mucus when secreted and combined with extracellular secretions. Mucus forms a barrier between the extracellular space of the lumen and the intestine. Cytokines IL-1, IL-4, IL-6, IL-13, TNF, and neutrophil products can induce production of mucus by goblet cells (185, 186). Epithelial cells also produce defensins, antimicrobial molecules that form pores in microbial cell membranes (reviewed in (187)). Neutrophils, NK cells, and CD8 T cells can also produce defensins. Paneth cells within crypts of the small intestine produce primarily  $\alpha$ -defensins, also known as crypticidins, whereas cells within the large intestine produce  $\beta$ -defensins, which can be either constitutively activated or induced by IL-1 or specific bacteria (188).

Below M cells are Peyer's patches, which are areas rich in lymphocytes and innate immune cells (189), and below the epithelial barrier is the lamina propria containing lymphocytes, dendritic cells, macrophages and mast cells. Together these cells make up the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) (Figure 1.3). Within the lamina propria, dendritic cells and macrophages produce the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 and are less sensitive to TLR4 ligands (190, 191), which contributes to tolerance and immune homeostasis. The human intestinal immune system is composed of approximately 5x10<sup>10</sup> lymphocytes or 10.8% of the body's total lymphocytes, with more than half found within the lamina propria (reviewed in (192)). A majority of the lymphocytes within the lamina propria are CD4 T cells versus CD8 T cells (193). During inflammation and infection of the intestine, the primary adaptive immune responses are by Th17 and B cells; however, there are basal amounts of Th17 cells and IgA within the intestine during steady state (174, 175, 194-197). During acute infection, such as with influenza or sepsis,

additional Th17 cells migrate to the small intestine, with some migrating to the large intestine (198). Th17-associated cytokines IL-17A and IL-22 assist in maintenance of the epithelial barrier by inducing production of defensins (73). Once within the small intestine, inflammatory Th17 cells are controlled through either elimination via translocation into the lumen or are converted into IL-10 expressing Th17 cells (198).

#### **MODELS OF COLITIS**

Patients with unregulated inflammation of the intestine, or IBD, experience symptoms such as abdominal pain, vomiting, diarrhea, cramps and weight loss. The two main forms of IBD include Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC) (reviewed in (199, 200)). During inflamed states of disease, patients with CD or UC have increased proportions of IL-17A and IFNy within their lamina propria (201), but CD4 T cells within the lamina propria of patients with UC are capable of secreting more IL-17A upon stimulation with IL-23 compared to patients with CD (202). Crohn's disease causes patchy areas of lesions in both the large and small intestines. Associated inflammation goes deep into the intestinal barrier. Stenosis of the bowels can occur and lead to blockage of the intestinal tract. Additionally, patients with CD show reduced ability to produce defensing within their intestines. Complications of CD include nutrient deficiencies and formation of ulcers, which can turn into fistulas. Unlike CD, ulcerative colitis primarily affects the large intestine. Associated inflammation is continuous throughout the colon but remains in the mucosal regions of the intestines. The primary complication of UC is colon cancer. Treatment of IBD is non-specific. Patients are treated with anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive medications as well as antibiotics. However, approximately 25-75% of patients require surgery, with some patients requiring multiple surgeries.

Several models exist for studying IBD in mice, but each model has limitations in replicating

human disease (203-205). These models include certain knockout or transgenic mouse strains that spontaneously develop colitis, such as  $TNF^{\Delta ARE}$  or IL-10<sup>-/-</sup> mice (206-211), a T cell transfer model of colitis (212), chemically induced colitis with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) (213-216), and infection induced colitis with *Citrobacter rodentium* (217, 218). TNF<sup> $\Delta ARE$ </sup> mice have a deletion in the AU-rich element (ARE) within the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the TNF mRNA that inhibits its posttranscriptional regulation. Increase stability of TNF mRNA leads to TNF accumulation in the mouse and spontaneous development of IBD, which fully develops by 8-10 weeks of age. Tpl2-deficient mice crossed with  $\text{TNF}^{\Delta \text{ARE}}$  mice showed delayed onset and attenuated progression of IBD, indicating the importance of Tpl2 in TNF signaling (219). Alternatively, in one chemically induced model of colitis, DSS is administered to mice in drinking water. DSS damages intestinal epithelial cells and therefore alters barrier function of the intestines leading to hematochezia, body weight loss, shortening of the intestine, mucosal ulcers, and infiltration of neutrophils (213-216). In this model, Tpl2-deficient mice experienced mild colitis with reduced production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-17 as well as reduced production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (220). However, neither of these models directly assessed the affects of Tpl2 on CD4 T cells during development of colitis. Since Tpl2 is important in regulation of helper T cell differentiation, we hypothesize that it will influence the development of colitis. We therefore utilized the T cell transfer model and C. rodentium model of colitis to examine the role of Tpl2 in Th1/17 cell mediated inflammation and clearance of infection.

#### T CELL TRANSFER MODEL OF COLITIS (CD45RB)

CD45RB is a 220 kDa glycoprotein expressed on the surface of several immune cells, including B cells, naïve T cells, thymocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. Within the peripheral blood

of patients suffering from UC or CD, CD4 T cells express elevated levels of CD45RB (221). Upon stimulation, CD45RBhi cells secrete elevated concentrations of TNF and reduced concentrations of IL-10 and IL-4 (221), classifying these cells as proinflammatory. The CD45RB model of colitis leads to inflammation of both the large and small intestines (222) and is therefore an effective model for studying the effect of T cells on the development of IBD. Another benefit of using the CD45RB model versus a chemically-induced model of colitis is that it most closely resembles the alterations in transcriptional activity of the intestine during IBD in humans (223).

In the T cell transfer model of colitis, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD45RB<sup>hi</sup> cells are adoptively transferred into  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice.  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice are unable to undergo V(D)J recombination and therefore do not have mature T cells or B cells (224, 225). When CD4 T cells are transferred into a lymphopenic environment, homeostatic proliferation of the transferred CD4 T cells occurs (226, 227). Because  $CD25^+$  regulatory T cells are excluded from the adoptive transfer,  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice do not develop peripheral tolerance characterized by FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (228). Consequently, increasing numbers of CD4 T cells within the Rag-deficient mouse respond to intestinal antigens associated with the commensal flora and drive an unchecked inflammatory response within the small and large intestine leading to measurable weight loss and diarrhea (205, 212, 222). TNF, IFNy, IL-17A, IL-22, and IL-23 are known to be important in driving inflammation in this model (229-233), whereas IL-10 plays a more protective role (234, 235). Therefore, treatment with neutralizing IFNy or TNF antibodies or with IL-10 can reduce or delay onset of colitis (231). Interestingly, pretreatment of Rag--- mice with IL-4 and IL-13 or alternatively activated macrophages boosts Th17 and Treg cell differentiation within the host (236), but addition of CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>+</sup> Tregs can restore the epithelial barrier and reduce inflammatory cell infiltrates seen during colitis (237).

## **CITROBACTER RODENTIUM**

*Citrobacter rodentium* is a non-motile gram-negative rod belonging to the family *Enterobacteriaceae*. It was previously known as *Citrobacter freundii* biotype 4280 or *Citrobacter* genomespecies 9. *C. rodentium* is a natural mouse and gerbil pathogen (238, 239) but is unable to colonize the intestine and cause colonic hyperplasia in hamsters or rats (240). *C. rodentium* is the causative agent of transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia (TMCH) (241, 242). TMCH is characterized by severe mucosal hyperplasia at 2-3 weeks post infection followed by regression of hyperplasia and clearance of bacteria (243, 244). Severity of colonic hyperplasia varies with the mouse strain used (240, 245), TLR activation (246-250), and NF-KB activity (251, 252). Symptoms of infection include slowed growth, ruffled fur, soft feces, rectal prolapse, and mortality (218, 243). However, symptoms are more easily detected in young mice and can be easily overlooked in adult mice. Similar to enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (EPEC), *C. rodentium* produces attaching and effacing lesions in the large intestine (253, 254) and is commonly used as a murine model for human EPEC and EHEC (241, 255).

Disease is transmitted via the fecal-oral route. The mode of transmission allows for easy testing of Koch's postulates. This can be seen in early experiments where germ-free mice were treated with unfiltered colonic suspensions from infected mice, and *C. rodentium* could be isolated from the newly infected mice (244). Before the bacterium was identified, *C. rodentium* was simply maintained by mouse-to-mouse passages of colonic suspensions (244). Mice can be clinically induced through either oral gavage or 'naturally' by gavage of a single mouse in a cage and allowing time for coprophagy by cagemates. It has been shown that 'natural infection' leads to a hyperinfectious state whereby a lower dose is sufficient for infection of cagemates, and the bacterium no longer requires primary colonization of the cecum (256, 257). Upon infection,

*Citrobacter rodentium* colonizes the large intestine, primarily the cecum and distal portion of the colon (257). During the first week of infection, *C. rodentium* overwhelms all other aerobic and anaerobic microflora and becomes the primary bacterium found within the large intestine (240). *C. rodentium* can also disseminate out of the intestines and be found in the nasopharynx, lung, heart, liver, and spleen (244).

The innate immune response generated during early infection is associated with recruitment of macrophages, neutrophils, B cells, NK cells and innate lymphoid cells to the colon, as well as innate production of IL-17A, IL-22, cytokines that assist in Th1/Th17 differentiation, antiinflammatory cytokines such as IL-10, and antibodies (258-267). During induction of an adaptive immune response, bacterial association with the lamina propria induces a strong Th1 and Th17 response accompanied by expression of IL-12, IFNy, TNF, IL-17A, and IL-22 (268-270). CD4 T cells assist in localization of the bacterium within the lumen and prevent C. rodentium from penetrating deep into the crypts (260), and both CD4 T cells and B cells prevents dissemination of C. rodentium through maintenance of the epithelial barrier (182). Pathology induced by infection is associated with IL-12, IFNy, and TNF production by Th1 cells (269, 271), whereas clearance requires the function of both CD4 T cells and B cells (261, 272) and is facilitated by IL-17A and IL-22 production by Th17 cells (273). Additional recruitment of Th17 cells to the intestine occurs through the CCR6-CCL20 axis (274). Interestingly, the generation of a Th17 response during infection requires the presence of Tregs that preferentially consume local IL-2 and allow for IL-17A production (275). Conversely, Th17 cell generation during infection with C. rodentium is inhibited by IL-27 (265), whose expression is upregulated in Tpl2-deficient mice infected with Listeria monocytogenes (25).

Because *C. rodentium* induces a strong CD4 T cell and B cell response required for clearance (261, 272), absence of these cells within certain knockout strains predisposes them to more severe infection. Absence of B cells and antibody production is associated with significantly delayed *C. rodentium* clearance as well as enhanced fecal burden over time (261, 262). In contrast, T cell-deficient mice are not able to clear *C. rodentium* and quickly succumb to infection (182, 276). Passive transfer of serum from infected wild-type mice can protect  $Cd4^{+-}$  mice against mortality (182). Death in all strains is associated with dehydration and impaired intestinal ion transport associated with diarrhea (277). However, mice capable of bacterial clearance, such as C57BL/6, are protected from re-challenge through development of an effective adaptive immune response (261).

## TREATMENT OF AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES

Treatments for autoimmune diseases are generally nonspecific with the use of anti-inflammatory steroids or immunosuppressive therapies. Some drugs prevent the initial costimulation event required to activate naïve T cells and can therefore create a more tolerogenic environment (278, 279). For example, abatacept competitively binds CD80/CD86 expressed on the surface of antigen presenting cells and prevents binding to CD28 expressed on T cells (280, 281). Alternatively, inhibition of inflammatory cytokines generated during autoimmune diseases can be utilized, such as anti-TNF (279, 282-285) and anti-IL-6 (278, 286). A newer 'headline grabbing' approach to autoimmune disease is treatment of IBD patients with helminths, including: *Trichuris suis* and *Necator americanus* (reviewed in (287)). However, these immunosuppressive therapies do not work in all patients and several therapies make patients more susceptible to infection. Therefore, there is a need for the continued development of more specific treatments for autoimmune diseases.

Because Tpl2 promotes TNF secretion and signaling, Tpl2 is being investigated as an alternative therapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases exacerbated by TNF, such as rheumatoid arthritis (288-290). Tpl2 is thought to make a desirable target for small molecule inhibitors because Tpl2 shows low homology to other kinases and is the only known human kinase to have a proline instead of a glycine in its ATP binding region (291-293). Because of Tpl2's low homology to other kinases, stauropsorin is an ineffective inhibitor (294). Development of a Tpl2 inhibitor has been hindered by the lack of a Tpl2 crystal structure. Despite this, several classes of Tpl2 inhibitors have been identified and have shown selectivity and efficacy in Tpl2 inhibition *in vivo*. To determine functionality, possible inhibitors were screened for selectivity over other kinases and for ability to block TNF production (289, 290, 294-296). Recently indazoles have also been described as Tpl2 inhibitors (297). Because of the importance of Tpl2 in driving Th1 cell differentiation (28) and possibly Th17 cell differentiation, Tpl2 inhibitors may be beneficial in treating Th1/Th17 associated autoimmune diseases; however, these patients may then be more susceptible to infections cleared by Th1/Th17 cells.

#### CONCLUSION

Autoimmune diseases are approaching epidemic levels, estimated to affect 5-8% of the population. A number of autoimmune diseases are believed to be driven by autoreactive T cells. T helper 1 (Th1) cells have long been implicated in autoimmunity, but more recently T helper 17 cells (Th17) have also been shown to significantly contribute. Despite their roles in driving inflammation and pathology in autoimmune diseases, Th17 cells are essential for the clearance of extracellular bacteria and fungal infections. Th17 cells secrete the cytokines IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 (56, 57, 70-73), which collectively promote the recruitment of neutrophils that eradicate the pathogen. Because of their importance in both host immunity and the development

of autoimmune diseases, a better understanding of the pathways and molecules that regulate Th17 immune responses is needed. One molecule gaining interest as a therapeutic target against autoimmune disease is the serine-threonine kinase, Tpl2, which promotes expression of proinflammatory mediators through activation of the ERK pathway. Tumor progression locus 2 (Tpl2), also designated Cot or MAP3K8, is a serine-threonine MAP kinase with critical functions in regulating innate and adaptive immune responses. Previous studies have demonstrated the importance of Tpl2 in the secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  (28), TNF- $\alpha$  (24) and IL-1 $\beta$  (25) and in host defense against the Th1-type pathogens Toxoplasma gondii, Listeria monocytogenes, and Mycobacterium tuberculosis. However, the effects of Tpl2 on Th17 responses and clearance of extracellular bacteria have not been well studied. Understanding how Tpl2 regulates Th17 cell differentiation may provide valuable information about the range of potential benefits of Tpl2 inhibition in various disease settings. The objective of these studies is to determine how Tpl2 regulates Th17 differentiation and how this affects the development of autoimmunity and clearance of extracellular bacteria. The central hypothesis of our study is that Tpl2 is required for Th17 differentiation and host defense against extracellular pathogens but may also predispose the host to autoimmunity. The rationale for this study is that these experiments will not only provide valuable information about how Tpl2 influences CD4 T cell differentiation but will also help to anticipate any potential undesired consequences of Tpl2 inhibition in patient populations, including whether they may be predisposed to common bacterial infections such as Escherichia coli.

# **FIGURES**



Figure 1.1: Summary of T helper cell lineages.



Figure 1.2: IL-17A and IL-22 receptor signaling.



Figure 1.3: Summary of intestinal immunity.
# **CHAPTER 2**

# TUMOR PROGRESSION LOCUS 2 DIFFERENTIALLY REGULATES IFN $\gamma$ AND IL-17 PRODUCTION BY EFFECTOR CD4<sup>+</sup> T CELLS IN A T CELL TRANSFER MODEL OF COLITIS <sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Acuff, N.V., X. Li, R. Kirkland, T. Nagy and W.T. Watford. 2015. *PLoS ONE*. Open Access. 10(3):e0119885.

# ABSTRACT

Autoimmune diseases are approaching epidemic levels, estimated to affect 5-8% of the population. A number of autoimmune diseases are believed to be driven by autoreactive T cells, specifically by T helper 1 (Th1) cells and T helper 17 (Th17) cells. One molecule gaining interest as a therapeutic target is the serine-threonine kinase, Tpl2, which promotes expression of proinflammatory mediators. We previously demonstrated that Tpl2 regulates Th1 differentiation, secretion of the inflammatory cytokine IFNy, and host defense against the intracellular parasite Toxoplasma gondii. The goal of this study was to determine whether Tpl2 also regulates Th1 or Th17 differentiation in vivo in a model of colitis associated with mixed Th1/Th17 pathology. In *vitro*, *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* naïve CD4 T cells were significantly impaired in IL-17A secretion under traditional Th17 inducing conditions. Reduced IL-17A secretion correlated with increased expression of FoxP3, a transcription factor known to antagonize RORyt function. In a murine T cell transfer model of colitis, transfer of Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> T cells resulted in reduced proportions of CD4 T cells expressing IFNy, but not IL-17A, compared to that induced by wild type T cells. Further studies revealed that IL-17A differentiation induced by IL-6 and IL-23, cytokines implicated in driving Th17 differentiation in vivo, was unaffected by Tpl2 deficiency. Collectively, these results implicate Tpl2 in TGF-\beta-induced FoxP3 expression. Additionally, they underscore the contribution of Tpl2 to Th1 immunopathology specifically, which suggests that Tpl2 inhibitors may selectively target Th1-based inflammation.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Tumor progression locus 2, Tpl2 (also known as MAP3K8), is a serine-threonine protein kinase originally described as an oncogene, because its C-terminal truncation promoted tumor growth (6). Tpl2 is expressed in both innate and adaptive immune cells in diverse tissues, including the spleen, thymus, liver, and lung (6, 10, 11). Activated by toll-like receptors, cytokines, antigen receptors and G protein-coupled receptors (10, 23-29), Tpl2 enhances inflammation by promoting expression of cytokines, chemokines and other inflammatory mediators (24, 25, 28, 41-44). Many of Tpl2's functions have been attributed to its activation of the MEK/ERK pathway (reviewed in (11)). Initial characterization of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice identified major defects in the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF $\alpha$ , by antigen presenting cells that conveyed resistance to endotoxin-induced shock (24). Because it promotes inflammatory mediators, Tpl2 is being investigated as a therapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases (288-290).

We previously demonstrated that Tpl2 promotes Th1 differentiation and IFN<sub>γ</sub> production in response to the intracellular parasite, *Toxoplasma gondii* (28), inhibits T helper 2 (Th2) cell responses during OVA-induced allergic asthma in mice (51) and promotes T helper 17 (Th17) cell secretion of IL-17A *in vitro* (28). Th17 cells are a distinct lineage of CD4 T cells that produce IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 (56, 57, 70-73). Together, Th17 effector cytokines are required for the clearance of extracellular bacterial and fungal infections, but dysregulated Th17 responses have also been implicated in the development of autoimmune diseases, including multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel diseases (reviewed in (76)). The importance of Tpl2 in Th17 cell differentiation *in vivo* has not been extensively studied, but Tpl2 is dispensable for driving Th17 differentiation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis

(EAE) (38, 52).

In this study, we addressed whether Tpl2 contributes to the development of colitis, an alternative autoimmune disease, in a T cell specific manner. The importance of Tpl2 in certain aspects of inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), a complex spectrum of autoimmune diseases of the small intestine and colon, has been studied previously. For example,  $TNF^{\Delta ARE}$  mice that express a stabilized TNF transcript and spontaneously develop colitis, showed delayed onset and attenuated progression of IBD when crossed onto the  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  background (219). Because colitis in  $\text{TNF}^{\Delta ARE}$  mice is due to accumulation of TNF, these results indicate the importance of Tpl2 in transducing TNF signals. Additionally, in a chemically induced model of colitis, dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) damages intestinal epithelial cells and therefore alters barrier function of the intestines, leading to hematochezia, body weight loss, shortening of the intestine, mucosal ulcers, and infiltration of neutrophils. In this innate immune model of colitis,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experienced milder colitis compared to wild type mice with reduced production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-17, as well as reduced production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (220). Despite multiple lines of evidence for Tpl2 in various aspects of colitis development, a T cell-intrinsic function for Tpl2 during colitis has not yet been explored.

We first confirmed that  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells are impaired *in vitro* in the production of IL-17A under the classical Th17 polarizing conditions of IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ , and this impairment was associated with elevated expression of FoxP3. In a T cell transfer model of colitis, Tpl2 ablation within the transferred T cell population reduced the proportion of CD4 T cells expressing IFN $\gamma$  without altering IL-17 expression. Notably, Tpl2 ablation also increased CD4 T cell accumulation in Rag1-deficient recipients *in vivo*. The discrepancy between Tpl2's regulation of IL-17 production was

restored to wild type levels in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells when the TGF- $\beta$  concentration was reduced, neutralizing IL-2 antibody was added, or when Th17 cells were alternatively induced by IL-6 and IL-23, all of which failed to induce FoxP3 expression. This study defined a TGF- $\beta$ - and FoxP3-restricted defect in IL-17A secretion by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells. Overall, these findings demonstrate that Tpl2 is dispensable for Th17 differentiation during a T cell transfer model of colitis where IL-6 and IL-23 have a dominant role but underscore the contribution of Tpl2 to Th1 differentiation in this model.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### Ethics Statement

All experiments involving mice were performed according to the University of Georgia guidelines for laboratory animals and were approved by the UGA Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. The internal IACUC approval number currently is A2012 06-002-Y3-A9.

#### Mice

Wild type (C57BL/6) mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Maine).  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice backcrossed onto the C57BL/6 genetic background were kindly provided by Dr. Philip Tsichlis (Tufts University) and Thomas Jefferson University, where the mice were generated. OT-II mice were obtained from the National Institute of Health (NIH), and  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice were purchased from Jackson Laboratories. Animals were used at six to twelve weeks of age, and were age- and sex-matched for individual experiments. Animals were bred within the same facility and maintained in sterile microisolator cages.

# Cell sorting

Wild type or  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  cells from spleens and lymph nodes were disaggregated by pressing through a 70 µm filter, and CD4 T cells were column purified by negative selection using a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell

isolation kit according to manufacturer's guidelines (Miltenyi Biotech, Auburn, CA). CD4 T cells were stained for 15 min at 4°C in PBS + 0.5% FBS (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) using anti-mouse antibodies purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA): CD16/CD32 (93), CD4 (RM4-5), TCR $\beta$  (H57-597), CD25 (PC61.5), CD44 (IM7), CD62L (MGL-14), and CD45RB (C363.16A). Live cells were first gated by excluding propidium iodide positive (PI<sup>+</sup>) cells and then sorted for naïve effectors (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>-</sup> or CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD45RB<sup>hi</sup>) using a Beckman Coulter MoFlo XDP cell sorter.

# *Cell culture*

Sorted naïve CD4 T cells (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>-</sup>) were enumerated and plated at a concentration of  $1\times10^6$  cells/ml in cell culture wells with immobilized anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 (5 µg/ml each). Cells were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in complete RPMI (RPMI 1640 containing 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (Life Technologies), 0.01 M HEPES (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)). Th17 differentiation was induced in the presence of 10 ng/ml IL-6, 5 ng/ml TGF- $\beta$ , and 10 µg/ml of both anti-IL-4 and anti-IFN $\gamma$  (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) for 3 days, unless otherwise indicated. Additionally, 10 ng/ml IL-1 $\beta$  or 5 µg/ml anti-IL-2 (BD Biosciences) were used in certain polarizing conditions where indicated. Alternatively, for some experiments, Th17 differentiation was induced in the presence of 10 ng/ml IL-23 for 3 days in the presence or absence of decreasing concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ .

Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells (BMDCs) were generated by culture of bone marrow cells from femurs and tibiae of mice. Briefly, bone marrow cells  $(2x10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$  were cultured at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in complete RPMI supplemented with 40 ng/ml GM-CSF (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ). On days 3 and 5, fresh medium equal to half of the initial volume of the culture

containing 40 ng/ml GM-CSF was added. On day 7, non-adherent cells were collected, incubated with anti-mouse CD11c labeled microbeads, and CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells were column purified by positive selection according to manufacturer's guidelines (Miltenyi Biotech).

For co-culture experiments,  $10^4$  wild type BMDCs were incubated with a 10-fold excess of naïve OT-II CD4 T cells ( $10^5$ ) which express a transgenic TCR specific for OVA<sub>323–339</sub> (Peptides International, Louisville, KY). Cells were cultured under neutral (media alone) or Th17 (IL-6 + TGF- $\beta$ ) conditions in 96-well microtiter plates in a volume of 200 µL for 3 days.

#### Cytokine Measurements

IL-17A expression, as determined by intracellular staining followed by flow cytometry, was the primary measure of Th17 development. Prior to cell staining, cells were stimulated 4 hours at 37°C with 50 ng/ml PMA (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.5 µg/ml ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and golgi transport inhibitor (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's specifications. The following anti-mouse monoclonal antibodies used were from eBiosciences: CD16/CD32 (93), CD4 (RM4-5), IL-17A (eBio17B7), FoxP3 (FJK-16s), and IFNy (XMG1.2). Prior to intracellular staining, cells were fixed in either 4% formalin or fixation/permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) and subsequently washed and stained in permeabilization buffer (eBioscience). Samples were run on a BD LSRII flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc., Ashland, OR). IL-17A, IL-17F, IL-22, IL-2 and IFNy proteins were measured in supernatants by ELISA (eBiosciences) or Th1/2/17 cytokine bead array (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's guidelines. RNA was isolated from cell pellets on day 3 (unless otherwise indicated) or colon tissue using EZRNA extraction kit (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA) and converted to cDNA by high capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit (Life Technologies). Relative expression levels of Il17a, Il17f, Il21, Il22, Rorc, Rora, Irf4, and Foxp3 were measured using SensiFAST Probe HiROX kit (Bioline, Taunton, MA) and specific TaqMan probes (Applied Biosystems, Grand Island, NY). Samples were run on a StepOnePlus qPCR machine (Applied Biosystems). Results given are relative to actin control and wild type Th0 conditions ( $\Delta\Delta C_T$ ). In some cases, wild type Th0 conditions were assigned a  $C_T$  value of 40 when no amplification occurred within 40 cycles.

# T cell transfer of colitis

Rag1-deficient mice were injected i.p. with approximately  $3x10^5$  wild type or  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  naïve T cells (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD45RB<sup>hi</sup>). Mice were weighed prior to injection and weekly thereafter. Blood was collected at 3, 6 and 8 weeks from the tail vein or by terminal cardiac puncture, and serum cytokines were quantified by Th1/Th2/Th17 cytokine bead array (BD Biosciences). Spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes were isolated and counted. Cells were restimulated *ex vivo* for 4 hours with PMA, ionomycin, and Golgi Plug (BD Biosciences) at a concentration of 1- $2x10^6$  cells/ml and stained similarly to *in vitro* cultures.

# Pathology Scoring

Colonic sections from mice were collected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 h at room temperature. Complete cross sections of formalin-fixed intestinal sections were placed in cassettes, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 µm thickness, mounted on glass slides, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Histological sections were evaluated by a veterinary pathologist (TN) and scored according to the following criteria: (A) Distribution of the inflammation: 0=None, 1=Focal, 2=Multifocal, 3=Diffuse; (B) Degree of inflammation: 0=None, 1=Focal, 2=Severe; (C) Extent of erosion and/or ulceration: 0=None, 1=Superficial (lamina propria only), 2: Moderate (extends to the submucosa), 3: Severe (transmural) and then pooled to calculate total pathology score.

# Western Blotting

Cell pellets were washed in cold PBS and lysed in protein lysis buffer (dH<sub>2</sub>O, 0.05 M Tris, 0.3 M NaCl, 0.5% TTX 100, 2 mM EDTA, 0.4 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 2.5 mM Leupeptin, 2.5 mM Aprotinin, 2.5 mM 4-Nitrophenyl 4-guanidinobenzoate hydrochloride (NPGB)). Protein concentration was measured using a BCA protein assay (Thermo Scientific, Suwanee, GA). Twelve micrograms of total protein were separated on a 4-12% Bis-Tris gel (Life Technologies) and probed with antibodies for phospho-STAT3 (Ser727), phospho-STAT3 (Tyr705) and total STAT3 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA).

# **Statistics**

*P* values were derived by paired or unpaired two-tailed Student's t-test using Prism software, unless otherwise indicated. Differences were considered statistically significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

# RESULTS

# Tpl2 promotes Th17 development in vitro

We previously demonstrated that Th17 differentiation was impaired in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells (28). To further confirm the importance of Tpl2 in Th17 differentiation *in vitro*, we stimulated wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  naïve CD4 T cells in the presence of IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ . On day 3 of culture,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$ CD4 T cells secreted significantly less IL-17A and IL-17F relative to wild type cells (Figure 2.1A-B). Transcription of *Il17a* was also reduced in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  cells. No difference in transcription of *Il17f* or *Il21* was detected (Figure 2.1C). Enhanced differentiation of wild type Th17 cells, as seen by increased production of IL-17A, was accomplished through addition of IL-1 $\beta$  to the cultures (298, 299). Even with the addition of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-17A production was still reduced in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  cells relative to wild type cells (Figure 2.1A-B). Therefore, Tpl2 was required for optimal IL-17A production in CD4 T cells stimulated with IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ , and this defect could not be overcome by addition of exogenous IL-1β.

To confirm our results under more physiological conditions, we used a co-culture system to stimulate T cells with antigen presented in the context of MHC class II molecules by dendritic cells. We cultured either  $Tpl2^{+/+}$  OT-II T cells or  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  OT-II T cells expressing an OVA-specific transgenic TCR in the presence of their cognate antigen, ovalbumin peptide, with wild type BMDCs and the Th17 polarizing cytokines, IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ . Importantly, at all concentrations of OVA,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cultures displayed reduced proportions of IL-17A positive cells (Figure 2.1D). These results indicate that there is a T cell-intrinsic defect in the ability of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells to produce IL-17A.

# Tpl2 promotes Th1, but not Th17, differentiation in a CD45RB T cell transfer model of colitis

Having characterized a Tpl2-dependent defect in IL-17A expression, along with the previously identified IFN $\gamma$  defect, we next examined the capacity of *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* T cells to induce disease in a T cell transfer model of colitis associated with a mixed Th1 and Th17 inflammatory response. In this model, naïve CD4 effector T cells (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD45RB<sup>hi</sup>) adoptively transferred into Rag1-deficient mice undergo lymphopenia-induced expansion and cause intestinal inflammation that recapitulates human IBD (212). Proliferating CD4 T cells respond to intestinal antigens to drive inflammation within the small and large intestines, characterized by increases in TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-17A, and IL-23, leading to weight loss and diarrhea (212, 222, 226, 227, 230-232). When colitis was induced in Rag1-deficient mice, recipients of either wild type or *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* naïve CD4 T cells experienced similar weight loss kinetics (Figure 2.2A). As disease progressed, we observed increases in circulating TNF and IFN $\gamma$  that waned at later time points once inflammation established within the intestine (Figure 2.2B). Tpl2 ablation had no significant effect on the

levels of circulating TNF at any time point but modestly reduced circulating IFN $\gamma$  (Figure 2.2B). Colitic mice were euthanized, and colons were scored for inflammation. Similar total pathology scores were observed between recipients of either wild type or *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> cells (Figure 2.2C).

Because of our previous identification of Tpl2 as a promoter of IFN $\gamma$  secretion and Th1 differentiation (28), we hypothesized that Tpl2 ablation within the transferred T cell population would limit disease. Therefore, the nearly normal circulating IFN $\gamma$  levels and colitis pathology were surprising. Since both Th1 and Th17 cells are associated with colitis, we investigated whether Tpl2 altered the proportions of IFN $\gamma$  or IL-17A positive CD4 T cells within the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN). Recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> cells had reduced proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup>IFN $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> cells, but not CD4<sup>+</sup>IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells (Figure 2.2D). However, recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells also had more total cells and CD4 T cells within their spleens and MLN compared to recipients of wild type cells (Figure 2.2E). Therefore, despite reduced proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup>IFN $\gamma$ <sup>+</sup> T cells within recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> T cells, their absolute number was either unchanged or increased (depending on the organ) relative to recipients of wild type T cells (Figure 2.2F).

# Tpl2 deficiency promotes FoxP3-mediated antagonism of IL-17A expression

In order to reconcile the conflicting requirements for Tpl2 in IL-17 production *in vitro* and *in vivo*, we next investigated the mechanism for reduced IL-17A production in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells *in vitro* by determining whether reduced IL-17A production correlated with decreased levels of Th17-associated transcription factors. Th17-associated transcription factors include ROR $\alpha$ , ROR $\gamma$ t, BATF, IRF4, and STAT3 (84, 86, 88, 300), but Th17 cell differentiation is negatively regulated by the transcription factor FoxP3 (100). Surprisingly, in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells, there was no impairment in *Rorc, Rora, or Irf4* expression or STAT3 activation (Supplementary Figure 2.5). In the absence of impaired expression or activation of transcription factors that induce IL-17A

transcription, we reasoned that a negative regulatory mechanism was constraining IL-17A secretion in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells. To examine whether FoxP3 expression was altered in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells, we performed real-time PCR analysis of wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells cultured under Th17 conditions.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells expressed significantly elevated levels of FoxP3 relative to wild type Th17 cells (Figure 2.3A). Additionally, in our co-culture system,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cultures displayed higher proportions of FoxP3 positive cells compared to wild type (Figure 2.3B) indicating there is a T cell-intrinsic defect in the ability of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells to produce IL-17A, which correlates with increased FoxP3 expression.

### Th17 differentiation is Tpl2-independent under conditions that fail to induce FoxP3

We next addressed whether Tpl2 was similarly dispensable for Th17 differentiation under alternative Th17-inducing conditions, some of which might more closely recapitulate the conditions present in the colitis model. First, we assessed the effect of IL-2, which inhibits Th17 differentiation (301) and promotes Treg cell differentiation (302), on Th17 differentiation of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells. We added anti-IL-2 to cultures to neutralize its effects, and as expected, IL-2 neutralization reduced FoxP3 expression to below basal levels observed in Th0 conditions (Figure 2.4C). Additionally, IL-2 neutralization significantly increased IL-17A differentiation, boosting the proportion of wild type IL-17A-expressing T cells from approximately 15% to 60% (Figure 2.4A). Anti-IL-2 also greatly enhanced IL-17A expression and secretion (Figure 2.4B-C). Notably, upon IL-2 neutralization,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells acquired the ability to produce IL-17A at wild type levels (Figure 2.4A-C).

Because IL-2 neutralization reversed the phenotype, we investigated whether IL-2 secretion is increased in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells. However, we observed no differences in IL-2 secretion between wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th0 or Th17 cultures (Supplementary Figure 2.6A). Interestingly, IL-2 was

nearly absent at this time in Th17 cultures (Supplementary Figure 2.6A). We next performed new experiments to observe IL-2 secretion over a time course under Th17 conditions. At days 1 and 2 of culture, wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells secreted similar levels of IL-2 (Supplementary Figure 2.6B). However, IL-2 was consumed within Th17 cultures by day 3, which matched the results from our initial day 3 cultures (Supplementary Figure 2.6). Normal IL-2 secretion by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells is consistent with a previous report (24). These findings suggest that IL-2 secretion does not underlie the Th17 defect. Instead, they indicate that autocrine IL-2 permits TGF- $\beta$ induced FoxP3 expression, which is amplified in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells and suppress IL-17A expression.

In the absence of TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-23 have been shown to induce and expand Th17 cells that are more pathogenic and inflammatory *in vivo* than those driven by IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ , as they do not express FoxP3 (70, 82, 103). We therefore cultured wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> naïve T cells with IL-6 and IL-23. As expected, expression of *Foxp3* was extremely low in both wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> Th17 cells cultured in this way (Figure 2.4B-C). Under these conditions, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> Th17 cells produced wild type levels of IL-17A as seen by flow cytometry, ELISA, and RT-PCR (Figure 2.5A-C). We also observed secretion and expression of IL-22 in Th17 cells cultured with IL-6 and IL-23 (73, 103), which was similar between wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> cells (Figure 2.4B-C). No significant IFN $\gamma$  secretion was observed under these conditions (data not shown).

# The regulation of IL-17A and FoxP3 by Tpl2 is TGF-β-dependent

To confirm the importance of TGF- $\beta$ -induced FoxP3 transcription in the reduction of IL-17A expression in Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> T cells, we titrated TGF- $\beta$  from Th17 conditions. For these studies, Th17 cells were induced by IL-6 and IL-23 in the presence of decreasing concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ , and we assessed the effects on both IL-17A and FoxP3 induction. At high TGF- $\beta$  concentrations,

Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells expressed higher proportions of FoxP3 and reduced proportions of IL-17A compared to wild type cells (Figure 2.4D-E). Littman et al. demonstrated that TGF- $\beta$ , while required for optimal Th17 differentiation in vitro, could also suppress Th17 differentiation at high concentrations (100). With reduced concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ , proportions of IL-17A positive cells increased, proportions of FoxP3 positive cells dropped and both FoxP3 and IL-17A expression in Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> cells normalized to wild type levels (Figure 2.4E). Collectively, these findings demonstrate that there is no obligate requirement for Tpl2 in driving IL-17 or IL-22 secretion by CD4 T cells, but suggests instead that Tpl2 promotes TGF- $\beta$ /FoxP3-mediated suppression of Th17 responses.

# DISCUSSION

Herein, we describe a T cell-intrinsic defect in IL-17A production by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells driven by IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$ . This defect in IL-17A production did not correlate with impaired expression of Th17 associated transcription factors ROR $\alpha$ , ROR $\gamma$ t, or IRF4 but was instead associated with increased levels of FoxP3. In the absence of FoxP3 induction, as seen with addition of anti-IL-2 to Th17 conditions or by alternatively differentiating Th17 cells with IL-6 and IL-23, there was no defect in IL-17A production by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells. Furthermore, titration of TGF- $\beta$  revealed that increased FoxP3 expression and decreased IL-17A expression in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  cells were a direct consequence of TGF- $\beta$  signaling. These findings demonstrate that Tpl2 normally constrains TGF- $\beta$ -driven FoxP3 transcription, which allows for increased production of IL-17A.

A T cell transfer model of colitis was employed to directly assess the T cell-intrinsic functions of Tpl2 *in vivo* in driving autoimmune disease characterized by a mixed Th1 and Th17 pathology. Although Tpl2 promotes Th17 differentiation *in vitro*, Tpl2 did not alter Th17 differentiation in this model of colitis. There are several possible explanations for this. First, although it is standard

practice to use TGF- $\beta$  and IL-6 to drive Th17 differentiation *in vitro*, it has been well established that other factors are also important for Th17 development both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, such as IL-6 and IL-23. Th17 cells generated in this manner are more pathologic in a murine experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) model (82). IL-23 is also required for disease development in the T cell transfer model of colitis (230). The fact that Th17 differentiation induced by IL-6 and IL-23 was unaltered in *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> T cells *in vitro* likely explains the normal Th17 differentiation in colitic recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> effector cells. It remains possible that Th17 differentiation may be regulated by Tpl2 *in vivo* in a context-dependent manner where TGF- $\beta$ concentrations are locally high, as at mucosal sites.

Interestingly, Tpl2 deficiency enhanced the lymphopenia-induced accumulation of transferred effector CD4 T cells in this colitis model. Lymphopenia-induced rapid proliferation occurs independently of IL-7 cytokine signals, but is thought to rely instead upon the TCR signal strength to available ligands within the lymphopenic host (227). This raises the interesting possibility of either increased TCR signal strength within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells that drives T cell proliferation or altered cell cycle progression in the absence of Tpl2. In this regard, Tpl2 ablation has been demonstrated to promote CD8 T cell proliferation in response to antigen stimulation (27). In addition to T cells,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  colonic epithelial cells also proliferate at a higher rate with reduced apoptosis compared to wild type cells during DSS colitis, leading to tumor development (303). Because increased cell survival has also been noted, we cannot exclude the possibility that increased accumulation of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells may result from reduced apoptosis. Further studies are required to determine how Tpl2 affects CD4 T cell proliferation and survival *in vivo*. Despite significantly increased accumulation of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  effector cells within the lymphoid organs, recipients of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells were no more susceptible to the development of colitis than recipients

of wild type T cells. This was due to the impaired capacity of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells to produce IFN $\gamma$ . This finding is consistent with our previous work establishing Tpl2 as an important positive regulator of Th1 differentiation and IFN $\gamma$  secretion (28).

The increased TGF- $\beta$ -induced FoxP3 expression observed in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells may have broader implications. In addition to its induction of Th17 cells, TGF- $\beta$  is critical for the development and function of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> immunosuppressive Tregs. Indeed, mice with mutations in TGF- $\beta$ responsiveness, TGF- $\beta$  secretion, or FoxP3 expression develop patent autoimmunity characterized by lymphoproliferation, cellular activation and pro-inflammatory cytokine secretion (91-95). The observation that FoxP3 expression is increased in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  Th17 cells raises the possibility that FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs might also be increased in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, further promoting the development of an immunosuppressive environment. If this is a generalized phenomenon, then Tpl2 inhibition would be expected to reduce severity of a range of autoimmune diseases where a more regulatory environment is desired. Ongoing studies are exploring this possibility.

Overall, our findings underscore the importance of Tpl2 in driving the development of the proinflammatory Th1 lineage. It further provides new insights into the regulation of TGF- $\beta$ -induced FoxP3 expression as well as lymphopenia-induced expansion of T cells by Tpl2. These findings support the use of Tpl2 inhibitors for the targeted treatment of Th1-driven autoimmune diseases, such as diabetes and colitis (232, 304, 305) but suggest that Tpl2 inhibitors may have more limited utility in treating Th17-mediated diseases. Further studies are needed to fully elucidate the effects of Tpl2 in specific autoimmune disease settings on a case-by-case basis, as the specific cytokine milieu will differentially engage the Tpl2 kinase.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Julie Nelson in the Center for Tropical and Emerging Global Diseases Flow Cytometry Core Facility for flow sorting and UGA's Veterinary Medicine Central Animal Facility for animal care.

# **FIGURES**



**Figure 2.1: Tpl2 promotes Th17 development** *in vitro* **independently of IL-1β.** Naïve T cells were cultured under Th17 polarizing conditions for 3 days +/- 10 ng/ml IL-1β. (A) IL-17A levels by flow cytometry in Th0 and Th17 conditions. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. Connected symbols represent individual experiments. (B) IL-17A and IL-17F secretion by ELISA. (C) On day 3 of culture, *Il17a, Il17f,* and *Il21* expression levels by RT-PCR. (A-C) N≥6 experiments. (D) *Tpl2*<sup>+/+</sup> OT-II and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> OT-II naïve T cells were cultured for 3 days with wild type CD11c<sup>+</sup> BMDCs, OVA peptide, and polarizing cytokines (IL-6 + TGF-β). IL-17A was measured by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. N=3 experiments except where noted. #N=2. Error bars represent means ± sem. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005.



Figure 2.2: Tpl2 promotes Th1, but not Th17, differentiation in a CD45RB T cell transfer model of colitis. Wild type or *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> naïve T cells (CD45RB<sup>hi</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>) were injected i.p. into female Rag-deficient mice. (A) Weight loss curves as a percentage of original body weight. (B) Measure of serum cytokine levels in colitic mice. Significance was measured by one-tailed Student's t-test. (C) Representative histologic images are shown along with scoring for total pathology in the colon. Pathology scores were evaluated using Mann-Whitney U test. (D) Proportions of IFNγ and IL-17A in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes as measured by intracellular staining and flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup>TCRβ<sup>+</sup> cells. Significance was measured by one-tailed Student's t-test. (E) Total cells and CD4<sup>+</sup>TCRβ<sup>+</sup> cells in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes. (F) Total CD4<sup>+</sup>IFNγ<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup>IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells in the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes. N≥12. Pooled from 3 independent experiments. Error bars represent means ± sem. \*p<0.05.



**Figure 2.3:** *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* **T** cells express increased levels of the FoxP3 transcription factor. Naïve T cells were cultured under Th17 polarizing conditions for 3 days +/- 10 ng/ml IL-1β. (A) *Foxp3* expression was measured by RT-PCR. (B)  $Tpl2^{+/+}$  OT-II and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  OT-II naïve T cells were cultured for 3 days with wild type CD11c<sup>+</sup> BMDCs, OVA peptide, and polarizing cytokines (IL-6 + TGF-β). FoxP3 levels were measured by flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. N=3 experiments. Error bars represent means ± sem. \*p<0.05.



**Figure 2.4**: **The differential regulation of IL-17A and FoxP3 by Tpl2 is TGF-β-dependent.** Naïve T cells were cultured under Th17 polarizing conditions for 3 days +/- 5 µg/ml anti-IL-2 or with IL-6 and IL-23. (A) IL-17A levels were measured by intracellular staining and flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. (B) IL-17A, IL-22, and IL-10 secretion was measured by ELISA. (C) *Il17a, Il22* and *Foxp3* expression was quantified by RT-PCR. (A-C) Pooled Th0 and Th17 results depicted in Figures 2.1 and 2.2 are shown again for comparison.

N $\geq$ 3. (D) Representative flow plots of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells gating on IL-17A and FoxP3 in Th0 and IL-6 + IL-23 + TGF- $\beta$  (various concentrations) conditions. (E) Naïve T cells were cultured for 3 days with IL-6, IL-23, and varying concentrations of TGF- $\beta$ . Proportions of IL-17A and FoxP3 positive cells were measured by intracellular staining and flow cytometry. Cells were gated on CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. N=3. Error bars represent means ± sem. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005.



Supplementary Figure 2.5: Tpl2 does not regulate Th17 transcription factor expression or activation. Naïve T cells were cultured under Th17 polarizing conditions for 3 days +/- 10 ng/ml IL-1 $\beta$ . (A) *Rorc, Rora* and *Irf4* expression was measured by RT-PCR on day 3 of culture. N≥6 experiments. (B) Th0 cells cultured for 3 days were expanded an additional 4 days with IL-2 (40 IU/ml) prior to stimulation with IL-6 (10 ng/ml) for 30 minutes at 37°C. Whole cell lysates were immunoblotted for phosphorylated STAT3 (pSTAT3) and total STAT3 (STAT3). N=2 experiments. (C) *Il23r* expression by RT-PCR of T cells cultured for up to 3 days +/- 10 ng/mL IL-6. Expression levels are relative to wild type day 0. N=2 experiments.



Supplementary Figure 2.6: Tpl2 does not regulate IL-2 secretion in Th0 or Th17 cells. Naïve CD4 T cells were cultured under Th17 polarizing conditions or with IL-6 and IL-23 up to 3 days. (A) On day 3, supernatants were collected and analyzed for IL-17A and IL-2 secretion by ELISA. Data shown are representative of 4 independent experiments. (B) On days 1 through 3, supernatants were collected from Th17 cultures and analyzed for IL-2 secretion by ELISA. N $\geq$ 4. Error bars represent means ± SE. \*p<0.05

# CHAPTER 3

# TPL2 PROMOTES TH1/TH17 DIFFERENTIATION AND NEUTROPHIL ACCUMULATION AND PROTECTS AGAINST DISSEMINATION DURING *CITROBACTER DODENTIUM* INFECTION<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Acuff, N.V, X. Li, T. Nagy and W.T. Watford. To be submitted to *Infection and Immunity* 

# ABSTRACT

Tumor progression locus 2 (Tpl2) is a serine-threonine kinase that regulates Th1 differentiation, secretion of the inflammatory cytokine IFN $\gamma$ , and host defense against the intracellular pathogens Toxoplasma gondii, Listeria monocytogenes, and Mycobacterium tuberculosis. However, there is relatively little known about the contribution of Tpl2 to Th17 differentiation and immune cell function during infection with an extracellular pathogen. The goal of this study was to determine whether Tpl2 influences the immune response generated to the extracellular bacterium Citrobacter rodentium, which induces a mixed Th1/Th17 response. During peak infection with C. rodentium, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice experienced greater bacterial burdens with greater dissemination but ultimately cleared the bacteria within three weeks post infection similar to wild type mice. Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice also recruited fewer neutrophils to the colon during peak infection, which correlated with enhanced dissemination of the bacteria into the liver and spleen and increased peak bacterial burdens. Within mixed bone marrow chimeras, Tpl2 was shown to play a T-cell intrinsic role in promoting both IFNy and IL-17A, but not IL-22, production during infection with C. rodentium. However, upon CD4 T cell transfer into Rag<sup>-/-</sup> mice, recipients of Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 cells were equally protective against dissemination of bacteria and mortality. These data indicate that enhanced bacterial burdens within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice are not caused by impairments in CD4 T cell function but result from defects in innate immune cell recruitment and function.

# **INTRODUCTION**

*Citrobacter rodentium* is a non-motile gram-negative rod that is a natural mouse and gerbil pathogen (238, 239). Upon infection, *C. rodentium* colonizes the large intestine, primarily the cecum and distal portion of the colon (257), and forms a close association with the epithelium and lamina propria that results in attaching and effacing lesions in the large intestine (253, 254) similar to human *Escherichia coli* infection. However, *C. rodentium* can disseminate out of the intestines and be found in the nasopharynx, lung, heart, liver, and spleen (244). Early innate responses to *C. rodentium* are associated with recruitment and antimicrobial functions of neutrophils, macrophages, NK cells and innate lymphoid cells (250, 258, 263, 264, 267, 306). Neutrophils secrete IL-17A and IL-22, promote the production of antimicrobial defensins by epithelial cells, and protect against development of diarrhea (159, 306). Bacterial association with the lamina propria of the large intestine subsequently induces a mixed Th1 and Th17 response associated with IL-12, IFNγ, TNF, IL-17A, and IL-22 expression (268-270, 273). Clearance of the bacteria occurs within three weeks in a wild type host and is dependent upon both CD4 T cell and B cell functions (261, 272).

Tumor progression locus 2, Tpl2 (also known as MAP3K8), is a serine-threonine protein kinase that is expressed in both innate and adaptive immune cells. The role of Tpl2 in promoting an inflammatory immune response has been extensively studied in macrophages and dendritic cells (24, 25). Tpl2 has also been shown to promote Th1 cell differentiation and production of IFN $\gamma$  (28). Therefore, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice experience greater susceptibility and infectious burden in response to the protozoan parasite *Toxoplasma gondii* (28), or the intracellular bacteria *Listeria monocytogenes* (25) and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (47). However, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice are resistant to endotoxin-induced septic shock due to reduced production of TNF (24). Because Tpl2 promotes

TNF processing and secretion (24, 45), it is being investigated as a therapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases, especially those exacerbated by TNF, such as rheumatoid arthritis (288-290).

Th17 cells are a distinct lineage of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells that produce IL-17A IL-17F, IL-21, and IL-22 (56, 57, 70-73), with one of their main downstream functions being recruitment of neutrophils to assist in clearance of microbes (307-309). Together, Th17 effector cytokines are required for the clearance of extracellular bacterial and fungal infections, including *Citrobacter rodentium*, *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Candida albicans*, while also contributing to inflammation associated with autoimmune diseases (reviewed in (76)). We have recently shown that Tpl2 promotes Th17 cell differentiation and secretion of IL-17A, but not IL-22, *in vitro* (107). However, Tpl2 has little impact on Th17 cell production of IL-17A *in vivo* during MOG-induced EAE (52) or in a T cell transfer model of colitis (107). It has yet to be investigated whether Tpl2 influences Th17 cell differentiation, IL-17A production or neutrophil accumulation during extracellular bacterial or fungal infections. Understanding how Tpl2 regulates Th17 responses during infection may provide valuable information about the range of potential benefits or risks associated with Tpl2 inhibition in various disease settings.

Upon infection with *C. rodentium*,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experienced greater bacterial burdens during peak infection, but were capable of clearing the bacteria within three weeks similar to wild type mice. Infection within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice was not confined to the intestines and was also detected within the liver and spleen of infected mice. Eleven days post infection, lymphocytes within the lamina propria expressed IL-17A, IL-22, and IFN $\gamma$  with  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells trending towards reduced proportions of IL-17A-, IL-22-, and IFN $\gamma$ -positive cells. This defect was confirmed to be T cell-intrinsic as  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells within mixed bone marrow chimeras were less likely to

differentiate into Th1 and Th17 cells expressing IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$ , respectively. Despite this T cell-intrinsic defect,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells transferred into  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice were as equally protective as wild type CD4 T cells and protected against death and bacterial dissemination, suggesting critical T cell-extrinsic functions for Tpl2 in protection against *C. rodentium* infection. Interestingly, the colons of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had reduced inflammation and neutrophil infiltrates relative to wild type mice, indicating that impaired neutrophil recruitment and function may contribute to enhanced bacterial burdens within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Overall, our findings confirm the importance of Tpl2 in driving the development of the pro-inflammatory Th1 lineage and neutrophil recruitment as well as promoting IL-17A expression during infection with extracellular bacteria.

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# Mice

Wild type (C57BL/6) and  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory. Tpl2deficient mice backcrossed more than ten generations onto the C57BL/6 genetic background were kindly provided by Dr. Philip Tsichlis and Thomas Jefferson University. B6-Ly5.1/Cr (CD45.1<sup>+</sup>) mice were obtained from Charles River Laboratories and were intercrossed with wild type mice to generate heterozygous CD45.1/CD45.2 mice at the University of Georgia.  $Rag1^{-/-}$ mice were crossed with  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice to generate  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice at the University of Georgia.  $Tpl2^{+/-}$  matings generated  $Tpl2^{+/+}$ ,  $Tpl2^{+/-}$  and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice used for infections. Animals were used at six to twelve weeks of age, and were age- and sex-matched for individual experiments. All experiments involving mice were performed according to the University of Georgia guidelines for laboratory animals and were approved by the UGA Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

# Adoptive transfer and bone marrow chimeras

Wild type or  $Tpl2^{-/2}$  cells from spleens and lymph nodes were disaggregated by pressing through a 70 µm filter, and CD4 T cells were purified by negative selection using a CD4 T cell isolation kit (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) according to the manufacturer's guidelines. 2- $3x10^{6}$  CD4 T cells were transferred into  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice i.v. Two to three weeks post transfer, reconstitution of CD4 T cells was confirmed by tail bleed and flow cytometry. CD45.1<sup>+</sup> mice were lethally irradiated with a dose of 1100 rad. The following day, mice were reconstituted with bone marrow from CD45.1<sup>+</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup> (WT) and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Bone marrow was isolated from femurs and tibiae of naïve mice. T cells were depleted by positive selection using CD3 biotin (145-2C11) (eBioscience), anti-biotin microbeads (Miltenyi Biotech, Auburn, CA), and collection of the negative fraction using an AutoMACS (Miltenyi Biotech) according to manufacturer's guidelines. Cells were counted, and 3-4x10<sup>6</sup> mixed bone marrow cells were injected into CD45.1<sup>+</sup> mice i.v.

## Citrobacter rodentium infection and burden quantification

The *C. rodentium* strain used was a luminescent strain (ICC180) kindly provided by Gad Frankel at Imperial College, London UK (310). Mice were inoculated with a low dose  $(1-2 \times 10^7 \text{ CFU})$  or high dose  $(1-2 \times 10^9 \text{ CFU})$  in a total volume of 200 µl via gastric gavage. The dose was confirmed by retrospective plating on LB agar plates. For quantification of bacterial burden, feces were diluted in 100 µl PBS per 0.01 g feces, spleens were homogenized in 1 ml PBS, livers were homogenized in 2 ml PBS, and 100 µl of blood was immediately diluted in 900 µl PBS followed by serial dilutions and plating on LB agar in triplicate. Plates were imaged for luminescent colonies using an IVIS Imager (Perkin Elmer) and counted to determine CFU/g feces, CFU/spleen, CFU/liver, and CFU/ml blood. Limit of detection was set at  $10^3$  CFU/g feces,

500 CFU/ml blood, 50 CFU/liver, and 25 CFU/spleen. For imaging, mice were anesthetized using either TBE or isoflurane and imaged for 1 minute using an IVIS Lumina Imager (Perkin Elmer) to collect luminescence data.

# Intraepithelial Cells and Lamina propria lymphocytes (LPL)

LPLs were purified from colons of mice as previously described (311, 312). For isolation of intraepithelial cells, colons were cut into fragments and washed 3 times with RPMI 1640 medium containing 5% FCS (Invitrogen) and 5 mM EDTA (Fisher Scientific) for 15 min at 37°C in a shaking incubator. For LPLs, tissue was further subjected to two digestions with 0.5 mg/mL collagenase (Sigma-Aldrich) and 0.1 mg/mL DNase (Roche) in RPMI containing 5% FCS and 15 mM Hepes (Invitrogen) with continuous shaking at 37° for 20 min. Supernatants from each digestion were passed through a 70 µm cell strainer. Lymphocytes were enriched by Percoll (GE healthcare) gradient purification using a 30/45/70% gradient and collecting the cells at the 45/70% interface. Cells were stimulated 4 hours at 37°C with 50 ng/ml PMA (Sigma-Aldrich), 0.5 µg/ml ionomycin (Sigma-Aldrich), and golgi transport inhibitor (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's specifications. The following anti-mouse monoclonal antibodies used were from eBiosciences: CD16/CD32 (93), CD45.1 (A20), CD45.2 (104), CD4 (RM4-5), TCRβ (H57-597), Gr-1 (RB6-8C5), CD11b (M1/70), IL-17A (eBio17B7), IFNy (XMG1.2), and IL-22 (1H8PWSR). Samples were run on a BD LSRII flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc., Ashland, OR).

# Pathology

Colonic sections from mice were collected and fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 h at room temperature. Complete cross sections of formalin-fixed intestinal sections were placed in cassettes, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 µm thickness, mounted on glass slides, and

55

stained with H&E. Histological sections were evaluated by a veterinary pathologist (TN) and scored according to the following criteria: Distribution of the inflammation: 0=None, 1=Focal, 2=Multifocal, 3=Diffuse; Degree of inflammation: 0=None, 1=Mild, 2=Moderate, 3=Severe; Extent of erosion and/or ulceration: 0=None, 1=Superficial (lamina propria only), 2: Moderate (extends to the submucosa), 3: Severe (transmural). Scores were summed to give a total pathology score.

# Statistics

*P* values were derived by paired or unpaired student's t-test, log-rank test, or two-way ANOVA using Prism software. Differences were considered statistically significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

# **RESULTS**

# Tpl2-deficient mice have higher bacterial burdens during peak infection with *Citrobacter rodentium*.

Wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were infected with  $2x10^9$  CFU *Citrobacter rodentium* ICC180. Bioluminescent images from the gastrointestinal region were collected throughout infection until clearance of the bacteria 21 days post infection (dpi). Infection was confirmed by measuring fecal burdens of *C. rodentium*. Beginning at 7 dpi,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had significantly higher bacterial burdens than wild type mice as detected by changes in luminescence (Figure 3.1A-B). This trend continued until approximately 12-14 dpi, at which point both wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice similarly cleared the bacteria (Figure 3.1).

# Tpl2 is required for maintenance of the intestinal barrier

Because *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice showed greater luminescence at 7-12 dpi (Figure 3.1B) but no differences in fecal burden until 12 dpi (Figure 3.1C), and because *C. rodentium* is known to disseminate out of the intestines (244), we hypothesized that greater bacterial dissemination was occurring in

 $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. As expected,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had greater bacterial burdens within the liver and spleen at 8 and 11 dpi (Figure 3.2). Pinpoint lesions were also more frequently observed on the livers of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 3.2A). Combined,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice not only showed greater bacterial burdens compared to wild type mice in the intestines (Figure 3.1), but also dissemination to other organs, including the liver and spleen (Figure 3.2).

# Tpl2 enhances Th1 and Th17 responses to C. rodentium via a T cell-intrinsic mechanism.

Due to elevated bacterial burdens within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice by luminescence at 8-12 dpi (Figure 3.1B) and greater fecal burdens at 12-14 dpi (Figure 3.1C), we hypothesized there may be a Tpl2dependent defect in the adaptive immune response. Because of the overlap between elevated luminescence and fecal burdens at 12 dpi, generation of adaptive immune responses was evaluated at this time. As expected, lymphocytes within the lamina propria expressed IL-17A, IL-22, and IFNy (268-270, 273). Compared to wild type mice, *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice consistently trended towards reduced induction of Th1 and Th17 cells expressing IL17A, IL22, and IFNy (Figure 3.3A-B). To determine whether Tpl2 influences T helper cell polarization in vivo via a T cellintrinsic mechanism, mixed bone marrow chimeras were generated and similarly infected with C. rodentium. Within mixed bone marrow chimeras, a significantly lower proportion of Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> T cells (CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) expressed IL-17A and IFNy compared to wild type T cells (CD45.1/2<sup>+</sup>) within the same host (Figure 3.3C). However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  T cells were similarly able to express IL-22 (Figure 3.3C). These data confirm the role of Tpl2 in Th1 cell differentiation and IFNy expression as well as Th17 cell differentiation and expression of IL-17A, but not IL-22, in response to C. rodentium infection.

# $Tpl2^{-/-}$ CD4 T cells adoptively transferred into $Rag1^{-/-}$ mice are protective against C. rodentium

To determine whether defects in Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation within the large intestines influenced disease outcome, wild type or Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells were adoptively transferred into  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice. Approximately 2-3 weeks post-transfer, mice were infected with a low dose of C. rodentium. Because Rag<sup>-/-</sup> mice are deficient in T cells and B cells (224), they are incapable of clearing the bacteria and quickly succumb to infection (276). Compared to  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice, recipients of either wild type or *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* CD4 T cells survived up to 21 dpi (Figure 3.4A) despite similarly elevated bacterial burdens (Figure 3.4B). Localization of C. rodentium was visualized using luminescent images taken throughout the time course (Figure 3.4C) and dissemination was quantified at time of death. Notably, transfer of either wild type (181) or Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells into  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice restored intestinal barrier function to  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice. Even though all  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice experienced similar bacterial burdens throughout infection, independent of adoptive transfer (Figure 3.4B), Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice that received either wild type or Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells also had similarly reduced dissemination of C. rodentium into the blood, liver, and spleen (Figure 3.4D). For most Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice that received CD4 T cells, C. rodentium was no longer detected within the circulation (Figure 3.4D). These results indicate that  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells are as protective as wild type CD4 T cells upon transfer into  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice and that Tpl2 primarily functions in a CD4 T cell-extrinsic manner to influence bacterial burdens and dissemination during C. rodentium infection.

# Tpl2 promotes neutrophil accumulation within the colon during C. rodentium infection

Because Tp12 within CD4 T cells did not influence total bacterial burdens experienced by  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 3.4B), we next investigated innate immune responses generated during peak

infection. *C. rodentium* infection induces neutrophil recruitment into the large intestines (250, 306), which not only phagocytose and kill bacteria (250, 306), but also contribute to inflammation and pathology (249). A comparison of pathology between wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice showed reduced total inflammation within the large intestines of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 3.5A-B) despite increased bacterial burdens at 8 and 11 dpi. Accordingly, an evaluation of neutrophil recruitment at the same time points showed reduced proportions of neutrophils recruited to the epithelial layer of the colons of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice during infection (Figure 3.5C), consistent with reduced pathology scores.

# DISCUSSION

Understanding how Tpl2 regulates Th17 responses during infection may provide valuable information about the range of potential benefits or risks associated with Tpl2 inhibition in various disease settings. In this study, we investigated the role of Tpl2 during host defense against the gram-negative extracellular bacterium, *Citrobacter rodentium*, which induces a mixed Th1/Th17 response for protection.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experienced greater bacterial burdens during peak infection with *C. rodentium* as detected by luminescence and fecal burdens. Interestingly, the colons of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had reduced inflammation and neutrophil infiltrates relative to wild type mice, indicating that impaired neutrophil recruitment and function may contribute to enhanced bacterial burdens within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Despite greater bacterial burdens and dissemination,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were equally capable of clearing the bacteria within three weeks similar to wild type mice. Evaluation of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells within the lamina propria of mixed bone marrow chimeras indicated a T cell-intrinsic role for Tpl2 in IL-17A and IFN $\gamma$  expression by CD4 T cells. However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells transferred into  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice were as equally protective as wild type CD4 T cells against death and bacterial dissemination, suggesting critical T cell-extrinsic functions for Tpl2 in protection against C. rodentium infection.

Tpl2 has previously been shown to promote Th1 cell differentiation and production of IFN $\gamma$  *in vitro* and *in vivo* (28), as well as Th17 cell differentiation and secretion of IL-17A, but not IL-22, *in vitro* (107). Accordingly, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice are more susceptible to the Th1-inducing intracellular pathogens *Toxoplasma gondii* (28), *Listeria monocytogenes* (25) and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (47). *M. tuberculosis* is known to induce a mixed Th1/Th17 response (reviewed in (313)), but whether Tpl2 impacted Th17 cell differentiation in this model was not investigated. Consistent with our previous reports of Tpl2 regulating Th1 and Th17 cell differentiation, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells within the lamina propria were less likely to differentiate into Th1 and Th17 cells expressing IFN $\gamma$  and IL-17A, respectively, during infection with *C. rodentium*. In contrast, Tpl2 did not influence CD4 T cell expression of the Th17-associated cytokine IL-22 during infection. These findings are similar to those observed in Th17 cells cultured *in vitro* in which IL-17A expression was significantly reduced but the expression of IL-22 or the Th17-associated transcription factors ROR $\alpha$ , ROR $\gamma$ t and IRF4 were unaffected (107), suggesting a specific defect in IL-17A expression rather than a global defect in Th17 cell differentiation.

Greater dissemination of *C. rodentium* into organs of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice indicates that Tpl2 regulates permeability of the intestinal barrier. Lymphocytes within the lamina propria are known to assist in maintenance of the intestinal barrier by promoting epithelial cell differentiation (181); therefore, CD4- and B cell-deficient mice display reduced ability to limit dissemination of *C. rodentium* (182). However, because  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice that received either wild type or  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4 T cells experienced similar levels of dissemination into the liver and spleen, Tpl2 within CD4 T cells does not influence intestinal permeability. Absence of B cells and antibody production during infection with *C. rodentium* is associated with significantly delayed clearance as well as
enhanced fecal burden over time (261, 262). B cell proliferation, activation, and secretion of antibodies is initialized through crosslinking CD40 expressed on the surface of B cells (reviewed in (314)), which signals via Tpl2 to activate ERK and promote class switching to IgE (26). However, Tpl2 ablation does not impair B cell activation, proliferation or secretion of IgG1 (26). Therefore, although B cells do not appear to influence bacterial clearance due to the ability of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice to clear infection similar to wild type mice, we cannot exclude the possibility that Tpl2-deficient B cells contribute to higher bacterial burdens and dissemination experienced at two weeks post infection.

Prior to induction of an adaptive immune response, innate cells within the intestines respond to PAMPs expressed by C. rodentium, including LPS and lipoproteins that activate TLR2 (315) and TLR4 (248) leading to downstream signaling through MyD88. TLR2-, TLR4- and MyD88deficient mice infected with C. rodentium have significant mortality associated with epithelial barrier damage and reduced barrier function (248-250, 315). Because Tpl2 is activated downstream of TLR2 and TLR4, among others (23-25, 316), we would expect severe pathology and reduced barrier function in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice did not have more severe pathology compared to wild type mice, but did have enhanced bacterial dissemination that may be due to impaired intestinal integrity. Claudins are known to play a significant role in maintaining intestinal integrity through formation of tight junctions. As an example of some claudins, claudin 2 and 5 require signaling through MEK/ERK for protein expression on epithelial cell lines (177, 179) and gene expression of claudin 1 and 2 can be upregulated by IL-17A stimulation (177). Claudin 7 alternatively requires signaling through p38, and not MEK or JNK, for protein expression in epithelial cells (180). Therefore, because Tpl2 signals upstream of the MEK/ERK pathway (11), contributes to IL-17A production in vitro (107) and in vivo

(herein), as well as IL-17R signaling through p38 (38), it is possible that Tpl2 regulates the expression of various claudins on the surface of epithelial cells. Therefore, Tpl2 may normally promote integrity of the intestinal barrier, as well as other epithelial barriers, by inducing the expression of tight junction proteins.

Even with greater bacterial burdens,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice experienced reduced pathology and neutrophil recruitment to the large intestine. These results are consistent with the findings that Tpl2 regulates the expression of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines and the recruitment of neutrophils to the site of inflammation (38, 42, 317, 318). Reduced pathology within Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice may also be due to greater dissemination, which would induce a more diffuse and less localized inflammatory response within the host. Additionally, because reduced pathology is observed during the adaptive phase of the immune response, defects in neutrophil recruitment within Tpl2<sup>-</sup> <sup>/-</sup> mice may be an indirect result of reduced TNF production and/or signaling in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice in response to LPS (24) as well as reduced IL-17A production. IL-17A and TNF in combination enhance neutrophil recruitment through elevated secretion of CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL8, GM-CSF and G-CSF (309, 319, 320). Similar to Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, Cxcr2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which are deficient in neutrophil recruitment, experience elevated fecal burdens two weeks post infection with C. rodentium as well as greater dissemination into the liver and spleen (306). These data suggest that the observed defects in neutrophil recruitment into the large intestine of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice may explain both the greater bacterial burdens as well as increased dissemination in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Overall, our findings underscore the importance of Tpl2 in driving the development of the proinflammatory Th1 lineage as well as promoting IL-17A expression. These results also confirm

the importance of Tpl2 in promoting neutrophil recruitment and development of pathology

during inflammation. Furthermore, it highlights the important role of Tpl2 in maintenance of epithelial barriers and prevention of bacterial dissemination.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Monica LaGatta for excellent technical support and maintenance of our mouse colony as well as UGA's Veterinary Medicine Central Animal Facility for animal care.

# FIGURES



**Figure 3.1-** *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> **mice have greater bacterial during peak infection.** Wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were gavaged with  $2x10^9$  CFU *Citrobacter rodentium* (ICC180). Bioluminescent images from the gastrointestinal region are displayed as pseudocolor images, with variations in color representing the light intensity at a given location. Red represents the most intense light emission, while purple corresponds to the weakest signal. (A) Representative and (B) pooled luminescence data of wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice from 3 – 21 dpi are shown. (C) Fecal burden was quantified 0 – 21 dpi. Dashed line represents limit of detection. When no fecal burden was detected, a value of  $3x10^2$  CFU/g was assigned. N=8. Data are pooled from 2 independent experiments. Error bars represent means ± sem. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005.



**Figure 3.2-**  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice have greater bacterial dissemination during peak infection. Wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were gavaged with  $2x10^9$  CFU *Citrobacter rodentium* (ICC180). Mice were euthanized 8 or 11 dpi. (A-B) Liver and spleens were collected, assessed for lesions, and homogenized to measure bacterial burden. Dashed line represents limit of detection. N≥4. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments. \*p<0.05.



**Figure 3.3- Tpl2 promotes a mixed Th1/17 response.** (A-B) Wild type  $(Tpl2^{+/+} \text{ and } Tpl2^{+/-})$ and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice or (D) mixed bone marrow chimeras were gavaged with  $2x10^9$  CFU *Citrobacter rodentium* (ICC180). (A) Representative plots of LPLs isolated 11 dpi and stained for (A-B) CD4<sup>+</sup>TCRβ<sup>+</sup> or (C-D) CD45.1<sup>+</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup> wild type or CD45.1<sup>-</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup>  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4<sup>+</sup>TCRβ<sup>+</sup> cells

expressing IL-17A, IL-22, or IFN $\gamma$ . (B) Lines represent mean. N $\geq$ 5. (C) Lines represent data from a single host. N=12. Data pooled from 2 or more independent experiments. \*p<0.05.



Figure 3.4- *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 cells are equally protective once transferred into  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice.  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice receiving wild type CD4,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD4, or no CD4 cells were infected with low dose *Citrobacter rodentium*. (A) Body weights were recorded and mice exhibiting severe signs of disease, including more than 20% weight loss were euthanized. (B) Pooled luminescence data and fecal burden, plus (C) representative images from 3 - 21 dpi are shown. Dashed lines represents limit of detection. Error bars represent means  $\pm$  sem. (D) Dissemination into the blood, liver, and spleen was quantified at time of death. Lines represents mean. Dashed lines represents limit of detection for blood (top), liver (middle), and spleen (lower). N $\geq$ 5. Data are pooled from 2 independent experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005 comparing  $Rag^{-/-} \pm$  CD4 cells.



Figure 3.5-  $Tpl2^{--}$  mice have reduced neutrophil recruitment to the colon during the adaptive immune response. Wild type and  $Tpl2^{---}$  mice were gavaged with  $2x10^9$  CFU *Citrobacter rodentium* (ICC180). Mice were euthanized 8 or 11 dpi. Colons were isolated and (B) scored for pathology at 11 dpi and (C) the proportion of neutrophils within the epithelial barrier were determined by flow cytometry staining for Gr-1 and CD11b at 8 and 11 dpi. (A) Representative images are given. 200x original magnification, scale bar=50µm. Lines represent mean. N≥4. Data pooled from 3 independent experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\* p<0.005

# **CHAPTER 4**

# TPL2 PROMOTES NEUTROPHIL TRAFFICKING, OXIDATIVE BURST AND BACTERIAL KILLING<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Acuff, N.V, J. Elmore, B. Rada and W.T. Watford. Submitted to the *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* (under review)

# ABSTRACT

Tumor progression locus 2 (Tpl2) is a serine/threonine kinase that promotes inflammatory cytokine production by activating the MEK/ERK pathway. Tpl2 has been shown to be important for eliciting the inflammatory properties of macrophages, however there is relatively little known about Tpl2's contribution to neutrophil effector functions. This is an important consideration, since neutrophils provide the first line of defense against infection in the innate immune system. We found that Tpl2 is expressed in both human and murine neutrophils, suggesting a potential function for Tpl2 within this lineage. Despite significantly higher proportions of bone marrow neutrophils in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice compared to wild type mice,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice have significantly reduced proportions of circulating neutrophils due to reduced circulating levels of G-CSF. In response to infection, neutrophils secrete inflammatory cytokines and produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), which promote bacterial killing. Tpl2 ablation impaired neutrophil TNF production in response to LPS stimulation, superoxide generation in response to the chemotactic peptide formyl-methionyl-leucyl-phenylalanine (fMLP), and killing of the extracellular bacterium, Citrobacter rodentium. These results implicate Tpl2 in the regulation of multiple neutrophil antimicrobial pathways, including inflammatory cytokine secretion and oxidative burst. Furthermore, they indicate that Tpl2 functions early during infection to bolster neutrophilmediated innate immunity against extracellular bacteria.

# **INTRODUCTION**

Tumor progression locus 2, Tpl2 (also known as MAP3K8), is a serine-threonine protein kinase originally described as an oncogene, because its C-terminal truncation promoted tumors in rodents (6). Tpl2 is expressed in both innate and adaptive immune cells and in diverse tissues including the spleen, thymus, liver, lung, and intestines (6, 10, 11). Tpl2 promotes inflammation by inducing cytokines (24, 25, 28, 41), chemokines (42, 43) and other inflammatory mediators (44). Many of Tpl2's functions have been attributed to its activation of the MEK/ERK pathway (reviewed in (11)), but Tpl2 also influences other cellular pathways as well, including p38, JNK, Akt and mTOR in a context-dependent manner (10, 38, 39). In macrophages, Tpl2 is required for the processing and secretion of TNF (24, 45). Initial characterization of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice identified major defects in the induction of proinflammatory cytokines, particularly TNF, by antigen presenting cells that conveyed resistance to endotoxin-induced septic shock in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (24). Because it promotes TNF secretion, Tpl2 is being investigated as a therapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases, especially those exacerbated by TNF, such as rheumatoid arthritis (288-290). However, little is known about how Tpl2 regulates neutrophil functions.

Neutrophils are the first cell type recruited to sites of inflammation from the circulation. It has been shown previously that  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice treated with zymosan, acetaminophen, or caerulein show decreased neutrophil recruitment associated with peripheral inflammation (42, 317, 318). However, reduced recruitment was attributed to impaired expression of inflammatory chemokines at the tissue sites, and the functionality of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils was not investigated in these studies. Once within inflamed tissue, the primary function of neutrophils is the release of granules and phagocytosis of microbes and infected cells. Neutrophils kill and degrade microbes within the neutrophil phagolysosome through production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by

NAPDH oxidase, reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and proteolytic enzymes, such as lysozyme and neutrophil elastase (reviewed in (153)). Overactivation of neutrophils can lead to damage of normal tissue through release of ROS, RNS, and enzymes. Downstream signaling through ERK assists in neutrophil development and differentiation from common progenitor cells (321) and in neutrophil antimicrobial functions (322, 323). Because Tpl2 regulates ERK function in a cell type- and stimulus-specific manner (10), we hypothesize that Tpl2 may contribute to neutrophil development and/or antimicrobial functions.

We first confirmed the expression of Tpl2 within neutrophils. In  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, we observed greater accumulation of neutrophils within the bone marrow and reduced proportions of circulating neutrophils. This difference correlated with reduced neutrophil recruitment in response to thioglycollate. However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils within the circulation expressed similar levels of the chemokine receptors and selectins CXCR2, CXCR4, CD44 and CD62L, and Tpl2 primarily regulated neutrophil recruitment in a cell-extrinsic manner. However, upon *ex vivo* stimulation, reduced TNF secretion, superoxide production and bacterial killing was observed in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils due to cell-intrinsic functions of Tpl2. Combined, these data indicate a requirement for Tpl2 in neutrophil oxidative burst and bacterial killing that is compounded within a  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mouse that also experiences reduced neutrophil recruitment. These findings further support the use of Tpl2 inhibitors as an alternative therapeutic approach against autoimmune diseases exacerbated by TNF production, but cautions that Tpl2 inhibitors may also predispose patients to bacterial infections that require neutrophil function for clearance.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Mice

Wild type (C57BL/6) were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory, *Ptprc* (B6-Ly5.1/Cr) were obtained from Charles River Laboratories, and both were intercrossed to generate heterozygous CD45.1/CD45.2 mice at the University of Georgia.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice backcrossed more than ten generations onto the C57BL/6 genetic background were kindly provided by Dr. Philip Tsichlis and Thomas Jefferson University. Animals were used at six to twelve weeks of age, and were age- and sex-matched for individual experiments. All experiments involving mice were performed according to the University of Georgia guidelines for laboratory animals and were approved by the UGA Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## Human subjects

Peripheral blood collection from anonymous healthy donors has been approved by The Institutional Review Board of the University of Georgia (UGA# 2012-10769-06). Enrolled adult volunteers were non-pregnant and heavier than 110 pounds without any infectious disease complication (based on self-report). All subjects provided informed consent. The studies were performed following the guidelines of the World Medical Association's Declaration of Helsinki.

## Neutrophil Isolation

Human neutrophil granulocytes were obtained from the peripheral blood of healthy volunteers as described (324). Briefly, red blood cells were removed by dextran sedimentation of the anticoagulant-treated blood, and neutrophils were separated using multistep Percoll gradient centrifugation. In mice, bone marrow was isolated from femurs and tibiae of naïve mice, and peritoneal cells were collected 4 hours post i.p. injection with 3% thioglycollate. Bone marrow or peritoneal cells were treated with anti-Gr-1 biotinylated antibody (RB6-8C5) (eBioscience) and

then labeled with anti-biotin microbeads (Miltenyi Biotech, Auburn, CA). Gr-1<sup>+</sup> cells were purified by positive selection using an AutoMACS (Miltenyi Biotech) according to the manufacturer's guidelines. Alternatively, neutrophils were purified by negative selection using a neutrophil enrichment kit (Stemcell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada) according to manufacturer's guidelines.

#### Cell Isolation and Cell Sorting

Wild type spleens were disaggregated by pressing through a 70 µm filter, and red blood cells were lysed using Ack lysis buffer. NK cells were column purified by negative selection using an NK cell isolation kit according to manufacturer's guidelines (Miltenyi Biotech). For isolation of lymphocyte populations, whole splenocytes were stained for 15 min at 4°C in PBS + 0.5% FBS (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) using anti-mouse antibodies purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA): CD16/CD32 (93), CD4 (RM4-5), CD8 (53-6.7), CD25 (PC61.5), CD44 (IM7) and CD62L (MGL-14) and CD19 (eBio1D3). Live cells were first gated by excluding propidium iodide positive (PI<sup>+</sup>) cells and then sorted for naïve CD4 cells (CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>-</sup>), naïve CD8 cells (CD8<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD62L<sup>+</sup>CD44<sup>-</sup>) or B cells (CD19<sup>+</sup>) using a Beckman Coulter MoFlo XDP cell sorter. Peritoneal macrophages were collected by peritoneal lavage and were adherence purified for 6 hours at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> in complete RPMI [RPMI 1640 containing 10% FBS, 100 U/ml penicillin, 100 µg/ml streptomycin, 2 mM L-glutamine (Life Technologies), 0.01 M HEPES (Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and 50 µM 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO)]. Human airway epithelial cell lines A549 and NCI-H292 were obtained from ATCC (Manassas, VA), and Cdk4/hTERT were kindly provided by Dr. John Minna at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center in Dallas, Texas (325). NCI-H292 cells were

maintained in complete RPMI medium as described (326). The Cdk4/hTERT human bronchial epithelial cell line was cultured and differentiated as described (327).

# Adoptive transfer and bone marrow chimeras

Purified bone marrow neutrophils from C57BL6 CD45.1<sup>+</sup> and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD45.2<sup>+</sup> mice were labeled with 2.5  $\mu$ M CFSE for 8 minutes at room temperature. Cells were counted, combined at a 1:1 (WT CD45.1<sup>+</sup>: $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) ratio, and 1-3x10<sup>6</sup> cells were injected into CD45.2<sup>+</sup> mice i.v. For generation of bone marrow chimeras, CD45.1<sup>+</sup>CD45.2<sup>+</sup> mice were lethally irradiated with 1100 rad. The following day, mice were reconstituted with a mixture of bone marrow from CD45.1<sup>+</sup> and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Bone marrow was isolated from femurs and tibiae of naïve mice and red blood cells were lysed. A mixture of 3-4 x10<sup>6</sup> bone marrow cells were injected i.v into each recipient.

# Western Blotting

Bone marrow neutrophils were lysed in protein lysis buffer (dH<sub>2</sub>O; 100mM HEPES pH 7.5; 20% glycerol; 2% Triton X-100; 3 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 2 mM EDTA; 1 ng/ml Leupeptin, Aprotinin and Pepstatin; 1 nM PMSF; protease inhibitor tablet [Roche, Switzerland]). Protein concentration was measured using a BCA protein assay (Thermo Scientific, Suwanee, GA). Twenty micrograms of total protein were separated on a 4-12% Bis-Tris gel (Life Technologies) and probed with antibodies for Tpl2,  $\beta$ -Actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Santa Cruz, CA), and GAPDH (GeneTex, Irvine, CA).

# RNA Isolation and RT-PCR

RNA was isolated from cells using EZRNA extraction kit (Omega Bio-Tek, Norcross, GA) and converted to cDNA by high capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit (Life Technologies). Relative expression levels of *Tpl2* were measured using SensiFAST Probe Hi-ROX kit (Bioline, Taunton, MA) and predesigned TaqMan probe and primer sets (Applied Biosystems, Grand

Island, NY). Samples were run on a StepOnePlus qPCR machine (Applied Biosystems). Results given are relative to neutrophils (mouse samples) or Cdk4/hTERT (human samples) and an actin housekeeping gene using the  $\Delta\Delta C_T$  method.

#### Murine Blood Collection

Blood was collected by tail bleed or terminal cardiac puncture into microvette tubes containing EDTA (Starstedt, Germany). Proportions of white blood cells were determined by CBC analysis. Surface staining of cells used the following anti-mouse monoclonal antibodies from eBiosciences: CD16/CD32 (93), CD4 (RM4-5), B220 (RA3-6B2), Gr-1 (RB6-8C5), CD11b (M1/70), CD44 (IM7), CD62L (MEL-14), CD45.1 (A20), and CD45.2 (104) or from BioLegend: CXCR2 (SA044G4) and CXCR4 (L276F12). Samples were run on a BD LSRII flow cytometer and analyzed using FlowJo software (Tree Star, Inc., Ashland, OR).

#### Measurement of superoxide production and bacterial killing

Superoxide production in adherent neutrophils was measured by Diogenes superoxide detection chemiluminescence kit (National Diagnostics, Atlanta, GA). A total of 50,000 neutrophils/well were allowed to adhere to 96-well white plates (15 min, 37°C, HBSS). Cells were stimulated by addition of fMLP (100 nM), PMA (1  $\mu$ M), *C. rodentium* (MOI 1, 2, and 5), or were left unstimulated. Chemiluminescence was measured by Varioskan Flash luminometer (Thermo Scientific, Logan, UT) for 30 min. Alternatively, 100,000 bone marrow neutrophils were combined with increasing concentrations of luminescent *C. rodentium* (ICC180, kindly provided by Dr. Gad Frankel at Imperial College, London UK (310) that had been opsonized with murine serum 15 minutes at 37°C. Luminescence was measured by Varioskan Flash luminometer (Thermo Scientific, Logan, UT) for 3 hours (37°C, HBSS, 100 mM HEPES, 5 mM glucose and 1% mouse serum).

#### Cytokine Measurements

A total of 250,000 neutrophils/well were allowed to adhere to 96-well plates. Cells were stimulated for 24 hr with 100 nM fMLP or 100 ng/mL LPS at 37°C in media containing HBSS, 100 mM HEPES, 5 mM glucose and 1% mouse serum. TNF concentrations were measured by ELISA (eBiosciences) according to manufacturer's guidelines. Serum concentrations of G-CSF were measured by ELISA (RayBiotech, Norcross, GA) according to the manufacturer's guidelines.

#### **Statistics**

*P* values were derived by two-tailed paired or unpaired student's *t*-test using Prism software, unless otherwise indicated. Differences were considered statistically significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

#### RESULTS

#### Tpl2 is expressed within mouse and human neutrophils

The importance of Tpl2 in innate immune cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells, and adaptive immune cells, such as CD4 T cells, has been extensively studied. However, how Tpl2 influences neutrophil function has yet to be investigated. First, we evaluated the expression of Tpl2 in neutrophils relative to other innate or adaptive immune cells. Tpl2 is expressed as two distinct isoforms of 52 and 58 kDa in both innate and adaptive immune cells (13). In murine cells, Tpl2 is more highly expressed in neutrophils compared to naïve CD4 T cells, but not as highly expressed as in naïve peritoneal macrophages, B cells or NK cells (Figure 4.1A-B). Notably, the p52 isoform appears to be the dominant isoform expressed in neutrophils compared to other cell types analyzed (Figure 4.1A). Tpl2 has previously been shown to influence cytokine secretion of IL-6 and IL-8 (CXCL8) within the human bronchial airway epithelial cell line BEAS-2B (328). Accordingly, Tpl2 is expressed within the human lung epithelial cell lines

Cdk4/hTERT, NCI-H292, and A549 (Figure 4.1C), but Tpl2 expression is even higher in primary human neutrophils (Figure 4.1C). These results indicate that Tpl2 is expressed in neutrophils at physiologically relevant levels where it may contribute to neutrophil antimicrobial functions.

# $Tpl2^{--}$ mice have greater accumulation of neutrophils within the bone marrow

Neutrophil development from progenitors proceeds through several stages within the bone marrow before being released into the circulation (134). We therefore investigated whether Tpl2 contributes to neutrophil development within the bone marrow. Whole bone marrow from Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice had higher proportions of both granulocytes (as determined by forward scatter and side scatter) and Gr-1 positive neutrophils (Figure 4.2A-B). One factor that has been shown to regulate neutrophil proportions within the bone marrow is the microbiota (329, 330). However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had similarly elevated proportions of bone marrow neutrophils compared to their wild type littermates (Figure 4.2C), confirming a role for Tpl2 in the accumulation of bone marrow neutrophils independent of the microbiota. Once neutrophils mature in the bone marrow, they are released into the circulation. Despite elevated proportions of neutrophils within the bone marrow, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice have reduced proportions of neutrophils within the blood, with a commensurate increase in the proportions of lymphocytes (Figure 4.2D). However, Tpl2 only directly impacts neutrophil numbers within the blood (Figure 4.2E), which in turn indirectly influences lymphocyte proportions. To prevent underlying differences in how microbiota may influence neutrophil function, all remaining experiments were conducted using wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice bred from heterozygous matings.

Within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice we observed greater accumulation of neutrophils within the bone marrow and reduced circulating neutrophils, indicating defects in neutrophil egress from the bone marrow.

Tpl2 has previously been shown to regulate chemokine receptor expression on macrophages, including CCR1 (331). Because CXCR4 is thought to negatively regulate neutrophil egress from the bone marrow into the circulation (141, 142), we hypothesized that CXCR4 expression on the surface of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  bone marrow neutrophils may be altered. However, wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils within the bone marrow expressed similar levels of CXCR4 (Figure 4.3A). Alternatively, production of G-CSF is also thought to enhance neutrophil mobilization from the bone marrow into the circulation (140). Consistently, naïve  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice trended towards less G-CSF within their sera (Figure 4.3C), suggesting that Tpl2 enhances neutrophil egress from the bone marrow into the circulation by promoting systemic G-CSF expression.

# Neutrophil recruitment is impaired in *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice due to a neutrophil-extrinsic defect

Tpl2 has been shown to be required for neutrophil recruitment in response to treatment with zymosan (42), acetaminophen (317), and caerulein (318), as well as during MOG<sub>35-55</sub>-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (38). Decreased recruitment was attributed to reduced chemotactic factors generated at the site of inflammation within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (38, 42, 317, 318). Consistent with these findings, 3% thioglycollate, which elicits a sterile inflammatory response, recruited 10-20% less neutrophils into the peritoneal cavity of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice compared to wild type mice (Figure 4.4A). These results confirm the importance of Tpl2 in recruitment of neutrophils within the host. However, it is still unclear whether Tpl2 influences neutrophil recruitment in a neutrophil-intrinsic manner.

To determine the role of Tpl2 in neutrophil recruitment, we utilized two models to measure the cell-instrinsic role of Tpl2 during neutrophil recruitment within a wild type host. In the first model, bone marrow neutrophils were isolated from congenic CD45.1<sup>+</sup> C57BL/6 and CD45.2<sup>+</sup>  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, combined at a 1:1 ratio, and labeled with CFSE. Neutrophils were injected i.v. into

wild type (C57BL/6) mice, and the recipients were immediately treated with 1 ml of 3% thioglycollate i.p. Four hours post treatment, mice were euthanized, and peritoneal cells were collected. Similar proportions of both CD45.1<sup>+</sup> wild type and CD45.1<sup>-</sup> *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* neutrophils were recruited into the peritoneal cavity (Figure 4.4B). Unimpaired recruitment of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils within the circulation is consistent with normal levels of neutrophil chemokine receptors CXCR2 and CXCR4 (142, 145-147), E-selectin CD44 (150), and L-selectin CD62L (Figure 4.3B). In the second model, mixed bone marrow chimeras were generated and treated with either 3% thioglycollate or C. rodentium. Eight weeks post transfer, CD45.1/CD45.2 heterozygous recipient mice contained approximately a 1:1 (wild type  $CD45.1^+$ :  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  CD45.2<sup>+</sup>) neutrophil ratio within the blood (Figure 4.4C). Contrary to expectations, after treatment with 3% thioglycollate, both the blood and peritoneum unexpectedly showed elevated proportions of Tpl2<sup>-</sup>  $^{\prime}$  neutrophils compared to wild type CD45.1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils (Figure 4.4C). These two models have confirmed that recruitment is not impaired in Tpl2-deficient neutrophils. Therefore, Tpl2 predominately regulates neutrophil recruitment via a neutrophil-extrinsic mechanism, since Tpl2<sup>-</sup> <sup>/-</sup> mice have impaired neutrophil recruitment (Figure 4.4A), even though *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils are capable of being recruited within a wild type host (Figure 4.4B-C).

# Tpl2 promotes TNF secretion, respiratory burst and bacterial killing

Once within an inflamed tissue, recruited neutrophils produce inflammatory cytokines, phagocytose microbes, generate superoxide, and form neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) to control infection. To determine how Tpl2 influences neutrophil antimicrobial functions, neutrophils were isolated from the bone marrow of wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice and stimulated *ex vivo* with the chemotactic peptide f-Met-Leu-Phe (fMLP), LPS, or phorbol myristate acetate (PMA). Following stimulation with LPS,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils secreted significantly less TNF

compared to wild type neutrophils (Figure 4.5A). fMLP induced significant superoxide production within wild type neutrophils, which was dramatically diminished in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils (Figure 4.5B-C). Defects in superoxide generation by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils in response to fMLP is consistent with defects in superoxide generation we previously observed in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  macrophages in response to TLR ligands (316) suggesting a fundamental defect in NADPH oxidase activity in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  innate immune cells in response to physiological stimuli. However, both  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils (Figure 4.5B-C) and macrophages (316) are capable of producing superoxide in response to PMA stimulation, indicating a stimulus-specific defect in superoxide production within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils.

Based on the observation that  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils are impaired in TNF and superoxide production in response to bacterial ligands, we hypothesized that they would be impaired in bacterial killing. *Citrobacter rodentium* is a non-motile gram-negative rod that is a natural mouse and gerbil pathogen (238, 239) and is capable of being killed by murine neutrophils *in vitro* (250, 306). Wild type or  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils were incubated with a luminescent strain of *C. rodentium* at a low dose of infection (MOI 1, 2, and 5), and bacterial persistence was monitored over three hours.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  bone marrow neutrophils were less capable of killing *C. rodentium* compared with wild type neutrophils, and all neutrophils were overwhelmed at the highest MOI (Figure 4.6). These data indicate basal defects in the ability of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils to kill bacteria, despite similar expression of the activation marker CD11b (Figure 4.3A).

# DISCUSSION

In this study, we sought to explore the functional consequences of Tpl2 ablation on neutrophil development and function. While previous reports have demonstrated reduced neutrophil recruitment to inflammatory sites in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (38, 42, 317, 318), this study is the first to

document a defect in neutrophil homeostasis and bone marrow egress in naïve *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. Greater accumulation of neutrophils within the bone marrow and reduced proportions of circulating neutrophils was independent of bone marrow progenitors or neutrophil expression of the chemokine receptors and selectins CXCR2, CXCR4, CD44 and CD62L but correlated with a trend towards reduced circulating G-CSF concentrations. Furthermore, this study also established important cell-intrinsic roles for Tpl2 in promoting neutrophil antimicrobial functions, including TNF secretion, superoxide production, and bacterial killing.

Within the circulation,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils express similar levels of chemokine receptors to wild type neutrophils and are equally capable of being recruited in response to thioglycollate within a wild type host. However, within a  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  host, neutrophil recruitment to sites of inflammation is impaired (38, 42, 317, 318). These data are consistent with the observation that  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice produce less neutrophil chemoattractant cytokines and chemokines, including G-CSF (42, 220) KC and CXCL2 (332-334) during inflammatory responses. KC and CXCL2 are known to bind CXCR2 expressed on the surface of neutrophils (306, 335, 336). Altogether, these data indicate that Tpl2-dependent neutrophil recruitment occurs via neutrophil-extrinsic mechanisms that result in defects in local chemokine production in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Furthermore, a basal defect in egress of mature neutrophils from the bone marrow and into the circulation within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  hosts further impedes neutrophil recruitment during inflammation.

Neutrophils utilize various antimicrobial functions shared by other innate immune cells, such as phagocytosis of microbes, superoxide production, and cytokine secretion. Signaling through FcγR has been shown to activate Tpl2 and ERK in macrophages, allowing for secretion of TNF, IL-6, and IL-10 and for phagocytosis, all of which are reduced by Tpl2 inhibition (30). Superoxide production is a major component of neutrophil antimicrobial functions. Superoxide is

generated through activation and formation of the NADPH oxidase complex, which is composed of five subunits: two membrane bound subunits ( $p22^{phox}$  and  $gp91^{phox}$ ) and three cytoplasmic subunits ( $p40^{phox}$ ,  $p47^{phox}$  and  $p67^{phox}$ ) (154). Upon activation, the three cytoplasmic subunits are recruited to the cell membrane, generating the active NADPH oxidase and allowing for production of superoxide (154). We hypothesize that defects in superoxide production in response to fMLP by *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* neutrophils is due to defects in the NADPH oxidase. However, this defect is stimulus-specific and can be overcome in response to PMA. fMLP is known to activate the MEK/ERK signaling pathway leading to down-stream superoxide production (337) whereas PMA instead utilizes the PKC signaling pathway (338). The observed impairment in fMLPinduced oxidative burst is consistent with the known role for Tpl2 in activation of the MEK/ERK pathway (reviewed in (11)).

The main goal of neutrophil antimicrobial functions is to promote an inflammatory environment and kill microbes. It has previously been shown that murine neutrophils are capable of killing the bacterial pathogen *C. rodentium in vitro* (250, 306). In the current study, *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils were significantly impaired in their antimicrobial functions. These data implicate Tpl2 in bacterial killing *in vitro*, but neutrophil-mediated killing is a multistep process (reviewed in (152)) that includes phagocytosis, degranulation, respiratory burst and release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). Tpl2 has already been shown to influence macrophage phagocytosis through FcγR (30) and likely promotes FcγR-mediated uptake by neutrophils as well. After phagocytosis, neutrophils produce reactive oxygen species through NADPH oxidase as mentioned above and antibacterial proteins including defensins, lactoferrin, and lysozyme (reviewed in (152)). Therefore, a combination of defects in both phagocytosis and oxidative burst likely underlie the reduced antimicrobial activity of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils. Overall, our findings underscore the importance of Tpl2 in driving innate immune cell inflammatory and antimicrobial properties. These findings further support the use of Tpl2 inhibitors as an alternative therapeutic approach against rheumatoid arthritis to combat overproduction of TNF (288-290) as well as limit neutrophil recruitment. Besides being used as an infectious model for inflammatory bowel disease (205), *C. rodentium* is also a model for intestinal bacterial pathogens that cause attaching and effacing lesions, similar to *Escherichia coli* infection (253, 254). Therefore, while inhibition of Tpl2 may benefit patients who suffer from autoimmune diseases potentiated by inflammatory neutrophils, Tpl2 inhibitors taken chronically may also predispose patients to commensal bacterial infections that require neutrophil function for clearance.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Teneema Kuriakose and Chris D. Slade for excellent technical assistance for these experiments and Monica LaGatta for maintenance of our mouse colony. We thank Julie Nelson in the Center for Tropical and Emerging Global Diseases Flow Cytometry Core Facility for flow sorting and UGA's Veterinary Medicine Central Animal Facility for animal care. We thank Dr. Deborah Keys for guidance on statistical analysis. Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number R01AI099058 to W.T.W. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

# **FIGURES**



**Figure 4.1- Tpl2 is expressed within neutrophils.** (A) Naïve CD4 cells, B cells and peritoneal macrophages were isolated from wild type mice. Neutrophils were isolated from wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Twenty micrograms of protein were immunoblotted for Tpl2, actin, and GAPDH. (B) Naïve CD4 cells, CD8 cells, B cells, NK cells, peritoneal macrophages and neutrophils were isolated from wild type mice and analyzed for their relative expression of Tpl2 by RT-PCR. N $\geq$ 3. Lines represent means. (C) Human cell lines and primary neutrophils were analyzed for their relative expression of Tpl2 by real-time PCR. N=2 donors. Error bars represent means  $\pm$  SE.



Figure 4.2- *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice have elevated proportions of neutrophils within the bone marrow and reduced proportions within the blood. (A-C) Bone marrow was isolated from (A-B) wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> mice from homozygous matings or (C) from wild type and *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> littermates derived from heterozygous matings. Whole bone marrow isolates were stained for Gr-1. Cells were gated on granulocytes or Gr-1<sup>+</sup> cells. N≥5. Blood was collected from littermates and analyzed for (D) proportions and (E) concentration of white blood cells. Results are shown as a (D) proportion of all WBC and (E) cells/µl. N=6. Connecting lines represent paired experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005



Figure 4.3- Tpl2 does not influence surface expression of neutrophil chemokine receptors or activation markers. Wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils from (A) bone marrow or (B) blood were analyzed for their relative expression of CXCR2, CXCR4, CD44, CD62L, and CD11b. Data are shown as MFI for each mouse. N≥3. Results shown are representative of 2 or more experiments. (C) Wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  serum concentration of G-CSF was measured. N=7.



Figure 4.4- Tpl2 primarily regulates recruitment in a neutrophil-extrinsic manner. (A) Wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were treated i.p. with 1 ml 3% thioglycollate. Four hours later, peritoneal cells were lavaged and stained for Gr-1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils. N≥7. (B) CD45.1<sup>+</sup> and CD45.1<sup>-</sup>  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  bone marrow neutrophils were stained with CFSE, combined at a 1:1 ratio, and 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells were injected i.v. along with 1 ml 3% thioglycollate i.p into wild type mice. Four hours later, peritoneal exudate cells were stained for Gr-1 and CD45.1. A representative plot of peritoneal exudate cells shows the gating strategy. N=3. Results shown are representative of 2 experiments. (C) Mixed bone marrow chimeras were injected with 1 ml 3% thioglycollate i.p. Peritoneal cells were collected 4 h later and stained for Gr-1, CD45.1, and CD45.2. A representative plot of peritoneal exudate cells shows the gating strategy. N=4. Results shown are representative of 2 experiments. Error bars represent means ± SEM. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.005, \*\*\*p<0.005



Figure 4.5- Tpl2 is required for neutrophil antimicrobial functions. (A) Bone marrow neutrophils were treated with indicated stimuli for 24 hours. Supernatants were collected and analyzed for TNF concentration. N=3. Results shown are representative of 3 independent experiments. Error bars represent means  $\pm$  SD. (B-C) Bone marrow neutrophils were treated with indicated stimuli for 30 minutes. Superoxide production was measured by a Diogenes-based chemiluminescence assay. Data are shown as (C) kinetics of representative curves (relative luminescence units [RLUs]) or as (B) summarized luminescence integrated for the entire duration of the measurement (int. RLU). N=5. \*p<0.05



Figure 4.6- Tpl2 is required for neutrophil killing of *C. rodentium*. Bone marrow neutrophils were isolated from wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice.  $1-2x10^5$  neutrophils were combined with opsonized luminescent *C. rodentium* at an MOI of 1, 2, and 5 for 3 hours, and luminescence was measured. Data are shown as (A) kinetics of representative curves and (B) percent killing relative to medium control. N=3. Results shown are representative of 3 experiments. Error bars represent means  $\pm$  SD. \*\*p<0.005, \*\*\*p<0.001

# **CHAPTER 5**

# SEVERE DERMATITIS IN RAG1<sup>-/-</sup>*TPL2*<sup>-/-</sup> MICE DUE TO SPONTANEOUS *STAPHYLOCCOUS XYLOSUS* INFECTION <sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Acuff, N.V, M. LaGatta, T. Nagy and W.T. Watford. Submitted to *Comparative Medicine* (under review)

# ABSTRACT

Staphylococcus xylosus is a commensal bacterium found on the skin and mucosal surfaces of specific pathogen free (SPF) mice. S. xvlosus is rarely pathogenic, most often causing skin lesions and dermatitis in immunocompromised strains, particularly those with impaired NADPH oxidase function. Herein, we report spontaneous infection with S. xylosus in Rag1-/-Tpl2-/- mice. Infection was characterized by the presence of alopecia, crusts, and scaly skin. S. xylosus was detected within the feces, skin, lymph nodes and lungs of  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice and led to mortality or euthanasia due to humane endpoints. C57BL/6 mice tested culture positive for S. xylosus on the skin, and  $Rag l^{-/-}$  and  $Tpl 2^{-/-}$  mice tested culture positive on the skin and occasionally within the feces. However, S. xvlosus did not cause clinical symptoms in C57BL/6, Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> or Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Infection did not influence relative concentrations of neutrophils or lymphocytes within the circulation of Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, but did enhance concentrations of circulating monocytes compared to Rag1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which correlated with bacterial dissemination. This case study suggests a role for Tpl2 in innate immune cell superoxide production and also cautions that differences in immune status of genetically engineered mice due to underlying infection with opportunistic pathogens may bias experimental interpretation.

# **INTRODUCTION**

*Staphylococcus xylosus* is a non-motile coagulase-negative, gram-positive cocci that was first identified in 1975 (339). *Staphylococci* are common bacteria in the environment and have been linked to opportunistic infections in both humans and animals. *S. xylosus* is generally considered a nonpathogenic bacterium commonly used in the production of meat and cheese products (340-345). One reason *Staphylococcal spp.* are useful in food production is due to expression of the MprF gene, which prevents spoiling through production of lantibiotics (346). *S. xylosus* is a commensal bacterium found on the skin of specific pathogen free (SPF) C57BL/6 mice (347). All strains of *S. xylosus* isolated from laboratory animals were found to be susceptible to multiple antibiotics (162). In addition, there have been reports of *S. xylosus* isolated from humans, dairy cows, ewes, gerbils, and poultry (348, 349).

Although large numbers of mice are used in research, there are few reports of spontaneous *S*. *xylosus* infection. Spontaneous infection with *S. xylosus* has been previously reported in athymic nude mice, characterized by extensive dermatitis on the neck, thorax, and shoulders (350, 351). Significant dermal inflammation and the presence of gram-positive cocci were observed within the lesions (350, 351). This is consistent with the induction of a localized CD4 T cell response after colonization of germ-free C57BL/6 mice with *S. xylosus* (352). Importantly, mouse strains deficient in phagocyte superoxide production also show increased susceptibility to spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection, characterized by dermatitis and abscess formation (161-163, 353, 354). Development of severe dermatitis, morbidity and mortality in these strains suggests that both T cells and superoxide production contribute to host resistance. Superoxide is generated through activation and formation of the NADPH oxidase complex, which is composed of 5 subunits: p22<sup>phox</sup> and gp91<sup>phox</sup> (Cybb) on the surface and p40<sup>phox</sup>, p47<sup>phox</sup>, and p67<sup>phox</sup> within the

cytoplasm. Upon activation, the 5 subunits combine at the cell membrane, generating the active NADPH oxidase, and enable superoxide production. Mice lacking the gp91<sup>phox</sup> subunit (B6.129S6-*Cybb*<sup>tm1Din</sup>/J) or p47<sup>phox</sup> subunit (B6p47<sup>phox-/-</sup>HLL and B6.129S2-Ncf1<sup>tm1shl</sup>N14), which are commonly used as models for chronic granulomatous disease, have been reported to develop spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection (161, 350, 353). Of note, infection in superoxide-deficient mice is also characterized by dissemination into other organs, such as the brain, lung, lymph nodes, and bone, whereas *S. xylosus* remains localized to the skin within superoxide-competent mice (161, 162).

In the current report, we describe spontaneous infection with *S. xylosus* as the main cause of morbidity and mortality in  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Affected  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice presented with alopecia, scaly skin, crusts and mortality or euthanasia due to humane endpoints. However, C57BL/6,  $Rag1^{-/-}$ , and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice did not develop clinical signs of infection, despite all strains being culture positive for *S. xylosus* on the skin. Within  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, *S. xylosus* was additionally detected within the feces and occasionally disseminated to lymph nodes and lung. Dissemination into other organs is indicative of defects in the NADPH oxidase as previously reported (162), which implicates Tpl2 in phagocyte production of superoxide *in vivo*. Furthermore, this case study provides a cautionary note that unanticipated opportunistic infections and altered microbiota of immunocompromised mice may bias experimental interpretations.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### Mice

Wild type (C57BL/6J) and  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice backcrossed more than ten generations onto the C57BL/6 genetic background were kindly

provided by Dr. Philip Tsichlis and Thomas Jefferson University.  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice were crossed with  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice to generate  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. C57BL/6 and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were crossed to generate  $Tpl2^{+/-}$  mice, and wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice used in this report were bred from heterozygous matings. Animals were bred and maintained in sterile microisolator cages at the University of Georgia using guidelines for laboratory animals that were approved by the UGA Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

## Blood and Tissue Collection

Blood was collected by terminal cardiac puncture into microvette tubes containing EDTA (Starstedt, Germany). Proportions of white blood cells were determined by CBC analysis. Skin, spleen, lymph nodes (mesenteric and inguinal), lung, brain, and fecal samples were collected using aseptic technique and submitted for aerobic bacterial culture of *Staphylococcus xylosus* and pathology at the UGA Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratories. Skin samples were also fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin for 24 h at room temperature. Complete cross sections of formalin-fixed sections were placed in cassettes, embedded in paraffin, sectioned at 4 µm thickness, mounted on glass slides, and stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Histological sections were evaluated by a veterinary pathologist (TN).

#### **Statistics**

*P* values were derived by Fischer's exact test or by one-way ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test using Prism software. Differences were considered statistically significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

#### **CASE REPORT**

Over a one-year period within our mouse colony, we observed thickened scaly skin in several naive  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice that required euthanasia or led to mortality. The skin of  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice was characterized by ruffled fur, mild alopecia, scabs, and scattered discrete crusts (Figure
5.1A). Microscopic analysis revealed a markedly hyperplastic epidermis (E) focally covered with a serocellular crust (SC) composed of neutrophils, cellular debris, and bacterial colonies. There is distinct fibrosis (F) beneath the epidermis indicating chronic infection as well as acute hemorrhage between the epidermis and the superficial dermis signifying a severe inflammatory condition (Figure 5.1B). Necropsy and diagnostic testing confirmed that skin lesions were due to spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection, which occurred within three different male cages at different time points over the one-year period. No naïve C57BL/6, *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* or *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice showed clinical signs of infection nor required euthanasia.

After several occurrences of spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection within  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, a cohort of male C57BL/6,  $Rag1^{-/-}$ ,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$ , and  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were euthanized and examined for the presence of *S. xylosus* on the skin as well as within the feces, spleen, lymph nodes, lung, and brain. Upon euthanasia, *S. xylosus* was detected on the skin of all mice and within the feces of a single  $Rag1^{-/-}$ , two  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  and all  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Table 5.1). Fecal testing of  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$ mice also included female cages and confirmed that colonization with *S. xylosus* within  $Rag1^{-/-}$  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice was not gender specific, although dermatitis, morbidity and mortality were restricted to males. Aerobic culture of *S. xylosus* also confirmed dissemination to the lymph nodes of one  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mouse and lung of another (Table 5.1). These data indicate that within immunocompromised  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice, the additional absence of Tpl2 predisposes mice to *S. xylosus* infection, indicating the importance of Tpl2 within innate immune cells.

Due to the presence of infection, concentrations of white blood cells within the circulation were measured to evaluate immune responses generated to infection. As expected,  $Rag1^{-/-}$  and  $Rag1^{-/-}$   $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had significantly less circulating lymphocytes compared to C57BL/6 and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (224, 225) (Figure 5.2). C57BL/6,  $Rag1^{-/-}$ ,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$ , and  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice all had similar

concentrations of circulating neutrophils (Figure 5.2). Interestingly,  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice had significantly fewer circulating monocytes compared to C57BL/6 and  $Tp12^{-/-}$  mice, and  $Rag1^{-/-}$  $Tp12^{-/-}$  mice had elevated levels of monocytes compared to  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 5.2). However,  $Rag1^{-/-}Tp12^{-/-}$  mice still had significantly fewer circulating monocytes compared to C57BL/6 and  $Tp12^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 5.2). These data indicate that defects in lymphocyte production impacts monocyte concentrations within the circulation. Additionally, elevated monocytes within  $Rag1^{-/-}$   $Tp12^{-/-}$  mice correlates with the presence of disseminated *S. xylosus* within the host.

#### DISCUSSION

Tumor progression locus 2, Tpl2 (also known as MAP3K8), is a serine-threonine protein kinase that is expressed in both innate and adaptive immune cells.  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice were originally described as being resistant to endotoxin-induced septic shock due to reduced production of TNF (24). Because Tpl2 promotes TNF processing and secretion (24, 45), it is being investigated as a therapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases, especially those exacerbated by TNF, such as rheumatoid arthritis (288-290). Therefore, the roles for Tpl2 in immune responses during autoimmune and infectious diseases are currently being investigated. During infection,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$ mice are more susceptible to *Toxoplasma gondii* (28), *Listeria monocytogenes* (25, 47), *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (47) and influenza (49) compared to wild type mice. Similarly,  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice develop greater bacterial burdens in response to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Listeria monocytogenes* infection compared to  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice (47), indicating an important role of Tpl2 in regulating immune responses to infection.

In this case study, we describe spontaneous infection of *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>Tp12<sup>-/-</sup>* mice with *Staphylococcus xylosus*. *S. xylosus* is an environmental contaminant and a common commensal bacterium of barrier surfaces of mammals, including laboratory mice (348). Indeed, it is detected on the skin

of C57BL/6 mice housed under specific pathogen free (SPF) conditions (347), Consistent with this, all mice in this study cultured positive for S. xylosus on the skin., and all Rag1-'-Tpl2-'- mice, one  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mouse and two  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice also contained S. xvlosus within their feces. Despite detection of S. xylosus on the skin and within feces of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  and  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice, clinical disease of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  and  $Ragl^{-/-}$  mice was never observed. Notably, dermatitis, morbidity and mortality associated with S. xylosus infection was only observed in male mice, even though both male and female Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> mice tested culture positive for S. xvlosus. Spontaneous S. xvlosus infection in athymic nude mice also occurred with increased frequency in male mice (350), although a second study reported a similar frequency in males and females (351). Additionally, male and female mice deficient in NADPH oxidase showed similar susceptibility to opportunistic infections by S. xylosus (25). The fact that dermatitis, morbidity and mortality caused by S. *xvlosus* in this study was restricted to male  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice, and not females, may represent variability due to the small number of severe dermatitis cases or it may correlate with the increased cage mate aggression generally observed in male mice (355-357). Resultant bite wounds or skin abrasions may facilitate bacterial entry into the skin and establishment of infection.

Although S. xylosus is generally considered a commensal bacterium, it has been reported to cause opportunistic infections in immunocompromised animals. Spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection has previously been reported in athymic nude mice (350, 351), indicating that T cells contribute to protection against spontaneous S. xylosus infection. *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>* mice, like athymic nude mice, also lack mature T cells (224, 225, 358) but fail to develop clinical symptoms. The apparent difference in susceptibility to infection between these two strains is currently unclear but may be attributed to specific conditions within different animal facilities. Additionally, because athymic

nude mice lack a protective layer of hair, they may be more susceptible to dermal injuries that predispose to bacterial infections of the skin. In athymic nude mice, *S. xylosus* was never detected within internal organs but was localized to the skin (350). Dissemination into internal organs has only been reported in mice deficient in NADPH oxidase and superoxide production (161, 162, 353). It has previously been reported that Tpl2 is required for superoxide production in macrophages (316) and peritoneal exudate cells (317), which are likely due to defects in formation of the NADPH oxidase complex (316). Therefore, the combined defects in mature T cells and superoxide production within  $Rag1^{-/}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice is consistent with their increased susceptibility to *S. xylosus* infection.

Interestingly,  $RagI^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice had elevated circulating monocytes compared to  $RagI^{-/-}$  mice. These results are inconsistent with a previous report in which generation of a microbiota through colonization of germ-free C57BL/6 mice with *S. xylosus*, among others, was not shown to impact relative levels of blood myeloid cells (330). Absolute monocyte/lymphocyte ratios are currently being investigated as methods to predict disease outcome. For example, changes in the monocyte/lymphocyte ratios have been shown to be useful in predicting incidence of tuberculosis (359, 360) and susceptibility to malaria (361). However, there was no significant difference in the absolute monocyte/lymphocyte ratio observed between  $RagI^{-/-}$  and  $RagI^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (0.24 ± 0.013 versus 0.25 ± 0.011, respectively). Alternatively, elevated monocytes could indicate systemic infection with *S. xylosus*, as seen with *Staphylococcus aureus* (362).

In conclusion, we describe spontaneous *S. xylosus* infection within a mouse strain not previously identified. Infection within  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice correlated with disseminated bacteria and elevated levels of circulating monocytes compared to  $Rag1^{-/-}$  mice. Overall, these data are an important consideration for future research utilizing  $Rag^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice in which underlying *S. xylosus* 

infection may alter immune status and obscure experimental interpretations.

## **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

We thank UGA's College of Veterinary Medicine Central Animal Facility for animal care, our laboratory animal veterinarian Dr. Stephen Harvey, UGA's Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratories and UGA's Veterinary Pathology Department. We thank Dr. Deborah Keys for guidance on statistical analysis. Research reported in this publication was supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the National Institutes of Health under Award Number R01AI099058 to W.T.W. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official views of the National Institutes of Health.

|   |          | 5. 1910505 |        |     |      |       |
|---|----------|------------|--------|-----|------|-------|
| Genotype                                | Feces    | Skin       | Spleen | LN  | Lung | Brain |
| C57BL/6                                 | 0/3      | 3/3        | 0/3    | 0/3 | 0/3  | 0/3   |
| Tpl2-/-                                 | 2/4      | 4/4        | 0/4    | 0/4 | 0/4  | 0/4   |
| Rag1 <sup>-/-</sup>                     | 1/6      | 5/5        | 0/5    | 0/5 | 0/5  | 0/5   |
| Rag1 <sup>-/-</sup> Tpl2 <sup>-/-</sup> | 10/10 ** | 8/8        | 0/8    | 1/4 | 1/3  | 0/3   |

Table 5.1- Detection of S. *xylosus* in murine organs.

Feces, skin, spleen, lymph nodes, lung, and brain were collected from age-matched mice and cultured for *S. xylosus*. Data were analyzed by Fischer's exact test relative to C57BL/6 mice. \*\*p < 0.005.

# S. xylosus

# **FIGURES**



**Figure 5.1- Gross morphology and histology in** *Rag<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* **mice.** (A) *Rag<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mouse showing ruffled fur, alopecia, crusts and scabbing next to a *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mouse. (B) Representative histology from skin of *Rag<sup>-/-</sup>, Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>*, and *Rag<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice. 100x original magnification, scale bar=100µm. Square indicates area at 200x original magnification, scale bar=50µm. SC-serocellular crust, E- epidermis, F- fibrosis, D- dermis, A- adipose, M- cutaneous muscle.



Figure 5.2-  $Rag^{-7}Tpl2^{-7}$  mice have elevated numbers of circulating monocytes. Blood was collected from age-matched mice and analyzed for concentration of white blood cells. Results are shown as a cells/µl. N≥3. Lines represent means. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001

#### CHAPTER 6

#### CONCLUSION

Tpl2 is known to influence CD4 T helper cell differentiation into Th1 and Th2 cells; however, the role of Tpl2 in Th17 cell differentiation and effector function has not been well established. The main goal of this study was to determine how Tpl2 is involved in Th17 cell differentiation and disease outcome in both autoimmune and infectious disease settings. We found that Tpl2 regulates Th17 differentiation and effector functions at several stages, which influences disease outcome in a context-dependent manner. First, Tpl2 regulates Th17 cell production of IL-17A in a TGF-β-dependent and FoxP3-restricted manner (Figure 2.4) (107). Second, Tpl2 promoted neutrophil egress from the bone marrow and into the circulation at homeostasis (Figure 4.2) and inflammation-induced recruitment at both innate (Figure 4.4A) (42, 317, 318) and adaptive (Figure 3.5C) (38) time points in a cell-extrinsic manner through defects in inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production. Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils secreted less inflammatory cytokines, produced less superoxide and killed C. rodentium less efficiently compared to wild type neutrophils (Figures 4.5-4.6). Combined, the role for Tpl2 in Th17 cell differentiation and disease outcome in autoimmune and infectious models of inflammatory bowel disease was shown to be model-specific (Table 6.1). The following presentation is a summary of the multiple and varied roles of Tpl2 in the context of Th17 associated immunity (Figure 6.1).

## **TPL2 IN NEUTROPHIL DEVELOPMENT, RECRUITMENT AND FUNCTIONS**

Development of both innate and adaptive immune cells begins in the bone marrow from hematopoietic stem cells (HSC). Neutrophil development from progenitors proceeds through several stages within the bone marrow before being released into the circulation (Figure 6.1). Within the bone marrow, Tpl2 does not influence the relative proportions of common myeloid progenitors (CMP) or granulocyte/monocyte progenitors (GMP), indicating normal development of neutrophils in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Xin Li and Wendy Watford, unpublished data). Despite normal neutrophil development, we observed higher proportions of Gr-1<sup>+</sup> neutrophils within the bone marrow and reduced concentrations of neutrophils within the circulation of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 4.2). CXCR4 expression on the surface of neutrophils is thought to negatively regulate neutrophil egress from the bone marrow into the circulation (141, 142); however,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice regulate neutrophils expressed similar levels of CXCR4 (Figure 4.3). G-CSF is thought to positively regulate neutrophil mobilization from the bone marrow into the circulation (140), and consistent with this report we observed reduced concentrations of G-CSF within the blood of  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (Figure 4.3). Therefore, although Tpl2 does not regulate development of neutrophils from progenitors, it does promote neutrophil egress from the bone marrow and into the circulation via chemokine production.

Neutrophils are the first cell type recruited to sites of inflammation from the circulation. Neutrophils are recruited through upregulation of CXCR2 and CXCR4 that bind CXCL1 (KC), CXCL2 (MIP-2), CXCL15, and CXCL12 (142, 145-147) and adhere to the endothelium upon upregulation of P-selectins and E-selectins (148, 149). Both wild type and  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils express similar levels of CXCR2, CXCR4, CD44, and CD62L (Figure 4.3), indicating similar capabilities of being recruited into inflammatory tissues. However,  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice show impaired neutrophil recruitment in response to treatment with zymosan (42), acetaminophen (317), caerulein (318), and thioglycollate (Figure 4.4A), as well as during MOG<sub>35-55</sub>-induced experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) (38) and infection with *Citrobacter*  *rodentium* (Figure 3.5C). Defects in neutrophil recruitment are neutrophil extrinsic, as  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  neutrophils are capable of being recruited within a wild type host (Figure 4.4B-C). Therefore, defects in inflammatory cytokine and chemokine production, including TNF, IL-1 $\beta$ , G-CSF, KC and CXCL2, by  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  innate immune cells during inflammatory responses, such as dendritic cells and macrophages (24, 25, 42, 220, 332-334), induces less neutrophil recruitment to sites of inflammation (Figure 6.1).

Once within the tissue, the main goal of neutrophil antimicrobial functions is to promote an inflammatory environment and kill microbes. Neutrophil-mediated killing is a multi-step process (reviewed in (152)) that includes cytokine secretion, phagocytosis, degranulation, respiratory burst and release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) (Figure 6.1). Similar to macrophages and dendritic cells (24, 25), Tpl2 promotes neutrophil secretion of TNF upon stimulation with LPS (Figure 4.5A). Tpl2 has already been shown to influence macrophage phagocytosis through FcyR (30) and may similarly promote neutrophil phagocytosis. After phagocytosis, neutrophils produce reactive oxygen species (ROS), including superoxide, to kill microbes such as Staphylococcus, Escherichia, Pseudomonas, and Candida spp. (164). Tpl2 promotes superoxide production in both macrophages (316) and neutrophils (Figure 4.5B) in a stimulus-specific manner.  $Rag1^{-/-}Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice have enhanced skin inflammation and pathology due to spontaneous infection with the commensal bacterium Staphylococcus xylosus (Figure 5.1) as well as bacterial dissemination (Table 5.1), which may be due to reduced superoxide production by Tpl2-/phagocytes through NADPH oxidase (161, 350, 353). Neutrophils are also capable of producing neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), through a process termed NETosis, which traps and kills extracellular bacteria and fungi (165-170). Because ERK is required for NET formation (322, 323), Tpl2 ablation may also impair the ability of neutrophils to form NETs, although this was

not investigated in this study. However, this study does confirm the importance of Tpl2 in neutrophil-mediated killing of the extracellular bacterium *Citrobacter rodentium* (Figure 4.6).

#### **REGULATION OF TH17 CELL DIFFERENTIATION BY TPL2**

During the adaptive phase of immune responses, Tpl2 has been shown to influence the differentiation of CD4 helper T cell lineages; however, there is little information regarding the regulation of Th17 differentiation by Tpl2. Traditionally, Th17 cells have been induced in vitro using the cytokines IL-6 and TGF- $\beta$  (67-69). We first confirmed that  $Tpl2^{-1}$  T cells are impaired in vitro in the production of IL-17A and IL-17F under these classical Th17 polarizing conditions (Figure 2.1); however, there was no impairment in Rorc, Rora, or Irf4 expression or STAT3 activation (Supplemental Figure 2.5) (107). Decreased expression of IL-17A correlated with increased FoxP3 expression by Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells (Figure 2.3). IL-17A production was restored to wild type levels in  $Tpl2^{-1}$  Th17 cells when the TGF- $\beta$  concentration was reduced, neutralizing IL-2 antibody was added, or when Th17 cells were alternatively induced by IL-6 and IL-23, all of which failed to induce FoxP3 expression (Figure 2.4) (107). Similarly, wild type and Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> Th17 cells secreted similar concentrations of IL-22 when induced by IL-6 and IL-23 (Figure 2.4A) (107). These data defined a TGF-β- and FoxP3-restricted defect in IL-17A secretion by Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup> T cells, but indicate that Tpl2 does not regulate IL-22 secretion by CD4 T cells (Figure 6.1).

IL-17A and IL-17F signal through a heterodimeric receptor composed of IL-17RA and IL-17RC, and IL-22 signals through a heterodimeric receptor composed of IL-22R and IL-10R $\beta$  (Figure 1.2) (121). Downstream of the signaling complex, IL-17 signals through NF- $\kappa$ B, MAPKs, and C/EBPs whereas IL-22 signals through MAPKs as well as JAK/STAT pathways allowing for expression of inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and inflammatory mediators (reviewed in (121, 129, 130)). In a mouse skin epidermal cell line, astrocytes and murine embryonic fibroblasts (MEF), Tpl2 is phosphorylated by IL-17A, which leads to the activation of JNK and p38 (38, 133). Because of similar signaling through MAPKs, Tpl2 may also influence IL-22 receptor signaling as well as IL-17A receptor signaling.

#### **TPL2 IN TH17-ASSOCIATED INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASE**

Dysregulated Th17 responses are implicated in the development of autoimmune diseases, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (reviewed in (77)). Several models exist for studying IBD in mice, including (A) chemically induced colitis with dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) (213-216), (B) a T cell transfer model of colitis (212), and (C) infection induced colitis with *Citrobacter rodentium* (217, 218). Comparisons of diseases outcome and immune responses generated in models of IBD by  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice are shown in Table 6.1.

A. In a chemically induced model of colitis, dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) damages intestinal epithelial cells and therefore alters barrier function of the intestines, leading to hematochezia, body weight loss, shortening of the intestine, mucosal ulcers, and infiltration of neutrophils (213-216). In this innate immune model of colitis,  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice experienced milder colitis compared to wild type mice with reduced production of inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and IL-17, as well as reduced production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (220). Additionally,  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice trended towards reduced recruitment of neutrophils into the intestines (220).

B. In a T cell transfer model of colitis, CD4<sup>+</sup>CD25<sup>-</sup>CD45RB<sup>hi</sup> cells are adoptively transferred into  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice. Because immunosuppressive CD25<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells are excluded from the adoptive transfer,  $Rag^{-/-}$  mice do not develop peripheral tolerance characterized by FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Tregs (228) leading to an unchecked inflammatory response within production of TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-17A, IL-22, and IL-23 (205, 212, 222, 229-233). Recipients of *Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* cells had reduced proportions of

CD4<sup>+</sup>IFN $\gamma^+$  cells, but not CD4<sup>+</sup>IL-17A<sup>+</sup> cells, within the spleen and mesenteric lymph nodes (MLN) (Figure 2.2D) (107). However, recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> CD4 T cells also had more total cells and CD4 T cells within their spleens and MLN compared to recipients of wild type cells (Figure 2.2E) (107), indicating that Tpl2 deficiency enhanced lymphopenia-induced accumulation of transferred effector CD4 T cells. Therefore, despite reduced proportions of CD4<sup>+</sup>IFN $\gamma^+$  T cells within recipients of *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> T cells, their absolute number was either unchanged or increased relative to recipients of wild type T cells (Figure 2.2F). Consequently, recipients of Tpl2-deficient T cells were no more susceptible to the development of colitis than recipients of wild type T cells as measured by weight loss (Figure 2.2A) and pathology (Figure 2.2C) (107).

C. *Citrobacter rodentium* is a non-motile gram-negative rod that colonizes the large intestine, primarily the cecum and distal portion of the colon (257). During peak infection,  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice had significantly higher bacterial burdens than wild type mice as detected by changes in luminescence (Figure 3.1A-B), yet both wild type and  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice similarly cleared the bacteria by three weeks post infection (Figure 3.1). Because, *C. rodentium* can disseminate out of the intestines and be found in the nasopharynx, lung, heart, liver, and spleen (244), we evaluated bacterial dissemination within  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice. At the same time points in which  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice experienced greater bacterial burdens,  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice also had greater bacterial dissemination within the liver and spleen (Figure 3.2). Evaluation of the CD4 T cell response generated two weeks post infection showed trends towards reduced proportions of IL-17A-, IL-22-, and IFN $\gamma$ -positive  $Tpl2^{-t}$  CD4 T cells within the lamina propria. (Figure 3.3A-B). This was shown to be a T cellintrinsic defect in IFN $\gamma$  and IL-17A production by  $Tpl2^{-t}$  CD4 T cells (Figure 3.3.C). The colons of  $Tpl2^{-t}$  mice also had reduced pathology and neutrophil infiltrates relative to wild type mice (Figure 3.5). Reduced pathology during the adaptive phase of the immune response is consistent with reduced IFN $\gamma$  production by *Tpl2*<sup>-/-</sup> Th1 cells as well as Th17 cell differentiation, which are known to regulate development of pathology (269) and neutrophil recruitment.

#### **IMPLICATIONS**

Because of its contributions to inflammatory pathways, Tpl2 is being considered as an immunotherapeutic target for treating autoimmune diseases. Many autoimmune diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory bowel diseases, are characterized by a mixed Th1/Th17 pathology. These studies demonstrate how Tpl2 regulates Th17 responses and disease outcome and provide valuable insights into potential benefits and risks associated with Tpl2 inhibition in patients. Development of IL-17A expressing CD4 T cells in vivo was model-specific, with Tpl2 regulating Th17 cell differentiation during infection with C. rodentium but not during a T cell transfer model of colitis. Tpl2 was shown to promote IL-17A by negatively regulating FoxP3 expression in Th17 cells. Therefore, differential Th17 cell induction could be due to differences in utilization of TGF- $\beta$  and FoxP3 between these models. Specifically, the adoptive T cell transfer model excludes the presence of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> Treg cells, a source of TGF- $\beta$ , which may explain why no difference was observed in this model. Because Tpl2 ablation led to increased FoxP3 expression by Th17 cells cultured in the presence of TGF-β, inhibition of Tpl2 may also be expected to promote T regulatory cell differentiation, FoxP3 expression, and generation of an immunosuppressive environment.

Consistent within all experimental models was reduced neutrophil recruitment to sites of inflammation, during both innate and adaptive phases of the immune response in  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice. Defects in recruitment were shown to be neutrophil-extrinsic (Figure 4.4) and therefore due to reduced inflammatory chemokines produced at inflammatory sites within  $Tpl2^{-/-}$  mice (42, 317, 318). Therefore, Tpl2 inhibitors would be predicted to be beneficial in reducing inflammatory

cytokine production and inflammatory cell infiltrates seen in autoimmune diseases, but chronic administration may also predispose patients to bacterial and fungal infections normally cleared by a functional neutrophil response.

*Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* and *Rag1<sup>-/-</sup>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice were more susceptible to systemic infection with *Citrobacter rodentium* and *Staphylococcus xylosus*, respectively, indicating that Tpl2 regulates the integrity of the epithelial barrier within the intestines. How Tpl2 regulates intestinal permeability remains unknown, but indicates that chronic Tpl2 inhibition could disrupt the integrity of the intestinal barrier within patients making them more susceptible to opportunistic infections caused by gut microflora.

These data confirm a cell-type and stimulus-specific role for Tpl2 in regulating inflammation. Furthermore, due to model-specific variations in the regulation of immune responses by Tpl2, inhibition of Tpl2 must be thoroughly evaluated in different models of autoimmunity and infection.

# Table 6.1- Tpl2 in Th17-associated inflammatory bowel diseases

|     |                 | <i>Tpl2<sup>-/-</sup></i> mice  | REF     |
|-----|-----------------|---|---------|
| IBD | DSS colitis     | DSS colitis ↓ IL-1α, IL-1β, G-CSF, IL-17A in serum ↓ pathology  |         |
|     | T-cell transfer | ↓ % IFNγ <sup>+</sup> CD4 <sup>+</sup> cells in periphery<br>= % IL-17A <sup>+</sup> CD4 <sup>+</sup> cells in periphery<br>↑ CD4 <sup>+</sup> cells in periphery<br>= pathology                                    | (Ch. 2) |
|     | C. rodentium    | <ul> <li>% IL-17A<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> cells in LPL</li> <li>% IFNγ<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup> cells in LPL</li> <li>↑ burden at peak infection</li> <li>↓ neutrophils in IEL</li> <li>↓ pathology</li> </ul> | (Ch. 3) |

## FIGURES



**Figure 6.1: Summary influence Tpl2 on Th17 cell development and neutrophil function.** Solid line represents differentiation or secretion. Dashed lines represent recruitment. Blue lines/words indicate where Tpl2 influences induction of response.

#### REFERENCES

- O'Shea JJ, Paul WE. 2010. Mechanisms Underlying Lineage Commitment and Plasticity of Helper CD4+ T Cells. *Science* 327: 1098-102
- Jesse M. Damsker AMH, Rachel R. Caspi. 2010. Th1 and Th17 cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1183: 211-21
- Komatsu N, Okamoto K, Sawa S, Nakashima T, Oh-hora M, Kodama T, Tanaka S, Bluestone JA, Takayanagi H. 2014. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3+ T cells into TH17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Nat Med* 20: 62-8
- Zhou L, Chong MMW, Littman DR. 2009. Plasticity of CD4+ T Cell Lineage Differentiation. *Immunity* 30: 646-55
- Muranski P, Restifo NP. 2013. Essentials of Th17 cell commitment and plasticity. *Blood* 121: 2402-14
- Patriotis C, Makris A, Bear SE, Tsichlis PN. 1993. Tumor progression locus 2 (Tpl-2) encodes a protein kinase involved in the progression of rodent T-cell lymphomas and in T-cell activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90: 2251-5
- Ceci JD, Patriotis CP, Tsatsanis C, Makris AM, Kovatch R, Swing DA, Jenkins NA, Tsichlis PN, Copeland NG. 1997. Tpl-2 is an oncogenic kinase that is activated by carboxy-terminal truncation. *Genes Dev* 11: 688-700
- Gandara ML, Lopez P, Hernando R, Castano JG, Alemany S. 2003. The COOH-terminal domain of wild-type Cot regulates its stability and kinase specific activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 23: 7377-90

- Lee HW, Choi HY, Joo KM, Nam D-H. 2015. Tumor Progression Locus 2 (Tpl2) Kinase as a Novel Therapeutic Target for Cancer: Double-Sided Effects of Tpl2 on Cancer. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16: 4471-91
- Das S, Cho J, Lambertz I, Kelliher MA, Eliopoulos AG, Du K, Tsichlis PN. 2005.
   Tpl2/Cot Signals Activate ERK, JNK, and NF-κB in a Cell-type and Stimulus-specific Manner. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280: 23748-57
- Gantke T, Sriskantharajah S, Ley SC. 2011. Regulation and function of TPL-2, an IkB kinase-regulated MAP kinase kinase kinase. *Cell Res.* 21: 131-45
- Jager J, Grémeaux T, Gonzalez T, Bonnafous S, Debard C, Laville M, Vidal H, Tran A, Gual P, Le Marchand-Brustel Y, Cormont M, Tanti J-F. 2010. Tpl2 Kinase Is Upregulated in Adipose Tissue in Obesity and May Mediate Interleukin-1β and Tumor Necrosis Factor-α Effects on Extracellular Signal–Regulated Kinase Activation and Lipolysis. *Diabetes* 59: 61-70
- Aoki M, Hamada F, Sugimoto T, Sumida S, Akiyama T, Toyoshima K. 1993. The human cot proto-oncogene encodes two protein serine/threonine kinases with different transforming activities by alternative initiation of translation. *J Biol Chem* 268: 22723-32
- Waterfield MR, Zhang M, Norman LP, Sun S-C. 2003. NF-κB1/p105 Regulates
   Lipopolysaccharide-Stimulated MAP Kinase Signaling by Governing the Stability and
   Function of the Tpl2 Kinase. *Molecular Cell* 11: 685-94
- Belich MP, Salmeron A, Johnston LH, Ley SC. 1999. TPL-2 kinase regulates the proteolysis of the NF-kB-inhibitory protein NF-kB1 p105. *Nature* 397: 363-8
- Belich MP, Salmeron A, Johnston LH, Ley SC. 1999. TPL-2 kinase regulates the proteolysis of the NF-kappa B-inhibitory protein NF-kappa B1 p105. *Nature* 397: 363-8

- Waterfield M, Jin W, Reiley W, Zhang M, Sun SC. 2004. IkappaB kinase is an essential component of the Tpl2 signaling pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* 24: 6040-8
- Lang V, Symons A, Watton SJ, Janzen J, Soneji Y, Beinke S, Howell S, Ley SC. 2004.
   ABIN-2 Forms a Ternary Complex with TPL-2 and NF-κB1 p105 and Is Essential for TPL-2 Protein Stability. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 24: 5235-48
- Papoutsopoulou S, Symons A, Tharmalingham T, Belich MP, Kaiser F, Kioussis D,
   O'Garra A, Tybulewicz V, Ley SC. 2006. ABIN-2 is required for optimal activation of
   Erk MAP kinase in innate immune responses. *Nat Immunol* 7: 606-15
- 20. Handoyo H, Stafford MJ, McManus E, Baltzis D, Peggie M, Cohen P. 2009. IRAK1independent pathways required for the interleukin-1-stimulated activation of the Tpl2 catalytic subunit and its dissociation from ABIN2. *Biochemical Journal* 424: 109-18
- Beinke S, Deka J, Lang V, Belich MP, Walker PA, Howell S, Smerdon SJ, Gamblin SJ, Ley SC. 2003. NF-kappaB1 p105 negatively regulates TPL-2 MEK kinase activity. *Mol Cell Biol* 23: 4739-52
- 22. Risco A, del Fresno C, Mambol A, Alsina-Beauchamp D, MacKenzie KF, Yang HT, Barber DF, Morcelle C, Arthur JSC, Ley SC, Ardavin C, Cuenda A. 2012. p38 gamma and p38 delta kinases regulate the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-induced cytokine production by controlling ERK1/2 protein kinase pathway activation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109: 11200-5
- Banerjee A, Gugasyan R, McMahon M, Gerondakis S. 2006. Diverse Toll-like receptors utilize Tpl2 to activate extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) in hemopoietic cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103: 3274-9

- Dumitru CD, Ceci JD, Tsatsanis C, Kontoyiannis D, Stamatakis K, Lin J-H, Patriotis C, Jenkins NA, Copeland NG, Kollias G, Tsichlis PN. 2000. TNF-α Induction by LPS Is
   Regulated Posttranscriptionally via a Tpl2/ERK-Dependent Pathway. *Cell* 103: 1071-83
- Mielke LA, Elkins KL, Wei L, Starr R, Tsichlis PN, O'Shea JJ, Watford WT. 2009. Tumor Progression Locus 2 (Map3k8) Is Critical for Host Defense against Listeria monocytogenes and IL-1β Production. *J. Immunol.* 183: 7984-93
- Eliopoulos AG, Wang CC, Dumitru CD, Tsichlis PN. 2003. Tpl2 transduces CD40 and TNF signals that activate ERK and regulates IgE induction by CD40. *EMBO J.* 22: 3855-64
- Tsatsanis C, Vaporidi K, Zacharioudaki V, Androulidaki A, Sykulev Y, Margioris AN, Tsichlis PN. 2008. Tpl2 and ERK transduce antiproliferative T cell receptor signals and inhibit transformation of chronically stimulated T cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 105: 2987-92
- 28. Watford WT, Hissong BD, Durant LR, Yamane H, Muul LM, Kanno Y, Tato CM, Ramos HL, Berger AE, Mielke L, Pesu M, Solomon B, Frucht DM, Paul WE, Sher A, Jankovic D, Tsichlis PN, O'Shea JJ. 2008. Tpl2 kinase regulates T cell interferon-γ production and host resistance to Toxoplasma gondii. *J. Exp. Med.* 205: 2803-12
- Hatziapostolou M, Polytarchou C, Panutsopulos D, Covic L, Tsichlis PN. 2008.
   Proteinase-activated receptor-1-triggered activation of tumor progression locus-2
   promotes actin cytoskeleton reorganization and cell migration. *Cancer Res.* 68: 1851-61
- Kyrmizi I, Ioannou M, Hatziapostolou M, Tsichlis PN, Boumpas DT, Tassiulas I. 2013. Tpl2 kinase regulates FcγR signaling and immune thrombocytopenia in mice. *J Leukoc Biol* 94: 751-7

- 31. Luciano BS, Hsu S, Channavajhala PL, Lin L-L, Cuozzo JW. 2004. Phosphorylation of Threonine 290 in the Activation Loop of Tpl2/Cot Is Necessary but Not Sufficient for Kinase Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 279: 52117-23
- Stafford MJ, Morrice NA, Peggie MW, Cohen P. 2006. Interleukin-1 stimulated activation of the COT catalytic subunit through the phosphorylation of Thr290 and Ser62. *FEBS Letters* 580: 4010-4
- 33. Cho J, Melnick M, Solidakis GP, Tsichlis PN. 2005. Tpl2 (Tumor Progression Locus 2)
   Phosphorylation at Thr290 Is Induced by Lipopolysaccharide via an Iκ-B Kinase-β dependent Pathway and Is Required for Tpl2 Activation by External Signals. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 280: 20442-8
- 34. Robinson MJ, Beinke S, Kouroumalis A, Tsichlis PN, Ley SC. 2007. Phosphorylation of TPL-2 on Serine 400 Is Essential for Lipopolysaccharide Activation of Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase in Macrophages. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 27: 7355-64
- 35. Roget K, Ben-Addi A, Mambole-Dema A, Gantke T, Yang H-T, Janzen J, Morrice N, Abbott D, Ley SC. 2012. IκB Kinase 2 Regulates TPL-2 Activation of Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinases 1 and 2 by Direct Phosphorylation of TPL-2 Serine 400. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 32: 4684-90
- 36. Kane LP, Mollenauer MN, Xu Z, Turck CW, Weiss A. 2002. Akt-dependent phosphorylation specifically regulates Cot induction of NF-kappa B-dependent transcription. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 22: 5962-74
- 37. Cho J, Tsichlis PN. 2005. Phosphorylation at Thr-290 regulates Tpl2 binding to NF κB1/p105 and Tpl2 activation and degradation by lipopolysaccharide. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102: 2350-5

- Xiao Y, Jin J, Chang M, Nakaya M, Hu H, Zou Q, Zhou X, Brittain GC, Cheng X, Sun S-C. 2014. TPL2 mediates autoimmune inflammation through activation of the TAK1 axis of IL-17 signaling. *J. Exp. Med.*
- 39. López-Peláez M, Soria-Castro I, Boscá L, Fernández M, Alemany S. 2011. Cot/tpl2 activity is required for TLR-induced activation of the Akt p70 S6k pathway in macrophages: Implications for NO synthase 2 expression. *European Journal of Immunology* 41: 1733-41
- 40. Zhang M, Jin W, Zhou X, Yu J, Lee AJ, Sun SC. 2009. Deregulation of Tpl2 and NFkappaB signaling and induction of macrophage apoptosis by the anti-depressant drug lithium. *Cell Signal* 21: 559-66
- 41. Kaiser F, Cook D, Papoutsopoulou S, Rajsbaum R, Wu X, Yang H-T, Grant S, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Tsichlis PN, Ley SC, O'Garra A. 2009. TPL-2 negatively regulates interferon-β production in macrophages and myeloid dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 206: 1863-71
- 42. Soria-Castro I, Krzyzanowska A, Pelaéz ML, Regadera J, Ferrer G, Montoliu L,
  Rodríguez-Ramos R, Fernández M, Alemany S. 2010. Cot/tpl2 (MAP3K8) Mediates
  Myeloperoxidase Activity and Hypernociception following Peripheral Inflammation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 285: 33805-15
- Bandow K, Kusuyama J, Shamoto M, Kakimoto K, Ohnishi T, Matsuguchi T. 2012.
   LPS-induced chemokine expression in both MyD88-dependent and -independent manners is regulated by Cot/Tpl2-ERK axis in macrophages. *FEBS Lett.* 586: 1540-6

- Eliopoulos AG, Dumitru CD, Wang C-C, Cho J, Tsichlis PN. 2002. Induction of COX-2 by LPS in macrophages is regulated by Tpl2-dependent CREB activation signals. *EMBO J*. 21: 4831-40
- 45. Rousseau S, Papoutsopoulou M, Symons A, Cook D, Lucocq JM, Prescott AR, O'Garra A, Ley SC, Cohen P. 2008. TPL2-mediated activation of ERK1 and ERK2 regulates the processing of pre-TNFα in LPS-stimulated macrophages. *Journal of Cell Science* 121: 149-54
- Kaiser F, Cook D, Papoutsopoulou S, Rajsbaum R, Wu X, Yang HT, Grant S, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P, Tsichlis PN, Ley SC, O'Garra A. 2009. TPL-2 negatively regulates interferon-beta production in macrophages and myeloid dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 206: 1863-71
- 47. McNab FW, Ewbank J, Rajsbaum R, Stavropoulos E, Martirosyan A, Redford PS, Wu X, Graham CM, Saraiva M, Tsichlis P, Chaussabel D, Ley SC, O'Garra A. 2013. TPL-2 ERK1/2 Signaling Promotes Host Resistance against Intracellular Bacterial Infection by Negative Regulation of Type I Interferon Production. *Journal of immunology* 191: 1732-43
- 48. Xiao N, Eidenschenk C, Krebs P, Brandl K, Blasius AL, Xia Y, Khovananth K, Smart NG, Beutler B. 2009. The Tpl2 mutation Sluggish impairs type I IFN production and increases susceptibility to group B streptococcal disease. *J Immunol* 183: 7975-83
- Kuriakose T, Tripp RA, Watford WT. 2015. Tumor Progression Locus 2 Promotes Induction of IFNλ, Interferon Stimulated Genes and Antigen-Specific CD8+ T Cell Responses and Protects against Influenza Virus. *PLoS Pathog* 11: e1005038

- 50. Sugimoto K, Ohata M, Miyoshi J, Ishizaki H, Tsuboi N, Masuda A, Yoshikai Y, Takamoto M, Sugane K, Matsuo S, Shimada Y, Matsuguchi T. 2004. A serine/threonine kinase, Cot/Tpl2, modulates bacterial DNA-induced IL-12 production and Th cell differentiation. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 114: 857-66
- 51. Watford WT, Wang C-C, Tsatsanis C, Mielke LA, Eliopoulos AG, Daskalakis C, Charles N, Odom S, Rivera J, O'Shea J, Tsichlis PN. 2010. Ablation of Tumor Progression Locus 2 Promotes a Type 2 Th Cell Response in Ovalbumin-Immunized Mice. *J. Immunol.* 184: 105-13
- 52. Sriskantharajah S, Gückel E, Tsakiri N, Kierdorf K, Brender C, Ben-Addi A, Veldhoen M, Tsichlis PN, Stockinger B, O'Garra A, Prinz M, Kollias G, Ley SC. 2014. Regulation of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis by TPL-2 Kinase. J. Immunol.
- 53. Kakimoto K, Musikacharoen T, Chiba N, Bandow K, Ohnishi T, Matsuguchi T. 2010. Cot/Tpl2 regulates IL-23 p19 expression in LPS-stimulated macrophages through ERK activation. *Journal of Physiology and Biochemistry* 66: 47-53
- 54. Duerr RH, Taylor KD, Brant SR, Rioux JD, Silverberg MS, Daly MJ, Steinhart AH, Abraham C, Regueiro M, Griffiths A, Dassopoulos T, Bitton A, Yang H, Targan S, Datta LW, Kistner EO, Schumm LP, Lee AT, Gregersen PK, Barmada MM, Rotter JI, Nicolae DL, Cho JH. 2006. A Genome-Wide Association Study Identifies IL23R as an Inflammatory Bowel Disease Gene. *Science* 314: 1461-3
- 55. Wang K, Zhang H, Kugathasan S, Annese V, Bradfield JP, Russell RK, Sleiman PMA, Imielinski M, Glessner J, Hou C, Wilson DC, Walters T, Kim C, Frackelton EC, Lionetti P, Barabino A, Van Limbergen J, Guthery S, Denson L, Piccoli D, Li M, Dubinsky M, Silverberg M, Griffiths A, Grant SFA, Satsangi J, Baldassano R, Hakonarson H. 2009.

Diverse Genome-wide Association Studies Associate the IL12/IL23 Pathway with Crohn Disease. *The American Journal of Human Genetics* 84: 399-405

- 56. Harrington LE, Hatton RD, Mangan PR, Turner H, Murphy TL, Murphy KM, Weaver CT. 2005. Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1123-32
- 57. Park H, Li Z, Yang XO, Chang SH, Nurieva R, Wang Y-H, Wang Y, Hood L, Zhu Z, Tian Q, Dong C. 2005. A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17. *Nat. Immunol.* 6: 1133-41
- Sutton CE, Lalor SJ, Sweeney CM, Brereton CF, Lavelle EC, Mills KH. 2009.
   Interleukin-1 and IL-23 induce innate IL-17 production from γδ T cells, amplifying Th17 responses and autoimmunity. *Immunity* 31: 331-41
- 59. Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, Koyasu S, Locksley RM, McKenzie ANJ, Mebius RE, Powrie F, Vivier E. 2013. Innate lymphoid cells a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13: 145-9
- Takatori H, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Tato CM, Weiss G, Ivanov II, Littman DR, O'Shea
   JJ. 2009. Lymphoid tissue inducer–like cells are an innate source of IL-17 and IL-22. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 206: 35-41
- Werner JL, Gessner MA, Lilly LM, Nelson MP, Metz AE, Horn D, Dunaway CW, Deshane J, Chaplin DD, Weaver CT, Brown GD, Steele C. 2011. Neutrophils Produce Interleukin 17A (IL-17A) in a Dectin-1- and IL-23-Dependent Manner during Invasive Fungal Infection. *Infection and Immunity* 79: 3966-77
- Taylor PR, Roy S, Leal Jr SM, Sun Y, Howell SJ, Cobb BA, Li X, Pearlman E. 2014.
   Activation of neutrophils by autocrine IL-17A-IL-17RC interactions during fungal

infection is regulated by IL-6, IL-23, ROR[gamma]t and dectin-2. *Nat Immunol* 15: 143-51

- Huber M, Heink S, Pagenstecher A, Reinhard K, Ritter J, Visekruna A, Guralnik A, Bollig N, Jeltsch K, Heinemann C, Wittmann E, Buch T, da Costa OP, Br, xFc, stle A, Brenner D, Mak TW, Mittr, xFc, cker H-W, Tackenberg B, xF, rn, Kamradt T, Lohoff M. 2013. IL-17A secretion by CD8+ T cells supports Th17-mediated autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 123: 247-60
- Ciric B, El-behi M, Cabrera R, Zhang G-X, Rostami A. 2009. IL-23 Drives Pathogenic IL-17-Producing CD8+ T Cells. *The Journal of Immunology* 182: 5296-305
- Bettelli E, Korn T, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2008. Induction and effector functions of TH17 cells. *Nature* 453: 1051-7
- 66. Oppmann B, Lesley R, Blom B, Timans JC, Xu Y, Hunte B, Vega F, Yu N, Wang J, Singh K, Zonin F, Vaisberg E, Churakova T, Liu M-r, Gorman D, Wagner J, Zurawski S, Liu Y-J, Abrams JS, Moore KW, Rennick D, de Waal-Malefyt R, Hannum C, Bazan JF, Kastelein RA. 2000. Novel p19 Protein Engages IL-12p40 to Form a Cytokine, IL-23, with Biological Activities Similar as Well as Distinct from IL-12. *Immunity* 13: 715-25
- McGeachy MJ, Bak-Jensen KS, Chen Y, Tato CM, Blumenschein W, McClanahan T,
   Cua DJ. 2007. TGF-β and IL-6 drive the production of IL-17 and IL-10 by T cells and
   restrain TH-17 cell–mediated pathology. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 1390-7
- Qin H, Wang L, Feng T, Elson CO, Niyongere SA, Lee SJ, Reynolds SL, Weaver CT,
  Roarty K, Serra R, Benveniste EN, Cong Y. 2009. TGF-β Promotes Th17 Cell
  Development through Inhibition of SOCS3. *The Journal of Immunology* 183: 97-105

- Mangan PR, Harrington LE, O'Quinn DB, Helms WS, Bullard DC, Elson CO, Hatton RD, Wahl SM, Schoeb TR, Weaver CT. 2006. Transforming growth factor-[beta] induces development of the TH17 lineage. *Nature* 441: 231-4
- Langrish CL, Chen Y, Blumenschein WM, Mattson J, Basham B, Sedgwick JD,
   McClanahan T, Kastelein RA, Cua DJ. 2005. IL-23 drives a pathogenic T cell population that induces autoimmune inflammation. *J. Exp. Med.* 201: 233-40
- Wei L, Laurence A, Elias KM, O'Shea JJ. 2007. IL-21 Is Produced by Th17 Cells and Drives IL-17 Production in a STAT3-dependent Manner. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 34605-10
- 72. Nurieva R, Yang XO, Martinez G, Zhang Y, Panopoulos AD, Ma L, Schluns K, Tian Q, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Dong C. 2007. Essential autocrine regulation by IL-21 in the generation of inflammatory T cells. *Nature* 448: 480-3
- 73. Liang SC, Tan X-Y, Luxenberg DP, Karim R, Dunussi-Joannopoulos K, Collins M, Fouser LA. 2006. Interleukin (IL)-22 and IL-17 are coexpressed by Th17 cells and cooperatively enhance expression of antimicrobial peptides. *J. Exp. Med.* 203: 2271-9
- Yang XO, Chang SH, Park H, Nurieva R, Shah B, Acero L, Wang Y-H, Schluns KS, Broaddus RR, Zhu Z, Dong C. 2008. Regulation of inflammatory responses by IL-17F. J. Exp. Med. 205: 1063-75
- Laan M, Cui Z-H, Hoshino H, Lötvall J, Sjöstrand M, Gruenert DC, Skoogh B-E, Lindén A. 1999. Neutrophil Recruitment by Human IL-17 Via C-X-C Chemokine Release in the Airways. J. Immunol. 162: 2347-52
- Miossec P, Kolls JK. 2012. Targeting IL-17 and TH17 cells in chronic inflammation. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* 11: 763-76

- Maddur MS, Miossec P, Kaveri SV, Bayry J. 2012. Th17 Cells: Biology, Pathogenesis of Autoimmune and Inflammatory Diseases, and Therapeutic Strategies. *The American Journal of Pathology* 181: 8-18
- 78. Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR. 2007. IL-6 programs TH-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* 8: 967-74
- 79. Nishihara M, Ogura H, Ueda N, Tsuruoka M, Kitabayashi C, Tsuji F, Aono H, Ishihara K, Huseby E, Betz UAK, Murakami M, Hirano T. 2007. IL-6–gp130–STAT3 in T cells directs the development of IL-17+ Th with a minimum effect on that of Treg in the steady state. *Int. Immunol.* 19: 695-702
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, Levy DE, Leonard WJ, Littman DR. 2007. IL-6 programs TH-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 967-74
- Zúñiga LA, Jain R, Haines C, Cua DJ. 2013. Th17 cell development: from the cradle to the grave. *Immunological Reviews* 252: 78-88
- 82. Ghoreschi K, Laurence A, Yang X-P, Tato CM, McGeachy MJ, Konkel JE, Ramos HL, Wei L, Davidson TS, Bouladoux N, Grainger JR, Chen Q, Kanno Y, Watford WT, Sun H-W, Eberl G, Shevach EM, Belkaid Y, Cua DJ, Chen W, O/Shea JJ. 2010. Generation of pathogenic TH17 cells in the absence of TGF-β signalling. *Nature* 467: 967-71
- Ivanov, II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, Cua DJ, Littman DR. 2006. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* 126: 1121-33

- Yang XO, Pappu BP, Nurieva R, Akimzhanov A, Kang HS, Chung Y, Ma L, Shah B,
  Panopoulos AD, Schluns KS, Watowich SS, Tian Q, Jetten AM, Dong C. 2008. T Helper
  17 Lineage Differentiation Is Programmed by Orphan Nuclear Receptors RORα and
  RORγ. *Immunity* 28: 29-39
- 85. Solt LA, Kumar N, Nuhant P, Wang Y, Lauer JL, Liu J, Istrate MA, Kamenecka TM, Roush WR, Vidovic D, Schurer SC, Xu J, Wagoner G, Drew PD, Griffin PR, Burris TP. 2011. Suppression of TH17 differentiation and autoimmunity by a synthetic ROR ligand. *Nature* 472: 491-4
- Schraml BU, Hildner K, Ise W, Lee W-L, Smith WAE, Solomon B, Sahota G, Sim J, Mukasa R, Cemerski S, Hatton RD, Stormo GD, Weaver CT, Russell JH, Murphy TL, Murphy KM. 2009. The AP-1 transcription factor Batf controls TH17 differentiation. *Nature* 460: 405-9
- 87. Xu J, Yang Y, Qiu G, Lal G, Wu Z, Levy DE, Ochando JC, Bromberg JS, Ding Y. 2009.
  c-Maf Regulates IL-10 Expression during Th17 Polarization. *The Journal of Immunology* 182: 6226-36
- Brustle A, Heink S, Huber M, Rosenplanter C, Stadelmann C, Yu P, Arpaia E, Mak TW, Kamradt T, Lohoff M. 2007. The development of inflammatory TH-17 cells requires interferon-regulatory factor 4. *Nat. Immunol.* 8: 958-66
- Quintana FJ, Basso AS, Iglesias AH, Korn T, Farez MF, Bettelli E, Caccamo M, Oukka M, Weiner HL. 2008. Control of Treg and TH17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* 453: 65-71
- 90. Grainger DJ, Mosedale DE, Metcalfe JC. 2000. TGF-β in blood: a complex problem.
   *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 11: 133-45

- 91. Bennett CL, Christie J, Ramsdell F, Brunkow ME, Ferguson PJ, Whitesell L, Kelly TE, Saulsbury FT, Chance PF, Ochs HD. 2001. The immune dysregulation, polyendocrinopathy, enteropathy, X-linked syndrome (IPEX) is caused by mutations of FOXP3. *Nat. Genet.* 27: 20-1
- 92. Zhang N, Bevan MJ. 2012. TGF-β signaling to T cells inhibits autoimmunity during lymphopenia-driven proliferation. *Nat. Immunol.* 13: 667-73
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. 2000. Abrogation of TGFβ Signaling in T Cells Leads to
   Spontaneous T Cell Differentiation and Autoimmune Disease. *Immunity* 12: 171-81
- 94. Nguyen T-LM, Sullivan NL, Ebel M, Teague RM, DiPaolo RJ. 2011. Antigen-Specific
   TGF-β–Induced Regulatory T Cells Secrete Chemokines, Regulate T Cell Trafficking,
   and Suppress Ongoing Autoimmunity. *J. Immunol.* 187: 1745-53
- 95. Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. 2003. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 4: 330-6
- Ziegler SF, Buckner JH. 2009. FOXP3 and the regulation of Treg/Th17 differentiation.
   *Microbes Infect.* 11: 594-8
- 97. Bettelli E, Carrier Y, Gao W, Korn T, Strom TB, Oukka M, Weiner HL, Kuchroo VK.
  2006. Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector
  TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature* 441: 235-8
- 98. Zielinski CE, Mele F, Aschenbrenner D, Jarrossay D, Ronchi F, Gattorno M, Monticelli S, Lanzavecchia A, Sallusto F. 2012. Pathogen-induced human TH17 cells produce IFNy or IL-10 and are regulated by IL-1B. *Nature* 484: 514-8

- 99. El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, Zhang G-X, Dittel BN,
  Rostami A. 2011. The encephalitogenicity of TH17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* 12: 568-75
- 100. Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MMW, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, Shen Y, Du J, Rubtsov YP, Rudensky AY, Ziegler SF, Littman DR. 2008. TGF-β-induced Foxp3 inhibits TH17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORyt function. *Nature* 453: 236-40
- 101. Korn T, Mitsdoerffer M, Croxford AL, Awasthi A, Dardalhon VA, Galileos G, Vollmar P, Stritesky GL, Kaplan MH, Waisman A, Kuchroo VK, Oukka M. 2008. IL-6 controls Th17 immunity in vivo by inhibiting the conversion of conventional T cells into Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 105: 18460-5
- 102. Lee Y, Awasthi A, Yosef N, Quintana FJ, Xiao S, Peters A, Wu C, Kleinewietfeld M, Kunder S, Hafler DA, Sobel RA, Regev A, Kuchroo VK. 2012. Induction and molecular signature of pathogenic TH17 cells. *Nat. Immunol.* 13: 991-9
- 103. Mus AMC, Cornelissen F, Asmawidjaja PS, van Hamburg JP, Boon L, Hendriks RW, Lubberts E. 2010. Interleukin-23 promotes Th17 differentiation by inhibiting T-bet and FoxP3 and is required for elevation of interleukin-22, but not interleukin-21, in autoimmune experimental arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. 62: 1043-50
- 104. Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. 2009. IL-17 and Th17 Cells. *Annual Review* of Immunology 27: 485–517
- 105. Abraham C, Cho JH. 2009. IL-23 and autoimmunity: new insights into the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Annu Rev Med* 60: 97-110
- 106. Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, Suter T, BecherB. 2011. RORyt drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is

essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* 12: 560-7

- 107. Acuff NV, Li X, Kirkland R, Nagy T, Watford WT. 2015. Tumor Progression Locus 2
   Differentially Regulates IFNγ and IL-17 Production by Effector CD4+ T Cells in a T Cell
   Transfer Model of Colitis. *PLoS ONE* 10: e0119885
- 108. Rutz S, Noubade R, Eidenschenk C, Ota N, Zeng W, Zheng Y, Hackney J, Ding J, Singh H, Ouyang W. 2011. Transcription factor c-Maf mediates the TGF-[beta]-dependent suppression of IL-22 production in TH17 cells. *Nat Immunol* 12: 1238-45
- 109. Hiramatsu Y, Suto A, Kashiwakuma D, Kanari H, Kagami S-i, Ikeda K, Hirose K,
   Watanabe N, Grusby MJ, Iwamoto I, Nakajima H. 2010. c-Maf activates the promoter
   and enhancer of the IL-21 gene, and TGF-β inhibits c-Maf-induced IL-21 production in
   CD4+ T cells. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 87: 703-12
- 110. Kreymborg K, Etzensperger R, Dumoutier L, Haak S, Rebollo A, Buch T, Heppner FL, Renauld J-C, Becher B. 2007. IL-22 Is Expressed by Th17 Cells in an IL-23-Dependent Fashion, but Not Required for the Development of Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis. *The Journal of Immunology* 179: 8098-104
- 111. Zheng Y, Danilenko DM, Valdez P, Kasman I, Eastham-Anderson J, Wu J, Ouyang W.
  2007. Interleukin-22, a TH17 cytokine, mediates IL-23-induced dermal inflammation and acanthosis. *Nature* 445: 648-51
- 112. Ouyang W, Rutz S, Crellin NK, Valdez PA, Hymowitz SG. 2011. Regulation and Functions of the IL-10 Family of Cytokines in Inflammation and Disease. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29: 71-109

- Sawa S, Lochner M, Satoh-Takayama N, Dulauroy S, Berard M, Kleinschek M, Cua D,
  Di Santo JP, Eberl G. 2011. RORgt+ innate lymphoid cells regulate intestinal
  homeostasis by integrating negative signals from the symbiotic microbiota. *Nat Immunol*12: 320-6
- 114. Wolk K, Kunz S, Witte E, Friedrich M, Asadullah K, Sabat R. 2004. IL-22 increases the innate immunity of tissues. *Immunity* 21: 241-54
- 115. Wolk K, Kunz S, Asadullah K, Sabat R. 2002. Cutting Edge: Immune Cells as Sources and Targets of the IL-10 Family Members? *The Journal of Immunology* 168: 5397-402
- 116. Aujla SJ, Chan YR, Zheng M, Fei M, Askew DJ, Pociask DA, Reinhart TA, McAllister F, Edeal J, Gaus K, Husain S, Kreindler JL, Dubin PJ, Pilewski JM, Myerburg MM, Mason CA, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK. 2008. IL-22 mediates mucosal host defense against Gram-negative bacterial pneumonia. *Nat Med* 14: 275-81
- 117. Rutz S, Eidenschenk C, Ouyang W. 2013. IL-22, not simply a Th17 cytokine.*Immunological Reviews* 252: 116-32
- 118. Sugimoto K, Ogawa A, Mizoguchi E, Shimomura Y, Andoh A, Bhan AK, Blumberg RS, Xavier RJ, Mizoguchi A. 2008. IL-22 ameliorates intestinal inflammation in a mouse model of ulcerative colitis. *J Clin Invest* 118: 534-44
- Muñoz M, Eidenschenk C, Ota N, Wong K, Lohmann U, Kühl Anja A, Wang X,
   Manzanillo P, Li Y, Rutz S, Zheng Y, Diehl L, Kayagaki N, van Lookeren-Campagne M,
   Liesenfeld O, Heimesaat M, Ouyang W. 2015. Interleukin-22 Induces Interleukin-18
   Expression from Epithelial Cells during Intestinal Infection. *Immunity* 42: 321-31
- Kuestner RE, Taft DW, Haran A, Brandt CS, Brender T, Lum K, Harder B, Okada S,
   Ostrander CD, Kreindler JL, Aujla SJ, Reardon B, Moore M, Shea P, Schreckhise R,

Bukowski TR, Presnell S, Guerra-Lewis P, Parrish-Novak J, Ellsworth JL, Jaspers S, Lewis KE, Appleby M, Kolls JK, Rixon M, West JW, Gao Z, Levin SD. 2007. Identification of the IL-17 Receptor Related Molecule IL-17RC as the Receptor for IL-17F. *The Journal of Immunology* 179: 5462-73

- 121. Lejeune D, Dumoutier L, Constantinescu S, Kruijer W, Schuringa JJ, Renauld J-C. 2002. Interleukin-22 (IL-22) Activates the JAK/STAT, ERK, JNK, and p38 MAP Kinase Pathways in a Rat Hepatoma Cell Line: PATHWAYS THAT ARE SHARED WITH AND DISTINCT FROM IL-10. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 277: 33676-82
- 122. Gaffen SL. 2009. Structure and signalling in the IL-17 receptor family. *Nat Rev Immunol* 9: 556-67
- Huang F, Kao C-Y, Wachi S, Thai P, Ryu J, Wu R. 2007. Requirement for Both JAK-Mediated PI3K Signaling and ACT1/TRAF6/TAK1-Dependent NF-κB Activation by IL-17A in Enhancing Cytokine Expression in Human Airway Epithelial Cells. *The Journal of Immunology* 179: 6504-13
- 124. Zepp JA, Liu C, Qian W, Wu L, Gulen MF, Kang Z, Li X. 2012. Cutting edge: TNF receptor-associated factor 4 restricts IL-17-mediated pathology and signaling processes. J Immunol 189: 33-7
- 125. Zhu S, Pan W, Shi P, Gao H, Zhao F, Song X, Liu Y, Zhao L, Li X, Shi Y, Qian Y. 2010. Modulation of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis through TRAF3-mediated suppression of interleukin 17 receptor signaling. *J Exp Med* 207: 2647-62
- 126. Chang SH, Park H, Dong C. 2006. Act1 adaptor protein is an immediate and essential signaling component of interleukin-17 receptor. *J Biol Chem* 281: 35603-7
- 127. Qian Y, Liu C, Hartupee J, Altuntas CZ, Gulen MF, Jane-Wit D, Xiao J, Lu Y, Giltiay N, Liu J, Kordula T, Zhang QW, Vallance B, Swaidani S, Aronica M, Tuohy VK, Hamilton T, Li X. 2007. The adaptor Act1 is required for interleukin 17-dependent signaling associated with autoimmune and inflammatory disease. *Nat Immunol* 8: 247-56
- 128. Liu C, Qian W, Qian Y, Giltiay NV, Lu Y, Swaidani S, Misra S, Deng L, Chen ZJ, Li X.
  2009. Act1, a U-box E3 ubiquitin ligase for IL-17 signaling. *Sci Signal* 2: ra63
- 129. Song X, Qian Y. 2013. The activation and regulation of IL-17 receptor mediated signaling. *Cytokine* 62: 175-82
- 130. Wu L, Chen X, Zhao J, Martin B, Zepp JA, Ko JS, Gu C, Cai G, Ouyang W, Sen G, Stark GR, Su B, Vines CM, Tournier C, Hamilton TA, Vidimos A, Gastman B, Liu C, Li X.
  2015. A novel IL-17 signaling pathway controlling keratinocyte proliferation and tumorigenesis via the TRAF4–ERK5 axis. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 212: 1571-87
- 131. Qu F, Gao H, Zhu S, Shi P, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Jallal B, Yao Y, Shi Y, Qian Y. 2012.
   TRAF6-Dependent Act1 Phosphorylation by the IкB Kinase-Related Kinases Suppresses
   Interleukin-17-Induced NF-кB Activation. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 32: 3925-37
- 132. Shen F, Li N, Gade P, Kalvakolanu DV, Weibley T, Doble B, Woodgett JR, Wood TD, Gaffen SL. 2009. IL-17 receptor signaling inhibits C/EBPbeta by sequential phosphorylation of the regulatory 2 domain. *Sci Signal* 2: ra8
- 133. Kim G, Khanal P, Lim S-C, Yun HJ, Ahn S-G, Ki SH, Choi HS. 2013. Interleukin-17 induces AP-1 activity and cellular transformation via upregulation of tumor progression locus 2 activity. *Carcinogenesis* 34: 341-50

- Bainton DF, Ullyot JL, Farquhar MG. 1971. The development of neutrophilic polymorphonuclear leukocytes in human bone marrow. *J Exp Med* 134: 907-34
- 135. Bendall LJ, Bradstock KF. 2014. G-CSF: From granulopoietic stimulant to bone marrow stem cell mobilizing agent. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 25: 355-67
- Rice WG, Ganz T, Kinkade JM, Jr., Selsted ME, Lehrer RI, Parmley RT. 1987. Defensinrich dense granules of human neutrophils. *Blood* 70: 757-65
- 137. Egesten A, Breton-Gorius J, Guichard J, Gullberg U, Olsson I. 1994. The heterogeneity of azurophil granules in neutrophil promyelocytes: immunogold localization of myeloperoxidase, cathepsin G, elastase, proteinase 3, and bactericidal/permeability increasing protein. *Blood* 83: 2985-94
- Sengelov H, Kjeldsen L, Borregaard N. 1993. Control of exocytosis in early neutrophil activation. *J Immunol* 150: 1535-43
- 139. Borregaard N, Sehested M, Nielsen BS, Sengelov H, Kjeldsen L. 1995. Biosynthesis of granule proteins in normal human bone marrow cells. Gelatinase is a marker of terminal neutrophil differentiation. *Blood* 85: 812-7
- 140. Semerad CL, Liu F, Gregory AD, Stumpf K, Link DC. 2002. G-CSF Is an Essential Regulator of Neutrophil Trafficking from the Bone Marrow to the Blood. *Immunity* 17: 413-23
- 141. Eash KJ, Means JM, White DW, Link DC. 2009. *CXCR4 is a key regulator of neutrophil release from the bone marrow under basal and stress granulopoiesis conditions*. 4711-9 pp.

- 142. Eash KJ, Greenbaum AM, Gopalan PK, Link DC. 2010. CXCR2 and CXCR4 antagonistically regulate neutrophil trafficking from murine bone marrow. *J Clin Invest* 120: 2423-31
- 143. Rankin SM. 2010. The bone marrow: a site of neutrophil clearance. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 88: 241-51
- 144. Huber AR, Kunkel SL, Todd RF, 3rd, Weiss SJ. 1991. Regulation of transendothelial neutrophil migration by endogenous interleukin-8. *Science* 254: 99-102
- 145. Khan AI, Kerfoot SM, Heit B, Liu L, Andonegui G, Ruffell B, Johnson P, Kubes P.
  2004. Role of CD44 and Hyaluronan in Neutrophil Recruitment. *The Journal of Immunology* 173: 7594-601
- Simon SI, Burns AR, Taylor AD, Gopalan PK, Lynam EB, Sklar LA, Smith CW. 1995.
   L-selectin (CD62L) cross-linking signals neutrophil adhesive functions via the Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) beta 2-integrin. *The Journal of Immunology* 155: 1502-14
- 147. Borregaard N, Kjeldsen L, Sengelov H, Diamond MS, Springer TA, Anderson HC, Kishimoto TK, Bainton DF. 1994. Changes in subcellular localization and surface expression of L-selectin, alkaline phosphatase, and Mac-1 in human neutrophils during stimulation with inflammatory mediators. *J Leukoc Biol* 56: 80-7
- 148. Laudanna C, Constantin G, Baron P, Scarpini E, Scarlato G, Cabrini G, Dechecchi C, Rossi F, Cassatella MA, Berton G. 1994. Sulfatides trigger increase of cytosolic free calcium and enhanced expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-8 mRNA in human neutrophils. Evidence for a role of L-selectin as a signaling molecule. *J Biol Chem* 269: 4021-6

- Norman KE, Moore KL, McEver RP, Ley K. 1995. Leukocyte rolling in vivo is mediated by P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. *Blood* 86: 4417-21
- 150. Katayama Y, Hidalgo A, Chang J, Peired A, Frenette PS. 2005. CD44 is a physiologicalE-selectin ligand on neutrophils. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 201: 1183-9
- Hughes BJ, Hollers JC, Crockett-Torabi E, Smith CW. 1992. Recruitment of
   CD11b/CD18 to the neutrophil surface and adherence-dependent cell locomotion. *J Clin Invest* 90: 1687-96
- 152. Kolaczkowska E, Kubes P. 2013. Neutrophil recruitment and function in health and inflammation. *Nat Rev Immunol* 13: 159-75
- Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, Zychlinsky A. 2012. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. *Annu Rev Immunol* 30: 459-89
- 154. Umeki S. 1994. Activation factors of neutrophil NADPH oxidase complex. *Life Sci* 55: 113
- 155. Dewas C, Dang PM, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, El-Benna J. 2003. TNF-alpha induces phosphorylation of p47(phox) in human neutrophils: partial phosphorylation of p47phox is a common event of priming of human neutrophils by TNF-alpha and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor. *J Immunol* 171: 4392-8
- 156. Belambri SA, Hurtado-Nedelec M, Senator A, Makni-Maalej K, Fay M, Gougerot-Pocidalo M-A, Marie J-C, Dang PM-C, El-Benna J. 2012. Phosphorylation of p47phox is required for receptor-mediated NADPH oxidase/NOX2 activation in Epstein-Barr virustransformed human B lymphocytes. *American Journal of Blood Research* 2: 187-93
- 157. Dang PM, Stensballe A, Boussetta T, Raad H, Dewas C, Kroviarski Y, Hayem G, Jensen ON, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, El-Benna J. 2006. A specific p47phox -serine

phosphorylated by convergent MAPKs mediates neutrophil NADPH oxidase priming at inflammatory sites. *J Clin Invest* 116: 2033-43

- 158. Sato T, Hongu T, Sakamoto M, Funakoshi Y, Kanaho Y. 2013. Molecular Mechanisms of N-Formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine-Induced Superoxide Generation and Degranulation in Mouse Neutrophils: Phospholipase D Is Dispensable. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 33: 136-45
- 159. Zindl CL, Lai J-F, Lee YK, Maynard CL, Harbour SN, Ouyang W, Chaplin DD, Weaver CT. 2013. IL-22–producing neutrophils contribute to antimicrobial defense and restitution of colonic epithelial integrity during colitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*
- 160. Dhiman M, Garg NJ. 2014. P47(phox-/-) Mice Are Compromised in Expansion and Activation of CD8(+) T Cells and Susceptible to Trypanosoma cruzi Infection. *PLoS Pathogens* 10: e1004516
- Jackson SH, Gallin JI, Holland SM. 1995. The p47phox mouse knock-out model of chronic granulomatous disease. *J Exp Med* 182: 751-8
- 162. Gozalo AS, Hoffmann VJ, Brinster LR, Elkins WR, Ding L, Holland SM. 2010. Spontaneous Staphylococcus xylosus Infection in Mice Deficient in NADPH Oxidase and Comparison with Other Laboratory Mouse Strains. *Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science : JAALAS* 49: 480-6
- 163. Won YS, Kwon HJ, Oh GT, Kim BH, Lee CH, Park YH, Hyun BH, Choi YK. 2002.
   Identification of Staphylococcus xylosus isolated from C57BL/6J-Nos2(tm1Lau) mice with dermatitis. *Microbiol Immunol* 46: 629-32

- 164. Song E, Jaishankar GB, Saleh H, Jithpratuck W, Sahni R, Krishnaswamy G. 2011. Chronic granulomatous disease: a review of the infectious and inflammatory complications. *Clinical and Molecular Allergy* 9: 1-14
- Brinkmann V, Reichard U, Goosmann C, Fauler B, Uhlemann Y, Weiss DS, Weinrauch Y, Zychlinsky A. 2004. Neutrophil extracellular traps kill bacteria. *Science* 303: 1532-5
- 166. Fuchs TA, Abed U, Goosmann C, Hurwitz R, Schulze I, Wahn V, Weinrauch Y, Brinkmann V, Zychlinsky A. 2007. Novel cell death program leads to neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Cell Biol* 176: 231-41
- 167. Rada B, Jendrysik MA, Pang L, Hayes CP, Yoo D-g, Park JJ, Moskowitz SM, Malech HL, Leto TL. 2013. Pyocyanin-Enhanced Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation Requires the NADPH Oxidase. *PLoS ONE* 8: e54205
- 168. Papayannopoulos V, Metzler KD, Hakkim A, Zychlinsky A. 2010. Neutrophil elastase and myeloperoxidase regulate the formation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *J Cell Biol* 191: 677-91
- 169. Urban CF, Ermert D, Schmid M, Abu-Abed U, Goosmann C, Nacken W, Brinkmann V, Jungblut PR, Zychlinsky A. 2009. Neutrophil extracellular traps contain calprotectin, a cytosolic protein complex involved in host defense against Candida albicans. *PLoS Pathog* 5: e1000639
- Schauer C, Janko C, Munoz LE, Zhao Y, Kienhofer D, Frey B, Lell M, Manger B, Rech J, Naschberger E, Holmdahl R, Krenn V, Harrer T, Jeremic I, Bilyy R, Schett G, Hoffmann M, Herrmann M. 2014. Aggregated neutrophil extracellular traps limit inflammation by degrading cytokines and chemokines. *Nat Med* 20: 511-7

- Thammavongsa V, Missiakas DM, Schneewind O. 2013. Staphylococcus aureus
   Degrades Neutrophil Extracellular Traps to Promote Immune Cell Death. *Science* 342: 863-6
- 172. Liu GY, Essex A, Buchanan JT, Datta V, Hoffman HM, Bastian JF, Fierer J, Nizet V.
  2005. Staphylococcus aureus golden pigment impairs neutrophil killing and promotes virulence through its antioxidant activity. *J Exp Med* 202: 209-15
- 173. Ermert D, Niemiec MJ, Rohm M, Glenthoj A, Borregaard N, Urban CF. 2013. Candida albicans escapes from mouse neutrophils. *J Leukoc Biol* 94: 223-36
- Yang Y, Torchinsky MB, Gobert M, Xiong H, Xu M, Linehan JL, Alonzo F, Ng C, Chen A, Lin X, Sczesnak A, Liao J-J, Torres VJ, Jenkins MK, Lafaille JJ, Littman DR. 2014.
  Focused specificity of intestinal TH17 cells towards commensal bacterial antigens. *Nature* 510: 152-6
- 175. Ivanov II, Atarashi K, Manel N, Brodie EL, Shima T, Karaoz U, Wei D, Goldfarb KC, Santee CA, Lynch SV, Tanoue T, Imaoka A, Itoh K, Takeda K, Umesaki Y, Honda K, Littman DR. 2009. Induction of Intestinal Th17 Cells by Segmented Filamentous Bacteria. *Cell* 139: 485-98
- Cha H-R, Chang S-Y, Chang J-H, Kim J-O, Yang J-Y, Kim C-H, Kweon M-N. 2010.
   Downregulation of Th17 Cells in the Small Intestine by Disruption of Gut Flora in the
   Absence of Retinoic Acid. *The Journal of Immunology* 184: 6799-806
- 177. Kinugasa T, Sakaguchi T, Gu X, Reinecker H-C. 2000. Claudins Regulate the Intestinal Barrier in Response to Immune Mediators. *Gastroenterology* 118: 1001-11
- Günzel D, Yu ASL. 2013. Claudins and the Modulation of Tight Junction Permeability. *Physiological Reviews* 93: 525-69

- 179. D?Agnillo F, Williams MC, Moayeri M, Warfel JM. 2013. Anthrax Lethal Toxin
  Downregulates Claudin-5 Expression in Human Endothelial Tight Junctions. *PLoS ONE* 8: e62576
- 180. Oshima T, Miwa H, Joh T. 2008. Aspirin induces gastric epithelial barrier dysfunction by activating p38 MAPK via claudin-7. *American Journal of Physiology Cell Physiology* 295: C800-C6
- 181. Dahan S, Rabinowitz KM, Martin AP, Berin MC, Unkeless JC, Mayer L. 2011. Notch-1 Signaling Regulates Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Function, Through Interaction With CD4+ T Cells, in Mice and Humans. *Gastroenterology* 140: 550-9
- 182. Bry L, Brenner MB. 2004. Critical Role of T Cell-Dependent Serum Antibody, but Not the Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissue, for Surviving Acute Mucosal Infection with Citrobacter rodentium, an Attaching and Effacing Pathogen. *The Journal of Immunology* 172: 433-41
- 183. Kucharzik T, Lugering N, Rautenberg K, Lugering A, Schmidt MA, Stoll R, DomschkeW. 2000. Role of M cells in intestinal barrier function. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 915: 171-83
- 184. Rescigno M, Urbano M, Valzasina B, Francolini M, Rotta G, Bonasio R, Granucci F, Kraehenbuhl JP, Ricciardi-Castagnoli P. 2001. Dendritic cells express tight junction proteins and penetrate gut epithelial monolayers to sample bacteria. *Nat Immunol* 2: 361-7
- 185. Dabbagh K, Takeyama K, Lee H-M, Ueki IF, Lausier JA, Nadel JA. 1999. IL-4 Induces Mucin Gene Expression and Goblet Cell Metaplasia In Vitro and In Vivo. *The Journal of Immunology* 162: 6233-7

- 186. Deplancke B, Gaskins HR. 2001. Microbial modulation of innate defense: goblet cells and the intestinal mucus layer. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 73: 1131S-41S
- 187. Ganz T. 2003. Defensins: antimicrobial peptides of innate immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* 3: 710-20
- 188. Bajaj-Elliott M, Fedeli P, Smith GV, Domizio P, Maher L, Ali RS, Quinn AG, Farthing MJG. 2002. Modulation of host antimicrobial peptide (β-defensins 1 and 2) expression during gastritis. *Gut* 51: 356-61
- Jung C, Hugot JP, Barreau F. 2010. Peyer's Patches: The Immune Sensors of the Intestine. *Int J Inflam* 2010: 823710
- 190. Denning TL, Wang Y-c, Patel SR, Williams IR, Pulendran B. 2007. Lamina propria macrophages and dendritic cells differentially induce regulatory and interleukin 17producing T cell responses. *Nat Immunol* 8: 1086-94
- 191. Monteleone I, Platt AM, Jaensson E, Agace WW, Mowat AM. 2008. IL-10-dependent partial refractoriness to Toll-like receptor stimulation modulates gut mucosal dendritic cell function. *Eur J Immunol* 38: 1533-47
- 192. Ganusov VV, De Boer RJ. 2007. Do most lymphocytes in humans really reside in the gut? *Trends in Immunology* 28: 514-8
- 193. Ishimoto Y, Tomiyama-Miyaji C, Watanabe H, Yokoyama H, Ebe K, Tsubata S, Aoyagi Y, Abo T. 2004. Age-dependent variation in the proportion and number of intestinal lymphocyte subsets, especially natural killer T cells, double-positive CD4+ CD8+ cells and B220+ T cells, in mice. *Immunology* 113: 371-7

- 194. Cao AT, Yao S, Gong B, Elson CO, Cong Y. 2012. Th17 cells upregulate polymeric Ig receptor and intestinal IgA and contribute to intestinal homeostasis. *J Immunol* 189: 4666-73
- 195. Coffman RL, Lebman DA, Shrader B. 1989. Transforming growth factor beta specifically enhances IgA production by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated murine B lymphocytes. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 170: 1039-44
- 196. Ehrhardt RO, Strober W, Harriman GR. 1992. Effect of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta 1 on IgA isotype expression. TGF-beta 1 induces a small increase in sIgA+ B cells regardless of the method of B cell activation. *The Journal of Immunology* 148: 3830-6
- 197. Shikina T, Hiroi T, Iwatani K, Jang MH, Fukuyama S, Tamura M, Kubo T, Ishikawa H, Kiyono H. 2004. IgA Class Switch Occurs in the Organized Nasopharynx- and Gut-Associated Lymphoid Tissue, but Not in the Diffuse Lamina Propria of Airways and Gut. *The Journal of Immunology* 172: 6259-64
- 198. Esplugues E, Huber S, Gagliani N, Hauser AE, Town T, Wan YY, O/'Connor W, Rongvaux A, Van Rooijen N, Haberman AM, Iwakura Y, Kuchroo VK, Kolls JK, Bluestone JA, Herold KC, Flavell RA. 2011. Control of TH17 cells occurs in the small intestine. *Nature* 475: 514-8
- Fellermann K, Wehkamp J, Herrlinger KR, Stange EF. 2003. Crohn's disease: a defensin deficiency syndrome? *European Journal of Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 15: 627-34
- 200. Cosnes J, Gower–Rousseau C, Seksik P, Cortot A. 2011. Epidemiology and Natural History of Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Gastroenterology* 140: 1785-94.e4

- 201. Rovedatti L, Kudo T, Biancheri P, Sarra M, Knowles CH, Rampton DS, Corazza GR, Monteleone G, Di Sabatino A, MacDonald TT. 2009. Differential regulation of interleukin 17 and interferon γ production in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* 58: 1629-36
- 202. Kobayashi T, Okamoto S, Hisamatsu T, Kamada N, Chinen H, Saito R, Kitazume MT, Nakazawa A, Sugita A, Koganei K, Isobe K, Hibi T. 2008. IL23 differentially regulates the Th1/Th17 balance in ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease. *Gut* 57: 1682-9
- Boismenu R, Chen Y. 2000. Insights from mouse models of colitis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 67: 267-78
- 204. Seok J, Warren HS, Cuenca AG, Mindrinos MN, Baker HV, Xu W, Richards DR, McDonald-Smith GP, Gao H, Hennessy L, Finnerty CC, López CM, Honari S, Moore EE, Minei JP, Cuschieri J, Bankey PE, Johnson JL, Sperry J, Nathens AB, Billiar TR, West MA, Jeschke MG, Klein MB, Gamelli RL, Gibran NS, Brownstein BH, Miller-Graziano C, Calvano SE, Mason PH, Cobb JP, Rahme LG, Lowry SF, Maier RV, Moldawer LL, Herndon DN, Davis RW, Xiao W, Tompkins RG, Inflammation t, Host Response to Injury LSCRP. 2013. Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110: 3507-12
- 205. Eckmann L. 2006. Animal Models of Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1072: 28-38
- 206. Davidson NJ, Leach MW, Fort MM, Thompson-Snipes L, Kühn R, Müller W, Berg DJ, Rennick DM. 1996. T helper cell 1-type CD4+ T cells, but not B cells, mediate colitis in interleukin 10-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 184: 241-51

- 207. Rennick DM, Fort MM, Davidson NJ. 1997. Studies with IL-10-/- mice: an overview. J Leukoc Biol 61: 389-96
- 208. Davidson NJ, Hudak SA, Lesley RE, Menon S, Leach MW, Rennick DM. 1998. IL-12, But Not IFN-γ, Plays a Major Role in Sustaining the Chronic Phase of Colitis in IL-10-Deficient Mice. *The Journal of Immunology* 161: 3143-9
- 209. Berg DJ, Davidson N, Kuhn R, Muller W, Menon S, Holland G, Thompson-Snipes L, Leach MW, Rennick D. 1996. Enterocolitis and colon cancer in interleukin-10-deficient mice are associated with aberrant cytokine production and CD4(+) TH1-like responses. J Clin Invest 98: 1010-20
- 210. Scheinin T, Butler DM, Salway F, Scallon B, Feldmann M. 2003. Validation of the interleukin-10 knockout mouse model of colitis: antitumour necrosis factor-antibodies suppress the progression of colitis. *Clin Exp Immunol* 133: 38-43
- Kuhn R, Lohler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Muller W. 1993. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* 75: 263-74
- 212. Ostanin DV BJ, Koboziev I, Gray L, Robinson-Jackson SA, Kosloski-Davidson M, Price VH, Grisham MB. 2009. T cell transfer model of chronic colitis: concepts, considerations, and tricks of the trade. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 296: 135-46
- 213. Dieleman LA, Palmen MJ, Akol H, Bloemena E, Pena AS, Meuwissen SG, Van Rees EP.
  1998. Chronic experimental colitis induced by dextran sulphate sodium (DSS) is
  characterized by Th1 and Th2 cytokines. *Clin Exp Immunol* 114: 385-91
- 214. Melgar S, Karlsson A, Michaëlsson E. 2005. Acute colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium progresses to chronicity in C57BL/6 but not in BALB/c mice: correlation

between symptoms and inflammation. *American Journal of Physiology - Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 288: G1328-G38

- Ito R, Kita M, Shin-Ya M, Kishida T, Urano A, Takada R, Sakagami J, Imanishi J,
  Iwakura Y, Okanoue T, Yoshikawa T, Kataoka K, Mazda O. 2008. Involvement of IL17A in the pathogenesis of DSS-induced colitis in mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*377: 12-6
- 216. Egger B, Bajaj-Elliott M, MacDonald TT, Inglin R, Eysselein VE, Buchler MW. 2000. Characterisation of acute murine dextran sodium sulphate colitis: cytokine profile and dose dependency. *Digestion* 62: 240-8
- 217. Koroleva EP, Halperin S, Gubernatorova EO, Spencer CM, Tumanov AV. 2015. Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis: A robust model to study mucosal immune responses in the gut. *Journal of Immunological Methods*
- Ediger RD, Kovatch RM, Rabstein MM. 1974. Colitis in mice with a high incidence of rectal prolapse. *Laboratory Animal Science* 24: 488-94
- 219. Kontoyiannis D, Boulougouris G, Manoloukos M, Armaka M, Apostolaki M, Pizarro T, Kotlyarov A, Forster I, Flavell R, Gaestel M, Tsichlis P, Cominelli F, Kollias G. 2002. Genetic Dissection of the Cellular Pathways and Signaling Mechanisms in Modeled Tumor Necrosis Factor–induced Crohn's-like Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 196: 1563-74
- 220. Lawrenz M, Visekruna A, Kuhl A, Schmidt N, Kaufmann SHE, Steinhoff U. 2012.
   Genetic and pharmacological targeting of TPL-2 kinase ameliorates experimental colitis:
   a potential target for the treatment of Crohn's disease. *Mucosal Immunol.* 5: 129-39

- 221. ten Hove T, The FO, Berkhout M, Bruggeman JP, Vyth-Dreese FA, Slors JFM, van Deventer SJH, te Velde AA. 2004. Expression of CD45RB functionally distinguishes intestinal T lymphocytes in inflammatory bowel disease. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 75: 1010-5
- Ostanin DV, Pavlick KP, Bharwani S, D'Souza D, Furr KL, Brown CM, Grisham MB.
   2006. T cell-induced inflammation of the small and large intestine in immunodeficient mice. *Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol.* 290: G109-G19
- 223. te Velde AA, de Kort F, Sterrenburg E, Pronk I, ten Kate FJW, Hommes DW, van Deventer SJH. 2007. Comparative analysis of colonic gene expression of three experimental colitis models mimicking inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflammatory Bowel Diseases* 13: 325-30
- Mombaerts P, Iacomini J, Johnson RS, Herrup K, Tonegawa S, Papaioannou VE. 1992.
   RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. *Cell* 68: 869-77
- 225. Shinkai Y, Rathbun G, Lam K-P, Oltz EM, Stewart V, Mendelsohn M, Charron J, Datta M, Young F, Stall AM, Alt FW. 1992. RAG-2-deficient mice lack mature lymphocytes owing to inability to initiate V(D)J rearrangement. *Cell* 68: 855-67
- 226. Bell EB, Sparshott SM, Drayson MT, Ford WL. 1987. The stable and permanent expansion of functional T lymphocytes in athymic nude rats after a single injection of mature T cells. *J Immunol* 139: 1379-84
- 227. Min B, Yamane H, Hu-Li J, Paul WE. 2005. Spontaneous and Homeostatic Proliferation of CD4 T Cells Are Regulated by Different Mechanisms. *J. Immunol.* 174: 6039-44
- 228. Pyzik M, Piccirillo CA. 2007. TGF-β1 modulates Foxp3 expression and regulatory activity in distinct CD4+ T cell subsets. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 82: 335-46

- 229. Kamanaka M, Huber S, Zenewicz LA, Gagliani N, Rathinam C, O'Connor W, Wan YY, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Hao L, Flavell RA. 2011. Memory/effector (CD45RBlo) CD4 T cells are controlled directly by IL-10 and cause IL-22–dependent intestinal pathology. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 208: 1027-40
- 230. Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, Mckenzie B, Kleinschek MA, Owyang A, Mattson J, Blumenschein W, Murphy E, Sathe M, Cua DJ, Kastelein RA, Rennick D. 2006. IL-23 is essential for T cell–mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. *J. Clin. Invest.* 116: 1310-6
- 231. Powrie F, Leach MW, Mauze S, Menon S, Barcomb Caddle L, Coffman RL. 1994.
   Inhibition of Th1 responses prevents inflammatory bowel disease in scid mice
   reconstituted with CD45RBhi CD4+ T cells. *Immunity* 1: 553-62
- 232. Feng T, Qin H, Wang L, Benveniste EN, Elson CO, Cong Y. 2011. Th17 Cells Induce Colitis and Promote Th1 Cell Responses through IL-17 Induction of Innate IL-12 and IL-23 Production. *J. Immunol.* 186: 6313-8
- 233. Durant L, Watford WT, Ramos HL, Laurence A, Vahedi G, Wei L, Takahashi H, Sun H-W, Kanno Y, Powrie F, O'Shea JJ. 2010. Diverse Targets of the Transcription Factor STAT3 Contribute to T Cell Pathogenicity and Homeostasis. *Immunity* 32: 605-15
- 234. O'Connor Jr W, Kamanaka M, Booth CJ, Town T, Nakae S, Iwakura Y, Kolls JK, Flavell RA. 2009. A protective function for interleukin 17A in T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *Nat Immunol* 10: 603-9
- 235. Zhang R, Li Q, Chuang PY, Lu G, Liu R, Yang J, Peng L, Dai Y, Zheng Z, Qi C-F, He JC, Xiong H. 2013. Regulation of Pathogenic Th17 Cell Differentiation by IL-10 in the Development of Glomerulonephritis. *The American Journal of Pathology* 183: 402-12

- 236. Haribhai D, Ziegelbauer J, Jia S, Upchurch K, Yan K, Schmitt EG, Salzman NH, Simpson P, Hessner MJ, Chatila TA, Williams CB. 2016. Alternatively Activated Macrophages Boost Induced Regulatory T and Th17 Cell Responses during Immunotherapy for Colitis. *The Journal of Immunology*
- 237. Denning TL, Kim G, Kronenberg M. 2005. Cutting Edge: CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T
   Cells Impaired for Intestinal Homing Can Prevent Colitis. *The Journal of Immunology* 174: 7487-91
- 238. Schauer DB, Zabel BA, Pedraza IF, O'Hara CM, Steigerwalt AG, Brenner DJ. 1995. Genetic and biochemical characterization of Citrobacter rodentium sp. nov. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 33: 2064-8
- 239. de la Puente-Redondo VA G-MC, Pérez-Martínez C, del Blanco NG, García-Iglesias MJ, Pérez-García CC, Rodríguez-Ferri EF. 1999. Epidemic infection caused by Citrobacter rodentium in a gerbil colony. *The Veterinary Record* 145: 400-3
- 240. Barthold SW, Osbaldiston GW, Jonas AM. 1977. Dietary, bacterial, and host genetic interactions in the pathogenesis of transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* 27: 938-45
- 241. Luperchio SA, Newman JV, Dangler CA, Schrenzel MD, Brenner DJ, Steigerwalt AG, Schauer DB. 2000. Citrobacter rodentium, the Causative Agent of Transmissible Murine Colonic Hyperplasia, Exhibits Clonality: Synonymy of C. rodentium and Mouse-PathogenicEscherichia coli. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology* 38: 4343-50
- 242. Luperchio SA, Schauer DB. 2001. Molecular pathogenesis of Citrobacter rodentium and transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Microbes and Infection* 3: 333-40

- Barthold SW, Coleman GL, Jacoby RO, Livstone EM, Jonas AM. 1978. Transmissible Murine Colonic Hyperplasia. *Veterinary Pathology Online* 15: 223-36
- 244. Barthold SW CG, Bhatt PN, Osbaldiston GW, Jonas AM. 1976. The etiology of transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Laboratory Animal Science* 26: 889-94
- 245. Vallance BA, Deng W, Jacobson K, Finlay BB. 2003. Host Susceptibility to the Attaching and Effacing Bacterial Pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Infection and Immunity* 71: 3443-53
- 246. Yokota S-i, Okabayashi T, Rehli M, Fujii N, Amano K-i. 2010. Helicobacter pylori Lipopolysaccharides Upregulate Toll-Like Receptor 4 Expression and Proliferation of Gastric Epithelial Cells via the MEK1/2-ERK1/2 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Pathway. *Infection and Immunity* 78: 468-76
- 247. Abreu MT. 2010. Toll-like receptor signalling in the intestinal epithelium: how bacterial recognition shapes intestinal function. *Nat Rev Immunol* 10: 131-44
- 248. Khan MA, Ma C, Knodler LA, Valdez Y, Rosenberger CM, Deng W, Finlay BB,
  Vallance BA. 2006. Toll-Like Receptor 4 Contributes to Colitis Development but Not to
  Host Defense during Citrobacter rodentium Infection in Mice. *Infection and Immunity* 74: 2522-36
- 249. Gibson DL, Ma C, Bergstrom KSB, Huang JT, Man C, Vallance BA. 2008. MyD88 signalling plays a critical role in host defence by controlling pathogen burden and promoting epithelial cell homeostasis during Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis. *Cellular Microbiology* 10: 618-31

- 250. Lebeis SL, Bommarius B, Parkos CA, Sherman MA, Kalman D. 2007. TLR Signaling Mediated by MyD88 Is Required for a Protective Innate Immune Response by Neutrophils to Citrobacter rodentium. *The Journal of Immunology* 179: 566-77
- 251. Chandrakesan P, Ahmed I, Anwar T, Wang Y, Sarkar S, Singh P, Peleg S, Umar S. 2010. Novel changes in NF-{kappa}B activity during progression and regression phases of hyperplasia: role of MEK, ERK, and p38. *J Biol Chem* 285: 33485-98
- 252. Chandrakesan P, Ahmed I, Anwar T, Wang Y, Sarkar S, Singh P, Peleg S, Umar S. 2010.
  Novel Changes in NF-κB Activity during Progression and Regression Phases of
  Hyperplasia: ROLE OF MEK, ERK, AND p38. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285:
  33485-98
- 253. Schauer DB, Falkow S. 1993. Attaching and effacing locus of a Citrobacter freundii biotype that causes transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Infection and Immunity* 61: 2486-92
- 254. Schauer DB, Falkow S. 1993. The eae gene of Citrobacter freundii biotype 4280 is necessary for colonization in transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Infect. Immun.* 61: 4654-61
- 255. Petty NK, Bulgin R, Crepin VF, Cerdeno-Tarraga AM, Schroeder GN, Quail MA, Lennard N, Corton C, Barron A, Clark L, Toribio AL, Parkhill J, Dougan G, Frankel G, Thomson NR. 2010. The Citrobacter rodentium genome sequence reveals convergent evolution with human pathogenic Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* 192: 525-38
- 256. Wiles S, Dougan G, Frankel G. 2005. Emergence of a 'hyperinfectious' bacterial state after passage of Citrobacter rodentium through the host gastrointestinal tract. *Cellular Microbiology* 7: 1163-72

- 257. Wiles S, Clare S, Harker J, Huett A, Young D, Dougan G, Frankel G. 2004. Organ specificity, colonization and clearance dynamics in vivo following oral challenges with the murine pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Cell. Microbiol.* 6: 963-72
- 258. Kum WWS, Lo BC, Deng W, Ziltener HJ, Finlay BB. 2010. Impaired innate immune response and enhanced pathology during Citrobacter rodentium infection in mice lacking functional P-selectin. *Cellular Microbiology* 12: 1250-71
- 259. Manta C, Heupel E, Radulovic K, Rossini V, Garbi N, Riedel CU, Niess JH. 2013. CX3CR1+ macrophages support IL-22 production by innate lymphoid cells during infection with Citrobacter rodentium. *Mucosal Immunol* 6: 177-88
- 260. Chan JM, Bhinder G, Sham HP, Ryz N, Huang T, Bergstrom KS, Vallance BA. 2013.
   CD4(+) T Cells Drive Goblet Cell Depletion during Citrobacter rodentium Infection.
   *Infection and Immunity* 81: 4649-58
- 261. Maaser C, Housley MP, Iimura M, Smith JR, Vallance BA, Finlay BB, Schreiber JR, Varki NM, Kagnoff MF, Eckmann L. 2004. Clearance of Citrobacter rodentium Requires B Cells but Not Secretory Immunoglobulin A (IgA) or IgM Antibodies. *Infection and Immunity* 72: 3315-24
- 262. Frankel G, Phillips AD, Novakova M, Field H, Candy DC, Schauer DB, Douce G, Dougan G. 1996. Intimin from enteropathogenic Escherichia coli restores murine virulence to a Citrobacter rodentium eaeA mutant: induction of an immunoglobulin A response to intimin and EspB. *Infection and Immunity* 64: 5315-25
- 263. Hall LJ, Murphy CT, Hurley G, Quinlan A, Shanahan F, Nally K, Melgar S. 2013.
   Natural Killer Cells Protect against Mucosal and Systemic Infection with the Enteric
   Pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Infection and Immunity* 81: 460-9

- 264. Schreiber HA, Loschko J, Karssemeijer RA, Escolano A, Meredith MM, Mucida D, Guermonprez P, Nussenzweig MC. 2013. Intestinal monocytes and macrophages are required for T cell polarization in response to Citrobacter rodentium. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 210: 2025-39
- 265. Dann SM, Le C, Choudhury BK, Liu H, Saldarriaga O, Hanson EM, Cong Y, Eckmann L. 2014. Attenuation of Intestinal Inflammation in Interleukin-10-Deficient Mice Infected with Citrobacter rodentium. *Infection and Immunity* 82: 1949-58
- 266. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, Abbas AR, Modrusan Z, Ghilardi N, de Sauvage FJ, Ouyang W. 2008. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med* 14: 282-9
- 267. Geddes K, Rubino SJ, Magalhaes JG, Streutker C, Le Bourhis L, Cho JH, Robertson SJ, Kim CJ, Kaul R, Philpott DJ, Girardin SE. 2011. Identification of an innate T helper type 17 response to intestinal bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med* 17: 837-44
- Ishigame H, Kakuta S, Nagai T, Kadoki M, Nambu A, Komiyama Y, Fujikado N, Tanahashi Y, Akitsu A, Kotaki H, Sudo K, Nakae S, Sasakawa C, Iwakura Y. 2009.
  Differential Roles of Interleukin-17A and -17F in Host Defense against Mucoepithelial Bacterial Infection and Allergic Responses. *Immunity* 30: 108-19
- 269. Higgins LM, Frankel G, Douce G, Dougan G, MacDonald TT. 1999. Citrobacter rodentium Infection in Mice Elicits a Mucosal Th1 Cytokine Response and Lesions Similar to Those in Murine Inflammatory Bowel Disease. *Infection and Immunity* 67: 3031-9

- 270. Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, Abbas AR, Modrusan Z, Ghilardi N, de Sauvage FJ, Ouyang W. 2008. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nature Medicine* 14: 282-9
- 271. Simmons CP, Goncalves NS, Ghaem-Maghami M, Bajaj-Elliott M, Clare S, Neves B, Frankel G, Dougan G, MacDonald TT. 2002. Impaired Resistance and Enhanced Pathology During Infection with a Noninvasive, Attaching-Effacing Enteric Bacterial Pathogen, Citrobacter rodentium, in Mice Lacking IL-12 or IFN-γ. *The Journal of Immunology* 168: 1804-12
- 272. Simmons CP, Clare S, Ghaem-Maghami M, Uren TK, Rankin J, Huett A, Goldin R, Lewis DJ, MacDonald TT, Strugnell RA, Frankel G, Dougan G. 2003. Central role for B lymphocytes and CD4+ T cells in immunity to infection by the attaching and effacing pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Infect Immun* 71: 5077-86
- 273. Basu R, O'Quinn Darrell B, Silberger Daniel J, Schoeb Trenton R, Fouser L, Ouyang W,
  Hatton Robin D, Weaver Casey T. 2012. Th22 Cells Are an Important Source of IL-22
  for Host Protection against Enteropathogenic Bacteria. *Immunity* 37: 1061-75
- Wang C, Kang SG, Lee J, Sun Z, Kim CH. 2009. The roles of CCR6 in migration of Th17 cells and regulation of effector T-cell balance in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol* 2: 173-83
- 275. Wang Z, Friedrich C, Hagemann SC, Korte WH, Goharani N, Cording S, Eberl G, Sparwasser T, Lochner M. 2014. Regulatory T cells promote a protective Th17associated immune response to intestinal bacterial infection with C. rodentium. *Mucosal Immunol*

- 276. Vallance BA, Deng W, Knodler LA, Finlay BB. 2002. Mice Lacking T and B
  Lymphocytes Develop Transient Colitis and Crypt Hyperplasia yet Suffer Impaired
  Bacterial Clearance during Citrobacter rodentium Infection. *Infection and Immunity* 70: 2070-81
- 277. Borenshtein D, Fry RC, Groff EB, Nambiar PR, Carey VJ, Fox JG, Schauer DB. 2008.
  Diarrhea as a cause of mortality in a mouse model of infectious colitis. *Genome Biology* 9: R112
- 278. Rovin BH, Parikh SV. 2014. Lupus nephritis: the evolving role of novel therapeutics. *Am J Kidney Dis* 63: 677-90
- Ford ML, Larsen CP. 2009. Translating costimulation blockade to the clinic: lessons learned from three pathways. *Immunol Rev* 229: 294-306
- 280. Orban T, Bundy B, Becker DJ, Dimeglio LA, Gitelman SE, Goland R, Gottlieb PA, Greenbaum CJ, Marks JB, Monzavi R, Moran A, Peakman M, Raskin P, Russell WE, Schatz D, Wherrett DK, Wilson DM, Krischer JP, Skyler JS, Type 1 Diabetes TrialNet Abatacept Study G. 2014. Costimulation modulation with abatacept in patients with recent-onset type 1 diabetes: follow-up 1 year after cessation of treatment. *Diabetes Care* 37: 1069-75
- 281. Kremer JM, Peterfy C, Russell AS, Emery P, Abud-Mendoza C, Sibilia J, Becker JC, Westhovens R, Genant HK. 2014. Longterm safety, efficacy, and inhibition of structural damage progression over 5 years of treatment with abatacept in patients with rheumatoid arthritis in the abatacept in inadequate responders to methotrexate trial. *J Rheumatol* 41: 1077-87

- 282. Gilroy L, Allen PB. 2014. Is there a role for vedolizumab in the treatment of ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease? *Clin Exp Gastroenterol* 7: 163-72
- 283. Kivelevitch D, Mansouri B, Menter A. 2014. Long term efficacy and safety of etanercept in the treatment of psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *Biologics* 8: 169-82
- 284. Armuzzi A, Lionetti P, Blandizzi C, Caporali R, Chimenti S, Cimino L, Gionchetti P, Girolomoni G, Lapadula G, Marchesoni A, Marcellusi A, Mennini FS, Salvarani C, Cimaz R. 2014. anti-TNF agents as therapeutic choice in immune-mediated inflammatory diseases: focus on adalimumab. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* 27: 11-32
- 285. Cheifetz AS. 2013. Management of active crohn disease. JAMA 309: 2150-8
- 286. Scharl M, Vavricka SR, Rogler G. 2013. Review: new anti-cytokines for IBD: what is in the pipeline? *Curr Drug Targets* 14: 1405-20
- 287. Heylen M, Ruyssers NE, Gielis EM, Vanhomwegen E, Pelckmans PA, Moreels TG, De Man JG, De Winter BY. 2014. Of worms, mice and man: An overview of experimental and clinical helminth-based therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. *Pharmacol Ther*
- 288. George D, Salmeron A. 2009. Cot/Tpl-2 protein kinase as a target for the treatment of inflammatory disease. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 9: 611-22
- 289. Hall JP, Kurdi Y, Hsu S, Cuozzo J, Liu J, Telliez JB, Seidl KJ, Winkler A, Hu Y, Green N, Askew GR, Tam S, Clark JD, Lin LL. 2007. Pharmacologic inhibition of tpl2 blocks inflammatory responses in primary human monocytes, synoviocytes, and blood. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 33295-304
- 290. Green N, Hu Y, Janz K, Li H-Q, Kaila N, Guler S, Thomason J, Joseph-McCarthy D, Tam SY, Hotchandani R, Wu J, Huang A, Wang Q, Leung L, Pelker J, Marusic S, Hsu S, Telliez J-B, Hall JP, Cuozzo JW, Lin L-L. 2007. Inhibitors of Tumor Progression Loci-2

(Tpl2) Kinase and Tumor Necrosis Factor α (TNF-α) Production: Selectivity and in Vivo Antiinflammatory Activity of Novel 8-Substituted-4-anilino-6-aminoquinoline-3carbonitriles. *J. Med. Chem.* 50: 4728-45

- 291. Hu Y, Green N, Gavrin LK, Janz K, Kaila N, Li HQ, Thomason JR, Cuozzo JW, Hall JP, Hsu S, Nickerson-Nutter C, Telliez JB, Lin LL, Tam S. 2006. Inhibition of Tpl2 kinase and TNFalpha production with quinoline-3-carbonitriles for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 16: 6067-72
- 292. Green N, Hu Y, Janz K, Li HQ, Kaila N, Guler S, Thomason J, Joseph-McCarthy D, Tam SY, Hotchandani R, Wu J, Huang A, Wang Q, Leung L, Pelker J, Marusic S, Hsu S, Telliez JB, Hall JP, Cuozzo JW, Lin LL. 2007. Inhibitors of tumor progression loci-2 (Tpl2) kinase and tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) production: selectivity and in vivo antiinflammatory activity of novel 8-substituted-4-anilino-6-aminoquinoline-3-carbonitriles. *J Med Chem* 50: 4728-45
- 293. Cusack K, Allen H, Bischoff A, Clabbers A, Dixon R, Fix-Stenzel S, Friedman M, Gaumont Y, George D, Gordon T, Grongsaard P, Janssen B, Jia Y, Moskey M, Quinn C, Salmeron A, Thomas C, Wallace G, Wishart N, Yu Z. 2009. Identification of a selective thieno[2,3-c]pyridine inhibitor of COT kinase and TNF-alpha production. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett* 19: 1722-5
- 294. Hu Y, Green N, Gavrin LK, Janz K, Kaila N, Li H-Q, Thomason JR, Cuozzo JW, Hall JP, Hsu S, Nickerson-Nutter C, Telliez J-B, Lin L-L, Tam S. 2006. Inhibition of Tpl2 kinase and TNFα production with quinoline-3-carbonitriles for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 16: 6067-72

- 295. Gavrin LK, Green N, Hu Y, Janz K, Kaila N, Li H-Q, Tam SY, Thomason JR,
  Gopalsamy A, Ciszewski G, Cuozzo JW, Hall JP, Hsu S, Telliez J-B, Lin L-L. 2005.
  Inhibition of Tpl2 kinase and TNF-α production with 1,7-naphthyridine-3-carbonitriles:
  Synthesis and structure–activity relationships. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 15: 5288-92
- 296. Cusack K, Allen H, Bischoff A, Clabbers A, Dixon R, Fix-Stenzel S, Friedman M, Gaumont Y, George D, Gordon T, Grongsaard P, Janssen B, Jia Y, Moskey M, Quinn C, Salmeron A, Thomas C, Wallace G, Wishart N, Yu Z. 2009. Identification of a selective thieno[2,3-c]pyridine inhibitor of COT kinase and TNF-α production. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 19: 1722-5
- 297. Hu Y, Cole D, Denny RA, Anderson DR, Ipek M, Ni Y, Wang X, Thaisrivongs S, Chamberlain T, Hall JP, Liu J, Luong M, Lin L-L, Telliez J-B, Gopalsamy A. 2011.
  Discovery of indazoles as inhibitors of Tpl2 kinase. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 21: 4758-61
- 298. Kryczek I, Wei S, Vatan L, Escara-Wilke J, Szeliga W, Keller ET, Zou W. 2007. Cutting Edge: Opposite Effects of IL-1 and IL-2 on the Regulation of IL-17+ T Cell Pool IL-1 Subverts IL-2-Mediated Suppression. *J. Immunol.* 179: 1423-6
- 299. Chung Y, Chang SH, Martinez GJ, Yang XO, Nurieva R, Kang HS, Ma L, Watowich SS, Jetten AM, Tian Q, Dong C. 2009. Critical Regulation of Early Th17 Cell Differentiation by Interleukin-1 Signaling. *Immunity* 30: 576-87
- 300. Yang XO, Panopoulos AD, Nurieva R, Chang SH, Wang D, Watowich SS, Dong C.
  2007. STAT3 regulates cytokine-mediated generation of inflammatory helper T cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282: 9358-63

- 301. Laurence A, Tato CM, Davidson TS, Kanno Y, Chen Z, Yao Z, Blank Rebecca B, Meylan F, Siegel R, Hennighausen L, Shevach EM, O'Shea John J. 2007. Interleukin-2 Signaling via STAT5 Constrains T Helper 17 Cell Generation. *Immunity* 26: 371-81
- 302. Horwitz DA, Zheng SG, Wang J, Gray JD. 2008. Critical role of IL-2 and TGF-β in generation, function and stabilization of Foxp3+CD4+ Treg. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 38: 912-5
- 303. Koliaraki V, Roulis M, Kollias G. 2012. Tpl2 regulates intestinal myofibroblast HGF release to suppress colitis-associated tumorigenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 122: 4231-42
- 304. Luger D, Silver PB, Tang J, Cua D, Chen Z, Iwakura Y, Bowman EP, Sgambellone NM, Chan C-C, Caspi RR. 2008. Either a Th17 or a Th1 effector response can drive autoimmunity: conditions of disease induction affect dominant effector category. *J. Exp. Med.* 205: 799-810
- 305. Azar ST, Tamim H, Beyhum HN, Habbal MZ, Almawi WY. 1999. Type I (Insulin-Dependent) Diabetes Is a Th1- and Th2-Mediated Autoimmune Disease. *Clin. Diagn. Lab Immunol.* 6: 306-10
- 306. Spehlmann ME, Dann SM, Hruz P, Hanson E, McCole DF, Eckmann L. 2009. CXCR2dependent mucosal neutrophil influx protects against colitis-associated diarrhea caused by an attaching/effacing lesion-forming bacterial pathogen. *J Immunol* 183: 3332-43
- 307. Roussel L, Houle F, Chan C, Yao Y, Bérubé J, Olivenstein R, Martin JG, Huot J, Hamid Q, Ferri L, Rousseau S. 2010. IL-17 Promotes p38 MAPK-Dependent Endothelial Activation Enhancing Neutrophil Recruitment to Sites of Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology* 184: 4531-7

- 308. Miyamoto M, Prause O, Sjöstrand M, Laan M, Lötvall J, Lindén A. 2003. Endogenous IL-17 as a Mediator of Neutrophil Recruitment Caused by Endotoxin Exposure in Mouse Airways. *The Journal of Immunology* 170: 4665-72
- 309. Griffin GK, Newton G, Tarrio ML, Bu DX, Maganto-Garcia E, Azcutia V, Alcaide P, Grabie N, Luscinskas FW, Croce KJ, Lichtman AH. 2012. IL-17 and TNF-alpha sustain neutrophil recruitment during inflammation through synergistic effects on endothelial activation. *J Immunol* 188: 6287-99
- Wiles S, Pickard KM, Peng K, MacDonald TT, Frankel G. 2006. In Vivo
  Bioluminescence Imaging of the Murine Pathogen Citrobacter rodentium. *Infect. Immun.* 74: 5391-6
- 311. Pesu M, Watford WT, Wei L, Xu L, Fuss I, Strober W, Andersson J, Shevach EM, Quezado M, Bouladoux N, Roebroek A, Belkaid Y, Creemers J, O'Shea JJ. 2008. T-cellexpressed proprotein convertase furin is essential for maintenance of peripheral immune tolerance. *Nature* 455: 246-50
- 312. Sauer S, Bruno L, Hertweck A, Finlay D, Leleu M, Spivakov M, Knight ZA, Cobb BS, Cantrell D, O'Connor E, Shokat KM, Fisher AG, Merkenschlager M. 2008. T cell receptor signaling controls Foxp3 expression via PI3K, Akt, and mTOR. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105: 7797-802
- 313. Torrado E, Cooper AM. 2010. IL-17 and Th17 cells in tuberculosis. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews* 21: 455-62
- Banchereau J, Bazan F, Blanchard D, Briere F, Galizzi JP, van Kooten C, Liu YJ,
  Rousset F, Saeland S. 1994. The CD40 antigen and its ligand. *Annu Rev Immunol* 12: 881-922

- 315. Gibson DL, Ma C, Rosenberger CM, Bergstrom KSB, Valdez Y, Huang JT, Khan MA, Vallance BA. 2008. Toll-like receptor 2 plays a critical role in maintaining mucosal integrity during Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis. *Cellular Microbiology* 10: 388-403
- 316. Kuriakose T, Rada B, Watford WT. 2014. Tumor Progression Locus 2-dependent oxidative burst drives phosphorylation of Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase during TLR3 and 9 signaling. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*
- 317. Sanz-Garcia C, Ferrer-Mayorga G, González-Rodríguez Á, Valverde ÁM, Martín-Duce A, Velasco-Martín JP, Regadera J, Fernández M, Alemany S. 2013. Sterile Inflammation in Acetaminophen-induced Liver Injury Is Mediated by Cot/tpl2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 288: 15342-51
- 318. Van Acker GJD, Perides G, Weiss ER, Das S, Tsichlis PN, Steer ML. 2007. Tumor Progression Locus-2 Is a Critical Regulator of Pancreatic and Lung Inflammation during Acute Pancreatitis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 282: 22140-9
- 319. Lemos HP, Grespan R, Vieira SM, Cunha TM, Verri WA, Fernandes KSS, Souto FO,
  McInnes IB, Ferreira SH, Liew FY, Cunha FQ. 2009. Prostaglandin mediates IL-23/IL17-induced neutrophil migration in inflammation by inhibiting IL-12 and IFNγ
  production. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106: 5954-9
- 320. Henness S, van Thoor E, Ge Q, Armour CL, Hughes JM, Ammit AJ. 2006. IL-17A acts via p38 MAPK to increase stability of TNF-α-induced IL-8 mRNA in human ASM.
   *American Journal of Physiology Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 290: L1283-L90

- 321. Geest CR, Buitenhuis M, Groot Koerkamp MJ, Holstege FC, Vellenga E, Coffer PJ.
  2009. Tight control of MEK-ERK activation is essential in regulating proliferation, survival, and cytokine production of CD34+-derived neutrophil progenitors. *Blood* 114: 3402-12
- 322. Hakkim A, Fuchs TA, Martinez NE, Hess S, Prinz H, Zychlinsky A, Waldmann H. 2011. Activation of the Raf-MEK-ERK pathway is required for neutrophil extracellular trap formation. *Nat Chem Biol* 7: 75-7
- 323. Yoo D-g, Winn M, Pang L, Moskowitz SM, Malech HL, Leto TL, Rada B. 2014. Release of Cystic Fibrosis Airway Inflammatory Markers from Pseudomonas aeruginosa– Stimulated Human Neutrophils Involves NADPH Oxidase-Dependent Extracellular DNA Trap Formation. *The Journal of Immunology* 192: 4728-38
- 324. Yoo DG, Floyd M, Winn M, Moskowitz SM, Rada B. 2014. NET formation induced by Pseudomonas aeruginosa cystic fibrosis isolates measured as release of myeloperoxidase-DNA and neutrophil elastase-DNA complexes. *Immunol Lett* 160: 186-94
- 325. Ramirez RD, Sheridan S, Girard L, Sato M, Kim Y, Pollack J, Peyton M, Zou Y, Kurie JM, DiMaio JM, Milchgrub S, Smith AL, Souza RF, Gilbey L, Zhang X, Gandia K, Vaughan MB, Wright WE, Gazdar AF, Shay JW, Minna JD. 2004. Immortalization of Human Bronchial Epithelial Cells in the Absence of Viral Oncoproteins. *Cancer Research* 64: 9027-34
- 326. Rada B, Gardina P, Myers TG, Leto TL. 2011. Reactive oxygen species mediate inflammatory cytokine release and EGFR-dependent mucin secretion in airway epithelial cells exposed to Pseudomonas pyocyanin. *Mucosal Immunol* 4: 158-71

- 327. Rada B, Boudreau HE, Park JJ, Leto TL. 2013. Histamine Stimulates Hydrogen Peroxide Production by Bronchial Epithelial Cells via Histamine H1 Receptor and Dual Oxidase. *American Journal of Respiratory Cell and Molecular Biology* 50: 125-34
- 328. Martel G, Bérubé J, Rousseau S. 2013. The Protein Kinase TPL2 Is Essential for ERK1/ERK2 Activation and Cytokine Gene Expression in Airway Epithelial Cells Exposed to Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs). *PLoS ONE* 8: e59116
- 329. Deshmukh HS, Liu Y, Menkiti OR, Mei J, Dai N, O'Leary CE, Oliver PM, Kolls JK, Weiser JN, Worthen GS. 2014. The microbiota regulates neutrophil homeostasis and host resistance to Escherichia coli K1 sepsis in neonatal mice. *Nat Med* 20: 524-30
- 330. Balmer ML, Schurch CM, Saito Y, Geuking MB, Li H, Cuenca M, Kovtonyuk LV, McCoy KD, Hapfelmeier S, Ochsenbein AF, Manz MG, Slack E, Macpherson AJ. 2014. Microbiota-derived compounds drive steady-state granulopoiesis via MyD88/TICAM signaling. *J Immunol* 193: 5273-83
- 331. Rowley SM, Kuriakose T, Dockery LM, Tran-Ngyuen T, Gingerich AD, Wei L, Watford WT. 2014. Tumor progression locus 2 (Tpl2) promotes chemokine receptor expression and macrophage migration during acute inflammation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*
- 332. Bandow K, Kusuyama J, Shamoto M, Kakimoto K, Ohnishi T, Matsuguchi T. 2012. LPS-induced chemokine expression in both MyD88-dependent and -independent manners is regulated by Cot/Tpl2-ERK axis in macrophages. *FEBS Letters* 586: 1540-6
- López-Pelaéz M, Fumagalli S, Sanz C, Herrero C, Guerra S, Fernandez M, Alemany S.
   2012. Cot/tpl2-MKK1/2-Erk1/2 controls mTORC1-mediated mRNA translation in Tolllike receptor–activated macrophages. *Molec. Bio. Cell* 23: 2982-92

- Ballak DB, van Essen P, van Diepen JA, Jansen H, Hijmans A, Matsuguchi T, Sparrer H, Tack CJ, Netea MG, Joosten LAB, Stienstra R. 2014. MAP3K8 (TPL2/COT) Affects
  Obesity-Induced Adipose Tissue Inflammation without Systemic Effects in Humans and in Mice. *PLoS ONE* 9: e89615
- 335. Ritzman AM, Hughes-Hanks JM, Blaho VA, Wax LE, Mitchell WJ, Brown CR. 2010. The Chemokine Receptor CXCR2 Ligand KC (CXCL1) Mediates Neutrophil Recruitment and Is Critical for Development of Experimental Lyme Arthritis and Carditis. *Infection and Immunity* 78: 4593-600
- 336. Köhler A, De Filippo K, Hasenberg M, van den Brandt C, Nye E, Hosking MP, Lane TE, Männ L, Ransohoff RM, Hauser AE, Winter O, Schraven B, Geiger H, Hogg N, Gunzer M. 2011. G-CSF–mediated thrombopoietin release triggers neutrophil motility and mobilization from bone marrow via induction of Cxcr2 ligands. *Blood* 117: 4349-57
- 337. Dewas C, Fay M, Gougerot-Pocidalo M-A, El-Benna J. 2000. The Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1/2 Pathway Is Involved in formyl-Methionyl-Leucyl-Phenylalanine-Induced p47phox Phosphorylation in Human Neutrophils. *The Journal of Immunology* 165: 5238-44
- 338. Karlsson A, Nixon JB, McPhail LC. 2000. Phorbol myristate acetate induces neutrophil NADPH-oxidase activity by two separate signal transduction pathways: dependent or independent of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 67: 396-404
- Schleifer KH, Kloos WE. 1975. Isolation and Characterization of Staphylococci from Human Skin I. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Biology 25: 50-61

- 340. Zell C, Resch M, Rosenstein R, Albrecht T, Hertel C, Gotz F. 2008. Characterization of toxin production of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from food and starter cultures. *Int J Food Microbiol* 127: 246-51
- Irlinger F. 2008. Safety assessment of dairy microorganisms: coagulase-negative staphylococci. *Int J Food Microbiol* 126: 302-10
- 342. Addis E, Fleet GH, Cox JM, Kolak D, Leung T. 2001. The growth, properties and interactions of yeasts and bacteria associated with the maturation of Camembert and blueveined cheeses. *Int J Food Microbiol* 69: 25-36
- Macedo AC, Malcata FX, Hogg TA. 1995. Microbiological profile in Serra ewes' cheese during ripening. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology* 79: 1-11
- 344. Stahnke LH. 1995. Dried sausages fermented with Staphylococcus xylosus at different temperatures and with different ingredient levels — Part II. Volatile components. *Meat Science* 41: 193-209
- 345. Stahnke LH. 1994. Aroma components from dried sausages fermented with Staphylococcus xylosus. *Meat Science* 38: 39-53
- 346. Peschel A, Jack RW, Otto M, Collins LV, Staubitz P, Nicholson G, Kalbacher H, Nieuwenhuizen WF, Jung G, Tarkowski A, van Kessel KPM, van Strijp JAG. 2001. Staphylococcus aureus Resistance to Human Defensins and Evasion of Neutrophil Killing via the Novel Virulence Factor Mprf Is Based on Modification of Membrane Lipids with I-Lysine. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 193: 1067-76
- 347. Tavakkol Z, Samuelson D, deLancey Pulcini E, Underwood RA, Usui ML, Costerton JW, James GA, Olerud JE, Fleckman P. 2010. Resident Bacterial Flora in the Skin of

C57BL/6 Mice Housed under SPF Conditions. *Journal of the American Association for Laboratory Animal Science : JAALAS* 49: 588-91

- 348. Nagase N, Sasaki A, Yamashita K, Shimizu A, Wakita Y, Kitai S, Kawano J. 2002.
   Isolation and species distribution of staphylococci from animal and human skin. *J Vet Med Sci* 64: 245-50
- Byrum BR, Slemons RD. 1995. Detection of Proteolytic Bacteria in the Upper Respiratory Tract Flora of Poultry. *Avian Diseases* 39: 622-6
- 350. Bradfield JF, Wagner JE, Boivin GP, Steffen EK, Russell RJ. 1993. Epizootic fatal dermatitis in athymic nude mice due to Staphylococcus xylosus. *Lab Anim Sci* 43: 111-3
- Russo M, Invernizzi A, Gobbi A, Radaelli E. 2013. Diffuse Scaling Dermatitis in an Athymic Nude Mouse. *Veterinary Pathology Online* 50: 722-6
- 352. Naik S, Bouladoux N, Linehan JL, Han S-J, Harrison OJ, Wilhelm C, Conlan S, Himmelfarb S, Byrd AL, Deming C, Quinones M, Brenchley JM, Kong HH, Tussiwand R, Murphy KM, Merad M, Segre JA, Belkaid Y. 2015. Commensal-dendritic-cell interaction specifies a unique protective skin immune signature. *Nature* 520: 104-8
- 353. Pizzolla A, Hultqvist M, Nilson B, Grimm MJ, Eneljung T, Jonsson IM, Verdrengh M, Kelkka T, Gjertsson I, Segal BH, Holmdahl R. 2012. Reactive oxygen species produced by the NADPH oxidase 2 complex in monocytes protect mice from bacterial infections. *J Immunol* 188: 5003-11
- 354. Krugner-Higby L, Brown R, Rassette M, Behr M, Okwumabua O, Cook M, Bell C, Flowers MT, Ntambi J, Gendron A. 2012. Ulcerative dermatitis in C57BL/6 mice lacking stearoyl CoA desaturase 1. *Comp Med* 62: 257-63

- 355. Miczek KA, Maxson SC, Fish EW, Faccidomo S. 2001. Aggressive behavioral phenotypes in mice. *Behavioural Brain Research* 125: 167-81
- Poole TB, Morgan HDR. 1973. Differences in aggressive behaviour between male mice (Mus musculus L.) in colonies of different sizes. *Animal Behaviour* 21: 788-95
- 357. Van Loo PLP, Van Zutphen LFM, Baumans V. 2003. Male management: coping with aggression problems in male laboratory mice. *Laboratory Animals* 37: 300-13
- 358. De Sousa MAB, Parrott DMV, Pantelouris EM. 1969. The lymphoid tissues in mice with congenital aplasia of the thymus. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology* 4: 637-44
- 359. Naranbhai V, Hill AVS, Abdool Karim SS, Naidoo K, Abdool Karim Q, Warimwe GM, McShane H, Fletcher H. 2014. Ratio of Monocytes to Lymphocytes in Peripheral Blood Identifies Adults at Risk of Incident Tuberculosis Among HIV-Infected Adults Initiating Antiretroviral Therapy. *Journal of Infectious Diseases* 209: 500-9
- 360. Wang J, Yin Y, Wang X, Pei H, Kuai S, Gu L, Xing H, Zhang Y, Huang Q, Guan B.
  2015. Ratio of monocytes to lymphocytes in peripheral blood in patients diagnosed with active tuberculosis. *The Brazilian Journal of Infectious Diseases* 19: 125-31
- 361. Warimwe GM, Murungi LM, Kamuyu G, Nyangweso GM, Wambua J, Naranbhai V, Fletcher HA, Hill AVS, Bejon P, Osier FHA, Marsh K. 2013. The Ratio of Monocytes to Lymphocytes in Peripheral Blood Correlates with Increased Susceptibility to Clinical Malaria in Kenyan Children. *PLoS ONE* 8: e57320
- 362. Ardura MI, Banchereau R, Mejias A, Di Pucchio T, Glaser C, Allantaz F, Pascual V, Banchereau J, Chaussabel D, Ramilo O. 2009. Enhanced Monocyte Response and Decreased Central Memory T Cells in Children with Invasive Staphylococcus aureus Infections. *PLoS ONE* 4: e5446